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Allah, the Almighty, said in the Holy Qur’an, quote:

“Allah makes abundant the means of subsistence for whom He 
pleases of His servants, and straitens them for whom
(He pleases) surely Allah is Cognizant of all things”

 (Al-Ankabut, Verse 62)
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Praise be to Allah, and may peace and 
blessings be upon our Prophet, his family, 
and companions.

Dear Shareholders, 

Peace, mercy, and blessings of Allah be 
upon you,

On behalf of myself, my fellow members of 
the Board of Directors, and the Executive 
Management of the Bank, it is my pleasure 
to present to you the Annual Report of Kuwait 
International Bank (KIB) and the consolidated 
financial statements for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2021 and to demonstrate 
the achievements of your Bank, the ongoing 
developments of the Bank’s operations and 
activities, and the relentless efforts exerted 
during the year to expand its activities and 
maintain the quality of its assets. I am also 
pleased to share with you the progress we 
have made in building a robust, sophisticated, 
and flexible business model, utilizing the latest 
financial technologies, enabling us to upgrade 
the service provided to our customers, and 
enhancing our ability to monitor, adapt to and 
predict future business environment variables.

Dear Shareholders,

The pandemic that affected the world last year 
continued to cast shadows over the global 
economy. Its consequences extended to all 
business sectors across the globe. At the same 

time, its impact on health expanded, claiming 
till the end of 2021, the lives of some 5 million 
people, with more than 285 million people 
living with the disease around the world, and 
most countries of the world continuing to apply 
preventive measures, albeit to varying degrees. 
First, Allah blessed humanity as vaccines were 
discovered. Then, the vaccination process 
expanded, enabling the world to adapt even in 
part to the effects of the pandemic. In addition, 
the increase in the number of the vaccinated 
population has also helped in mitigating its 
consequences. As a result, many countries 
begin a gradual return to normal lifestyles, paving 
the way for uneven economic recovery, which 
is still surrounded by many challenges as new 
variants emerge. However, positive likelihoods 
are increasing, and the global economy is 
growing, as International Monetary Fund (IMF) 
predicted that the global economy would grow 
by 5.9% in 2021 and by 4.4% in 2022. However, 
a full recovery of the pandemic remains linked to 
vaccine effectiveness and the ability to control 
or reduce the spread of the epidemic.

Kuwaitʼs rapid and decisive response has 
played a significant role in alleviating the impact 
of the pandemic on the local economy. The 
availability of vaccines and increasing numbers 
of vaccinated people have contributed to 
reducing the spread of the disease, enabling 
most of the countryʼs economic sectors to re-
engage and resume their activities as the local 
economy begins to regain its capacity to grow 

Chairman,s Message
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after the downturn last year. As a result, IMF forecasts that Kuwaitʼs economy will grow by 0.9% in 
2021, rising to 4.3% in 2022, while non-oil sectors are expected to grow by more than 3.0% during 
the two years. In addition, the recovery in crude oil prices will contribute to boosting economic 
growth in the short and medium term. In the same context, the measures taken by the Central Bank 
of Kuwait and its prudent policies in previous years have helped the banking sector emerge from this 
pandemic as strongly as it has begun. As a result, banking activities have started recovering and are 
close to returning to normal levels.

In light of the above, and despite the uncertainty that has prevailed during varying periods of the year, 
we have, thanks to Allah Almighty, managed to overcome the crisis, armed with your confidence, the 
support of our distinguished board members, the dedication of our staff and the determined efforts 
of our experienced executive management to achieve solid and sustainable results, improve our 
performance indicators, develop our operations and expand our business activities. In addition, we 
have also moved forward with implementing our strategic plan initiatives to approach our strategic 
vision to become the Bank of Choice and the Most Innovative Islamic Bank in Kuwait. 

Dear Shareholders,

The following is a summary of your Bank’s most prominent accomplishments in 2021, according to 
its financial statements. I would like to present to you the most significant achievements of the year in 
developing the Bank’s activities and strengthening its capabilities, upgrading its human resources, 
modernizing its systems, automating its operations, and increasing its readiness to encounter next 
yearʼs developments and challenges. We are optimistic about further progress and success and 
confident in implementing our comprehensive and successful strategic plan.

First: Improvement of Financial Indicators

Despite the challenges of the past year, I am pleased to inform you of your Bank’s success in 
achieving a net profit of approximately KD 11 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. And 
earnings per share (EPS) of 5.66 fils while registering a total operating income of almost 66.8 
million. In addition, KIB improved its asset quality matrices. As a result, the audited consolidated 
financial statements indicated that the Bankʼs assets grew by 12% to reach almost KD 3.14 billion 
compared to KD 2.80 billion last year. This growth resulted from an increase in financing portfolio 
by KD 285 million to reach KD 2.27 billion compared to approximately KD 1.99 billion as at the end 
of last year, achieving a growth of 14%. In addition, the investments increased by almost KD 111.5 
million to reach KD 295.8 million compared to KD 184.4 million in last year, primarily as a result of 
the increase in investments in high-quality Sukuk.

Depositors’ accounts grew by KD 416.8 million at 25% to KD 2.06 billion, compared to KD 1.64 
billion at the end of the same period last year, while the shareholders’ equity amounted to KD 
263 million. In accordance with the Central Bank of Kuwait’s regulations concerning Basel III, KIB 
continued to report high levels of total capital adequacy ratio, at 19.21%.

Second: Ongoing Development in Banking Activities 

Despite the consequences of this yearʼs pandemic, we have managed to achieve strong growth 
in our banking activities, improve the services provided to our customers, and build new business 
relationships with new customers from various economic sectors. We have focused on vital 
economic sectors which are less affected by the consequences of the pandemic. Enabling us to 
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achieve sustainable returns, boost our revenues, and contribute to our assetsʼ development and 
quality. All have come as a result of providing outstanding customer service and rapid response to 
our customerʼs ever-changing requirements and needs due to the circumstances of the pandemic. 
At the same time, we were being armed with the positive developments in our operations during 
previous years, which positively reflected on our business model, gaining more flexibility and 
enhancing our ability to respond to and predict market changes in the short term. In this context, 
our business activities have continued to grow through increased bilateral or joint financing, with 
a group of large corporates and strategic partners, government and semi-governmental sectors, 
and other economic sectors. This matter has contributed to diversifying our revenue streams and 
enhanced our ability to manage risk effectively. Furthermore, we have increased our investment 
in income-generating and more stable assets while diversifying our portfolio. We have also 
expanded our investments in income-generating and more stable assets while diversifying our 
portfolio, various economic sectors, and geographical areas to effectively manage risks in the face 
of uncertainty in global markets.

We have also continued to work diligently to complete the overall development of our retail banking 
activities, modernizing our systems and enhancing our investments in building a robust digital 
infrastructure that exploits the latest technologies of modern financial technology. And through a 
partnership with the best providers of such services around the world. To provide next-generation 
service to our retail customers through all our platforms and points of contact with them. In this 
context, we are close to completing the process of replacing the current ATMs with advanced 
ones that exploit the latest technology and with a unique design. We have also added a range of 
services distinctive to all our digital channels and call center to enhance our customersʼ experience 
and facilitate their access to our services. In addition, we have continued to develop branches with 
distinguished digital capabilities that offer a unique customer service to be launched in the future. 
Over the next year, we will digitize more of our business activities, automate more of our operations, 
enhance the effectiveness of our business activities and processes. And strengthen our ability to 
meet the requirements of individual and corporate customersʼ needs and live up to their aspirations.

Third: An Updated Strategic Plan Towards an Innovative Driven Digital Transformation 

During the year, we have developed and approved our strategic plan for years (2022 - 2024), building 
on what we have achieved in previous years towards establishing a fully developed business model 
that adopts digitization in all its operations. As a result, we aim to become the Bank of Choice and 
the Most Innovative Islamic Bank in Kuwait. In detail, our updated strategic plan seeks to develop 
a solid and flexible technological infrastructure capable of automating and managing processes 
effectively. Furthermore, respond to changes in the operational environment, and support future 
growth targets to provide innovative services and products to our retail and corporate customers. In 
addition, develop unique digital services for our real estate customers, and create a range of banking 
solutions tailored to the needs of entrepreneurs and SMEs; thus, the Bank to become the first resort 
for entrepreneurs in Kuwait. To achieve the above, we have continued to invest in our human cadres 
and attract more skilled national professionals. We also increased investments in training activities 
while adopting policies that enhance expertise transition and equipping second-tier leaders to lead 
the future development process. At the same time, assuming an analysis and response approach 
in formulating and updating our strategic initiatives through comprehensive periodic reviews of 
market and technological developments in the financial and banking industry, and an ongoing study 
of priorities, with a focus on improving spending efficiency to provide resources for implementing 
strategic initiatives, system modernization and digital transformation.
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In light of the above, today, we are closer than ever to reaching a «New KIB» capable of providing 
outstanding financial and banking services and products to our customers through a unique digital 
business model. A model Driven by innovation and within a clear strategic framework, led by 
ambitious executive management, with the expertise to guide the change process, working in 
complete harmony with all teams, to make a qualitative shift in our business model. In addition, 
to provide first-class customer service across a range of advanced digital platforms to meet 
customersʼ needs and exceed their expectations.

Fourth: A variety of Awards and Honors

The tireless efforts of all staff, the continued support and guidance from the Board of Directors, and 
the outstanding leadership provided by our Executive Management have contributed to enhancing 
our brand presence locally and regionally, achieving a range of exceptional achievements, 
maintaining sustainable growth rates, and consistently developing quality assets. In this context, 
Fitch Credit Ratings Agency assigned KIB’s credit rating (Long-term/ Short-term IDR) at “A/F1” and 
the Bank’s VR at “bb-”, with a «Stable» outlook.  

As a result of the positive developments in our business activities, and despite all the challenges 
we have experienced during the year, KIB has succeeded in winning a unique variety of awards 
and honors in many fields. As a part of its participation in a series of awards programs from the 
most famous media platforms in the financial and banking industry. Including The «Best Islamic 
Bank in Kuwait» for 2021 from «World Finance Magazine,» for the eighth year in a row, the 2021 
«Best Islamic Bank for Employee Development and Empowerment in Kuwait» award, and the 
«Best Customer-Focused Islamic Banking Products and Services in Kuwait» award, both are from 
«World Finance magazine.» In addition, «Capital Finance International» also awarded KIB the 
2021 «Best Shariʼa  Compliant Bank - MENA» award For the seventh year in a row and the «Best 
Banking Vision - MENA 2021» award from the same magazine.

Dear Shareholders,

By the end of 2021, we thank Allah, Almighty, for what we have achieved this year, where we have 
overcome the difficulties of the pandemic and its extended consequences. And have continued 
to build on our past achievements, work to develop our business model, develop our systems 
and accelerate our operations. The matter enabled us to grow our assets, promote the rights 
of our shareholders, and achieve sustainable growth levels. As we present this report to you, 
we promise to continue the march of success and development with sincerity, dedication, and 
professionalism. At the same time, we are hoping from Allah Almighty that our efforts will culminate 
in more success and prosperity for our shareholders, customers, employees, and the good of our 
beloved country, Kuwait.

In view of the performance of our Bank during 2018, the Bank’s Board of Directors proposed to the 
shareholdersʼ general assembly to distribute 4% cash dividends of the nominal value of share (4 fils 
per share) and 4% bonus shares from issued and paid-up capital (4 shares for every 100 shares) 
subject to the approval of the Bank’s shareholders’ general assembly and regulatory authorities.
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Thanks and Appreciation

In conclusion, I would like to extend thanks and appreciation for your constant support to your 
Bank and all who have supported our stride. Sincere thanks and appreciation are also extended 
to the Central Bank of Kuwait for its continued support and distinct regulatory role. Our gratitude is 
also extended to the Bank’s Board of Directors, the respected members of the Shariʼa  Supervisory 
Board of the Bank, the Executive Management, and our dedicated staff. Finally, we also extend 
special thanks and appreciation to our valued customers for their trust, continuous support, and 
considerable contribution to your Bank’s achievements.

May Allah, the Almighty, help us all to endeavor for the benefit of our Bank and the prosperity of our 
beloved country Kuwait, wishing you a prosperous future and further success and advancement 
for our Bank under the patronage of H. H. the Amir of Kuwait, Sheikh Nawaf Al-Ahmed Al-Jaber 
Al-Sabah, H.H. the Crown Prince, Sheikh Mishal Al-Ahmed Al-Jaber Al-Sabah, and H.H. the Prime 
Minister, Sheikh Sabah Khaled Al-Hamad Al-Sabah.

Peace and Mercy of Allah, the Almighty, be upon you.

Mohammed Jarrah Al-Sabah  
Chairman
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“Best Customer-Focused
Islamic Banking Products
and Services in Kuwait”

for the year 2021
by World Finance

Best Banking Vision
In the Middle East & North Africa 

for 2021

Best Shari’a-Compliant Bank
In the Middle East & North Africa

for 2021

“Best Islamic Bank for
Employee Development

and Empowerment
in Kuwait” for the year 2021

by World Finance

“Best Islamic Bank in
Kuwait” for the year 2021

by World Finance

Together We Succeed For Life
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With extensive experience in banking, insurance, and real estate investment sectors, Sheikh Mohammed 
Jarrah Al-Sabah was elected Chairman of the Board of Directors of KIB in 2010, after initially joining the 
Board of Directors in 2007.

In addition to his role at KIB, Al-Jarrah is the Chairman of the Union of Arab Banks, and the President of 
the Supreme Council of Arbitration, in the aforesaid Union. He is also a member of the Board of Directors 
of the World Union of Arab Bankers, a member of the Board of Directors of Kuwait Banking Association, 
a member of the Board of Trustees at the Arab Academy for Banking and Financial Sciences, and Vice 
Chairman of the Board of Directors of Warba Insurance Company.

Al-Jarrah has enjoyed a prolific professional career marked by numerous achievements, during which 
he has held several senior-level positions at a number of key market players inside and outside Kuwait, 
such as Chairman & Managing Director of Commercial Bank of Kuwait and the General Manager of Arab 
International Insurance Co. in Bahrain. Furthermore, Al-Jarrah has also held other senior posts in Kuwait 
Real Estate Investment Consortium, Kuwait Re-Insurance Company, Salhiya Real Estate Company, and 
Arab Insurance Group (ARIG).

Sheikh Mohammed Jarrah Al-Sabah
Chairman

Mr. Raed Bukhamseen has more than 20 years of extensive and broad-ranging experience in the 
banking, real estate, and investment sectors both in Kuwait and in the GCC countries. He joined the 
Board of Directors at KIB in 2010, and he is presently serving as the Vice Chairman of the Board of 
Directors and the Chief Executive Officer of KIB. Mr. Bukhamseen also holds the position of Chairman 
of Arab Investment Company (AIC). 

Throughout his career, Mr. Bukhamseen has proved to be a leader with a solid vision, having held 
key leadership posts at several pioneering companies in Kuwait and the Middle East, such as being 
a Board Member of Bukhamseen Group Holding Company, Boursa Kuwait, The Shared Electronic 
Banking Company (KNET), Warba Insurance Company, Egyptian Gulf Bank in Egypt, Layan Real Estate 
Company in Dubai, Souk Al-Salmiah Real Estate Company and Credit One Kuwait Holding Company. 

Mr. Bukhamseen earned a Bachelor of Business Administration from Boston University, the United 
States, in 1999; He has also continued to pursue a path of self-enrichment through executive programs 
in investment and banking at some of the world’s most renowned institutions.

Mr. Raed Jawad Bukhamseen
Vice Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
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Dr. Haider Al-Jumaa joined KIB’s Board of Directors in 1998 and is a seasoned professional with years 
of extensive cross-industry experience. He has held numerous leadership positions throughout his 
career in the banking, insurance, and real estate investment sectors.

Dr. Al-Jumaa sat on the Board of Directors at Al-Ahli Bank of Kuwait, Egyptian Gulf Bank, and at Land Mark 
Real Estate Investment & Tourism Company, both in Egypt, and held the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
of Warba Insurance Company. He also held the position of Chairman of Ritaj Takaful Insurance Company.

Dr. Al-Jumaa has also worked as an Assistant Professor in the Accounting & Audit Department at Kuwait 
University. He is a published author of “Islamic Banks in the State of Kuwait,” “Corporate Governance, 
and its Role in Raising Efficiency of Institutions in both Conventional and Islamic Banks,” “Internal Audit 
as an Effective Tool for Corporate Governance,” and “Money Laundering, Definition, Effects and Ways 
of Control.” Dr. Al-Jumaa earned a Bachelor of Commerce in Accounting from Kuwait University in 
1973. He also obtained a Master’s Degree in Accounting from the University of Arizona in 1976 and a 
PhD in Business Administration from the USA in 1986.

Mr. Anwar Bukhamseen has garnered extensive experience in the banking, insurance, and real estate 
investment sectors. He joined the Board of Directors at KIB in 2004 and served as Vice Chairman of 
the Board from 2010 until 2015. Additionally, he served as a board member at Qatar First Bank for ten 
years, from 2008 until 2018.

Throughout his professional career, Mr. Anwar has held several leadership positions. He currently 
holds several prominent senior-level positions, including Chairman of Warba Insurance Company, 
Executive Director to the Board of Directors of Bukhamseen Group Holding Company, Board Member 
at Kuwait Catalyst Company, Member of the Kuwaiti Industries Association, and Vice Chairman at 
Kuwait Insurance Federation.

He earned a Bachelor of Commerce in Economics and Financial Management from the Faculty 
of Commerce, Economy and Political Sciences at Kuwait University in 1995. He also obtained a 
specialized degree in an Executive Program of Foreign Trade Policies from Harvard University in 2005 
and a specialized degree conferred by the Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences in the 
framework of Corporate Governance and Financial Institutions Business.

Mr. Anwar Jawad Bukhamseen
Board Member

Dr. Haider Hassan Al-Jumaa
Board Member
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Mr. Jassem Zainal has over 37 years of experience across various sectors. In addition to being a 
Member of the Board of Directors of KIB since 2006, Mr. Zainal currently serves as Vice Chairman & 
Chief Executive Officer of Arzan Financial Group. He is also a Board Member at the Bank of Bahrain & 
Kuwait in Bahrain and Miami International Holdings Inc. in New York.

He has held several leadership positions throughout his professional career, including Chairman 
and Managing Director in both Zumorroda Investment Company (Z-Invest) and Automated Systems 
Company (ASC). Additionally, he worked for 25 years at Gulf Bank, during which he held several key 
positions.

Mr. Zainal also held board membership at Khaleej Islamic Investment Bank Bahrain, Al Madina Finance 
and Investments, and Kuwait Airways in Kuwait. Mr. Zainal graduated with a Bachelor of Science in 
Civil Engineering and a Bachelor of General Studies in Mathematics from the University of Miami. He 
also holds a Master’s of Science in Civil Engineering from Kuwait University and completed several 
executive programs at Harvard, Wharton, and other prestigious institutions.

Mr. Jassem Hassan Zainal
Board Member

Mr. Saleh Al Trad joined KIB as a member of the Board of Directors in 2016. He has over 23 years of 
experience in the Banking, Investment & Financial sectors. He currently holds the post of Vice Chairman 
& CEO at Arab Investment Company and Vice Chairman at KIB Takaful Insurance Company, Kuwait. 
His vast experience enabled him to build strong connections in the MENA region, leading to several key 
transactions with decision-makers and stakeholders.

He previously served as President & MD for MENA at Beaumont Partners SA, Geneva. A former founding 
Partner at ARABICA Investments, which was established as a leading investment platform in MENA. He 
built Nomura Internationalʼs presence in Kuwait and Qatar that oversaw key client relationships and the 
execution of a business plan that generated exceedingly high revenues. Prior to Nomura, he spent eight 
years at Lehman Brothers Inc., mainly in New York City, handling clients’ coverage activities for major 
SWFs in the Gulf region. He was in charge of setting up Lehman Brothers’ offices in Kuwait and Qatar, 
attracting several billion dollars in new investments from ME clients.

Mr. Al Trad holds a BS in Engineering and attended Master’s Classes in Finance at Boston University, USA.

Mr. Saleh Sulaiman Al Trad
Board Member
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Mr. Anwar Fozan Abdullah Al Sabej
Board Member

Mr. Marzook Al Marzook is a talented executive with over 20 years of experience in financial services 
and credit management. He brings a wealth of expertise with particular strengths in areas such as real 
estate and financial investment, international trade finance, and operations.

As well as serving as a board member at KIB since March 2019, Mr. Marzook Al Marzook was holding 
the position of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer at Souk Al-Salmiah Real Estate Co. Additionally; 
he served as Vice Chairman of Kuwait Asia Holding, he was also the General Manager at Partner 
Properties and the General Manager at Nouf Real Estate Co. He also worked at the Private Accounts 
& Banking Services Department at Bank of Kuwait & Middle East (BKME). Currently, he is a board 
member of Arab Investment Co.

Mr. Marzook Al Marzook holds a bachelor’s degree in business administration majoring in marketing from 
Kuwait University. He also holds a certificate in credit management (CCM) from the Institute of Banking 
Studies (IBS). Al Marzook has also completed several training courses arranged by BKME, IBS, and 
KIB, such as Anti-money laundering and combating financing terrorism program, Risk Management 
and Internal Control, Strategic Planning and Disclosure, and Transparency.

Mr. Anwar Al-Sabej has over 25 years of experience in the banking and insurance sectors both in USA 
and Kuwait. Throughout his professional career in Kuwait, Mr. Al-Sabej held several prominent senior-
level positions, such as board member of KIB Takaful Insurance Company (Formerly Ritaj Takaful 
Insurance Company), board member of Kuwait Insurance Federation, and Chairman of WAPMED TPA 
Services Company.

Mr. Al-Sabej completed his studies in the USA and then started his career working for large multinationals 
such as ARCO and GE. He is currently the CEO of WARBA Insurance Company, one of the leading 
insurance companies in Kuwait. Mr. Al-Sabej is also a board member of KIB as of March 2019.

Mr. Marzook Khaled Yousef
Al Marzook
Board Member
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Dr. Abdullah Marafi joined the Board of Directors of KIB in 2010. He is currently a member of and 
chairs several Boards at leading organizations, including Omniyat Holding Company. He had also 
served as Chairman and Board Member at major organizations including Al-Ahli Bank of Kuwait, Arab 
Real Estate Company, Burgan Group Holding Company, Al-Buraq Investment Holding Company, KIB 
Takaful Insurance Company, and Kuwait Airways Company. He was also appointed as a State Minister 
of Housing Affairs and a Minister of Services Affairs. He currently serves as the Chief Executive Officer 
at Al-Arabiya Real Estate Co. since December 2021.

Dr. Marafi enjoys extensive experience in the field of research and has had several scientific contributions 
across many areas. Many of his efforts have been carried out in cooperation with the Kuwait Foundation 
for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS) and Kuwait University faculty members. He was also previously 
seconded to the Public Authority of Applied Education and Training (PAAET) as a faculty member at the 
School of Commercial Studies.

Dr. Marafi earned a Bachelorʼs degree in Statistics in 1989. He also earned a Master’s Degree in General 
Management in 2003 and a PhD in Management & Finance in 2006.

Dr. Abdullah Abdul Samad Marafi
Board Member

Since 1981, Mr. Ahmed Abdulmohsen Al Melaifi has been an active participant, contributor, and prominent 
figure in the fields of law and politics in Kuwait. With more than four decades of professional experience 
across multiple sectors and industries, he joined KIB’s Board of Directors in 2021, bringing with him a 
wealth of knowledge and expert insight.

Mr. Al Melaifi entered the sphere of public service from the early days of his career, first serving as a 
Controller of the Legal Department in the Civil Service Commission before being appointed as Head of 
Legal Department in the National Assembly. This was then followed by a role in Boursa Kuwait (formerly 
Kuwait Stock Exchange) as the Head of Investigations Bureau. 

He also played an active role in the political sphere as a member of the National Assembly, first in 1996, 
then in 2003, and most recently in 2008. He also chaired the Legislative & Legal Affairs Committee 
and the Public Fund Protection Committee of the National Assembly. In 2011, he was appointed as the 
Minister of Education and Higher Education and was also appointed as the Minister of Justice later that 
year. He also previously served as the Manager of the Legal Department at Kuwait Finance House (KFH) 
and as a Legal Advisor for KIB. Mr. Al Melaifi obtained a degree from the Faculty of Law and Shariʼa  at 
Kuwait University. He also holds a Master’s degree in law from the United States of America.

Mr. Ahmed Abdulmohsen Al Melaifi
Independent Board Member
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As a career academic with expansive professional experience in the field of economics, Dr. Reyadh 
Faras joined KIB’s Board of Directors in 2021. Dr. Faras has held prominent positions at various 
international and local organizations and academic institutions throughout his career.

He previously served as Assistant Professor of Economics and Associate Dean at Kuwait University, 
before taking up roles as Assistant Secretary for Planning Affairs at the General Secretariat for Planning 
and Development in Kuwait, and as Advisor to the Executive Director of the Middle East at the International 
Monetary Fund and Operations Officer at the World Bank. Currently, Dr. Faras continues to share his 
wealth of expertise and academic knowledge as Assistant Professor of Economics at Kuwait University.

Dr. Faras holds a Ph.D. in Economics from West Virginia University, two Master’s degrees in Economics 
from Florida State University and the University of Colorado, and a Bachelor’s degree in Economics 
from Kuwait University.

Dr. Reyadh Yousef Faras
Independent Board Member
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Mr. Raed Bukhamseen has more than 20 years of extensive and broad-ranging experience in the 
banking, real estate, and investment sectors both in Kuwait and in the GCC countries. He joined the 
Board of Directors at KIB in 2010, and he is presently serving as the Vice Chairman of the Board of 
Directors and the Chief Executive Officer of KIB. Mr. Bukhamseen also holds the position of Chairman of 
Arab Investment Company (AIC). 

Throughout his career, Mr. Bukhamseen has proved to be a leader with a solid vision, having held 
key leadership posts at several pioneering companies in Kuwait and the Middle East, such as being 
a Board Member of Bukhamseen Group Holding Company, Boursa Kuwait, The Shared Electronic 
Banking Company (KNET), Warba Insurance Company, Egyptian Gulf Bank in Egypt, Layan Real Estate 
Company in Dubai, Souk Al-Salmiah Real Estate Company and Credit One Kuwait Holding Company. 

Mr. Bukhamseen earned a Bachelor of Business Administration from Boston University, the United 
States, in 1999; He has also continued to pursue a path of self-enrichment through executive programs 
in investment and banking at some of the world’s most renowned institutions.

Mr. Raed Jawad Bukhamseen
Vice Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

Mr. El Saka is a holder of a Bachelor of Commerce in Accounting from Ain Shams University in Egypt 
in 1990. He also earned a Certified Public Accountant Certificate (CPA) in 1995 and a Certified Internal 
Auditor Certificate (CIA) in 1998, both from the United States. He has over 31 years of experience in 
several financial fields, out of which 20 years in the Islamic banking industry. He previously occupied the 
post of the Chairman of the Accounting and Auditing Standard Board of the Accounting and Auditing 
Organization of the Islamic Financial Institutions (AAOIFI), in addition to being a member of this Council 
and some of its technical committees for more than one term. He was also a member of some of the 
technical work groups for other Islamic financial institutions, such as the Islamic Financial Services 
Board (IFSB). Mr. El Saka has also participated as a lecturer in several conferences and seminars.

Mr. El Saka joined KIB in August 2014 and held the post of General Manager of Financial Control & 
Planning Department until May 2016, when he was promoted to the position of Deputy Chief Executive 
Officer. He has additionally held the post of the Acting Chief Executive Officer from September 2015 to 
September 2018.

Mr. Mohamed Said El Saka – CPA, CIA
Deputy Chief Executive Officer
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Mr. Hesham Al Mubaraki enjoys more than 20 years of experience in Corporate Banking. He started his 
working experience in 2001 with Bank of Kuwait Middle East "Currently Ahli United Bank".

In 2005, Mr. Al Mubaraki joined a newly established Bank at that time being, Boubyan Bank, and played 
a significant role in the inception of the Corporate Banking Division. During this period, he handled 
several senior posts within Corporate Banking, such as Heading the Trading Unit and Real Estate 
Corporate & Individual Units. In 2013, Mr. Al Mubaraki joined KFH as Deputy General Manager heading 
the Local Real Estate Financing Division.

Mr. Al Mubaraki joined KIB in 2019 as Deputy General Manager in the Wholesale Banking Department 
and progressed to General Manager of Wholesale Banking; significant milestones were reached that 
contributed to business growth, improvement in service quality, and support. 

Mr. Al Mubaraki holds Bachelorʼs Degree in Finance from Kuwait University and holds several credit 
certificates within the field of Finance, Credit, and Risk.

Mr. Hesham Al Mubaraki
General Manager of 
Wholesale Banking Department

Mr. Jamal Al-Barrak joined KIB’s executive management team in 2013. He has over 20 years 
of investment & corporate banking experience and spearheads the Bank’s team of investment 
professionals in managing and expanding KIB’s investment portfolio. He is actively involved in the 
Bank’s strategic and corporate planning initiatives, including debt capital issuances and serving 
in external Boards & associations.

Before joining KIB, Mr. Al-Barrak has garnered a wealth of experience at Gulf Bank, holding several 
positions, including Head of Investments, Assistant General Manager of Investment Banking, and 
Assistant General Manager of Corporate Finance.

Mr. Al-Barrak holds a Master of Business Administration in Marketing and a Bachelor’s Degree 
in Economics and Government, both from Bentley University in Boston, United States. He has 
also completed corporate finance programs at INSEAD and strategic and business programs at 
Harvard Business School and Sciences Po.

Mr. Jamal Al-Barrak
General Manager of
Investment Department
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Mr. Othman Tawfiqi joined KIB in 2018 with more than 14 years of experience in the finance and banking 
industry. As part of the Bank’s Executive Management team, Mr. Tawfiqi is responsible for developing 
and monitoring the implementation of the Retail Banking Department’s strategy.

Before joining KIB, Mr. Tawfiqi held several key positions across the banking sector in Kuwait. He held 
the position of Assistant General Manager of Retail Banking and also served as Head of Product and 
Business Development and Head of Delivery Channels at Al-Ahli Bank of Kuwait (ABK). Before these 
roles, Mr. Tawfiqi was the Manager of the Call Center at the National Bank of Kuwait (NBK).

Mr. Tawfiqi holds a Bachelor’s in Marketing from Kuwait University (2004). Additionally, he completed 
the Executive Education Program on Strategic Management & Leadership from Harvard Business 
School.

Mr. Othman Tawfiqi
General Manager of
Retail Banking Department

Mr. Osama Alramadan joined KIB in 2013. He has more than 25 years of experience in the banking 
sector. Currently, he holds the position of Acting General Manager, Treasury Department, where he sets 
the controls and mechanisms of the department’s activities and leads a team of specialists to manage 
liquidity effectively, capital, and market risks.

Mr. Alramadan began his career in the Dealing Room/Treasury Department of Burgan Bank in 1995 
as a Corporate Desk Dealer and then joined Boubyan Bank as a Corporate Desk Dealer; after that, he 
was promoted to Senior Corporate Desk Dealer. He has held several positions during his career, such 
as Treasury Analyst at KP and Economic Analyst at the Ministry of Finance. After that, he joined KIB as 
a Senior Money Market Dealer and then to Money Market Chief Dealer. In 2021, he was promoted to 
Acting General Manager of the Treasury Department.

Mr. Alramadan graduated from Kuwait University with a Bachelor’s degree in Economics. He has 
also attended many seminars and training courses and received several professional degrees from 
Harvard Business School, Euromoney Institute of Treasury Trading Tools from the UK, and technical 
Foreign Exchange analysis from several local and international institutes. He also participated in several 
conferences locally and internationally.

Mr. Osama Alramadan
Executive Manager, Acting General 
Manager of Treasury Department
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Mr. Mohamed Khadiri carries more than 22 years of corporate and investment banking experience 
across the US, Middle East & North Africa. He worked for leading international financial institutions, 
including Salomon Smith Barney, Citibank, Barclays, and HSBC.

Mr. Khadiri joined KIB in late 2016 and is currently leading and managing the International Banking & 
Large Corporate activities and operations of KIB. He played a pivotal role in developing the Bank’s local 
& international business activities and arranging numerous high-profile deals with public sector entities, 
large corporate and multinational companies along with local and international financial institutions.

Before joining KIB, Mr. Khadiri worked in HSBC Bank MENA in Dubai for nine years, undertaking different 
leadership roles, most recently as the Regional Head of Lending, Transaction Management, and Portfolio 
Management.

Mr. Khadiri holds a Master of Business Administration degree in Finance and Information Technology 
with distinction from Boston College, where he was a recipient of the prestigious Fulbright Scholarship. 
He also holds a Master of Science in Finance degree with distinction from Northeastern University in 
Boston and a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration & Accounting with the highest honours from 
Institut Superieur de Commerce et d’Administration des Entreprises (ISCAE) in Casablanca, Morocco.

Mr. Mohamed Khadiri
General Manager of International Banking 
and Large Corporate Department

Mr. Jassim Al-Abdulhadi has been with KIB since 1997. In his current role, Mr. Al-Abdulhadi oversees 
the strategic and operational functions of the Real Estate Department, guiding his team in developing 
innovative banking solutions that are tailored to meet customers’ needs. He is also a member of the KIB 
executive team, actively contributing to the Bank’s strategic plans.

A seasoned banker, Mr. Al-Abdulhadi has spent his entire banking career with KIB and has extensive 
experience in the area of Corporate Finance, particularly in Real Estate Sector.

Mr. Al-Abdulhadi holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting and Auditing from the College of Economics 
and Commerce at Kuwait University. He also completed several leading business programs throughout 
his career; at Harvard Business School, the Kuwait Institute of Banking Studies, and Euro Money.

Mr. Jassim Al-Abdulhadi
General Manager of
Real Estate Department
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Mr. Hesham Elsayed Ezzeldine joined KIB’s Executive Management Team in 2016, bringing over 30 
years of experience across different functions and areas, with a key focus on information technology, 
operations automation & digitization.

In his executive role at KIB, Mr. Ezzeldine leads the strategic planning and execution of digital transformation 
& innovation to achieve the Bank’s business goals and strategic objectives.

Throughout his career, Mr. Ezzeldine served as Chief Operating Officer at several international banks 
in the Middle East and GCC regions, including Bank Al-Jazira (KSA), Bank Credit Agricole (Egypt), 
National Bank of Oman, and National Bank of Egypt. He recently joined KIB in 2016 from Al Khaliji Bank 
in Qatar. Mr. Ezzeldine holds a Bachelor of Commerce from Cairo University, Egypt.

Mr. Ajai Thomas has been a member of KIB’s management team since 2014 and brings with him over 
two decades of professional experience in assurance engagements and functional responsibilities in 
various industries and regions.

In his position with the Bank, Mr. Ajai leads the financial control and planning activities, reporting to 
the Board of Directors and top management on matters related to budgets, management reporting, 
financial performance, capital management, Central Bank reporting, external ratings, and investor 
relations. He also serves as a prominent member of the Bank’s various executive committees and leads 
technical task forces.

Prior to joining KIB, Mr. Ajai spent over ten years working with PricewaterhouseCoopers and Deloitte 
& Touché in Kuwait, where he led multicultural teams specialized in financial services and audits, in 
addition to his various functional roles in Bahrain and India earlier.

Mr. Ajai is a Chartered Accountant (ICAI, India), a Certified Information Systems Auditor, and a Certified 
Data Privacy Solutions Engineer (ISACA, US). He also holds a Master’s Degree in Financial Management 
from Pondicherry University and a Bachelor’s Degree in Physics from Mahatma Gandhi University, both 
in India in addition to various certifications in Islamic banking. Various Islamic finance periodicals have 
featured his articles. He is a regular speaker at the annual Kuwait Islamic Finance News conference.

Mr. Hesham Elsayed Ezzeldine
General Manager of Digital Transformation 
& Innovation Department

Mr. Ajai Thomas
General Manager of Financial Control
& Planning Department
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With extensive experience spanning more than 35 years in human resources, Mr. Anthony John Erasmus 
has held many high-level positions at large financial institutions in both the GCC and Africa.

Before joining KIB’s Executive Management Team, Mr. Erasmus served in similar roles as Global Head 
of Talent Management, Acquisition Development, HR Business Partners, and International Business 
Banking Group – Human Resources Department - at Abu Dhabi Islamic Bank (ADIB), and earlier as 
Assistant General Manager of Human Resources at the National Bank of Kuwait (NBK).

He has also held a number of key positions at Barclays Africa and several managerial and consultancy 
positions in the area of technological and operational development.

Mr. Erasmus holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration Industrial Psychology (Hons) from 
the University of Pretoria, South Africa, and has earned a number of diplomas and certifications from 
various internationally accredited academic institutes.

Mr. Anthony John Erasmus
General Manager of
Human Resources Department

Mr. Feroz Noorani has a banking career of 39 years in senior roles; his core competency is Risk 
Management, Governance, and Compliance. As Chief Risk Officer at KIB since 2017, he is responsible 
for ensuring robust risk-based culture, managing the Bankʼs risk profile within the risk appetite 
determined by the Board of Directors.

Previously, Mr. Noorani held the position of Chief Risk Officer at Warba Bank, Kuwait, for six years; he 
also served as Group Chief Risk Officer for Risk Management & Compliance at AlHilal Bank, Abu Dhabi; 
and Head of Group Risk & Capital Strategy and Assistant General Manager for Corporate & Investment 
Banking at Samba Financial Group (previously Citibank), Saudi Arabia.

Mr. Noorani as member of professional associations, actively participates as a speaker/panelist at 
banking risk and regulatory conferences. In 2016, he was awarded a “Leading Professional in Risk 
Management” by The Asian Banker. In addition, he appeared on a Personality feature in The Banker 
Middle East in April 2017.

Mr.  Noorani holds a Masters’ degree in Business & Finance, Bachelorʼs degrees in Financial Accounting 
& Auditing, and Law. In addition, he has certification in “Risk Management in Banks” from INSEAD, 
France. In 2020, he was designated as a “Certified Data Privacy Solutions Engineer” (CDPSE) from 
ISACA, USA. In 2021, Mr. Noorani earned certification from the University of Oxford in “Oxford Bank 
Governance” Program.

Mr. Feroz Noorani
General Manager of
Risk Management Department
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In 2020, Ms. Manal Al Rubaian joined KIB as a Deputy General Manager of the Internal Audit Department 
and Acting General Internal Auditor. She has more than 13 years of experience in the Islamic banking 
sector. Prior to joining KIB, Ms. Manal held the position of Head of Internal Audit at Al Rajhi Bank in 
Kuwait, after having served as a Senior Internal Auditor at Kuwait Finance House (KFH) and Internal 
Auditor at Boubyan Bank, Kuwait.

She graduated from Kuwait University, where she majored in Mathematics and minored in Accounting. In 
addition, she earned a Master’s degree in Business Administration from Gulf University in Bahrain and a 
postgraduate Diploma in Islamic Finance from Kuwait University. Ms. Manal received Commemorative 
Coin from the Governor of the Central Bank of Kuwait, marking her outstanding efforts in the field of 
academic research in internal auditing.

Her professional profile boasts a number of prestigious training courses and professional certificates, 
including the Internal Audit Practitioner from the Institute of Internal Auditors (IIA), as well as Certified 
Islamic Specialist in Shari’a Audit (CISSA) from the General Council for Islamic Banks and Financial 
Institutions (CIBAFI). In addition, Ms. Manal is the first Kuwaiti female chosen by the (Cambridge – 
Islamic Finance Advisory) as an influential leader in business and Islamic finance in 2021, ranked 48th 
amongst the 300 female leaders in the same field worldwide.

Ms. Manal Al Rubaian
Deputy General Manager,
Acting General Internal Auditor

Ms. Khloud Alsalem is a legal expert with almost three decades of professional experience in corporate 
laws and banking business, including more than 27 years of experience in the banking sector, most of 
which in KIB.

Heading the Legal Department at KIB, Ms. Khloud oversees the Bank’s legal and regulatory functions. 
She serves as the legal counsel to the Bank’s leadership and management, offering legal advice on all 
operational, administrative, and financial activities.

After starting her career practicing law at legal firms inside the State of Kuwait, Ms. Khloud made the 
transition into the banking sector. She has been occupying several legal and executive positions in the 
Bank before being promoted to her current post at KIB. Ms. Khloud has previously worked as a lawyer 
for an investment company. She holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Law from Kuwait University earned in 
1992. She was also conferred several certified training programs and courses in Islamic banking.

Ms. Khloud Alsalem
Head of Legal Department
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Mr. Barrak AlMatar Joined KIB’s executive management in April 2021 as the head of Information 
Technology. He brings 20 years of experience across various IT functions and business management 
achievements. In his current role in KIB, Mr. AlMatar leads the IT function covering IT transformation, 
IT strategy, and Planning and Operations with a clear Focus on achieving KIB’s vision to be the most 
innovative Islamic bank in Kuwait.

Mr. AlMatar led significant transformational projects throughout his career and participated in multiple 
organizational changes, strategy building, mergers, and acquisition projects. In addition, Mr. AlMatar 
has been a member of various innovation and leadership programs, such as the KFAS Innovation 
Challenge and the Thukhur leadership program in Kuwait. He also held board membership on 
SUGMENA (SAP User Group MENA).

Mr. AlMatar holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Management Information Systems from Kuwait University; he 
is also certified in SIX Sigma, Project Management, SAP ERP, Design Thinking, Change Management, 
and Digital Transformation.

Mr. Barrak AlMatar
Head of Information Technology

Mr. Basil Al-Suwaidan holds a bachelor of science degree in Computer Information Systems from 
the American University, Washington D.C., USA, and other distinguished professional degrees in 
information security and data privacy. He has over 15 years of experience in banking and has received 
a number of international awards in recognition of his many professional achievements and outstanding 
contributions to the banking and information security sector. 

He is also a member of ISACA; an international professional association focused on IT governance, 
and the International Information System Security Certification Consortium, or (ISC)², a non-profit global 
organization specializing in training and certifications for cyber security professionals. Additionally, he 
is a Certified Information Security Manager (CISM), Certified Data Privacy Solutions Engineer (CDPSE), 
and System Security Certified Practitioner (SSCP).

In his current role, Mr. Al-Suwaidan oversees the Information Security, Privacy, and Anti-Fraud, bringing 
robust technical expertise and business acumen to combat financial crimes.

Mr. Basil A. Al-Suwaidan
General Manager of Information Security, 
Privacy and Anti-Fraud Department
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Mr. Fahad AlBader joined KIB’s Executive Management Team in 2019, bringing with him over 18 years 
of experience across different functions and areas, with a key focus on operations management.

In his executive role at KIB, Mr. AlBader leads the strategic planning and execution of operational excellence 
and productive environment to achieve the Bank’s business goals and strategic objectives.

Mr. Al Bader served in various banking roles at several domestic banks throughout his career, 
including Ahli United Bank (AUB) and Ahli Bank of Kuwait (ABK). He recently joined KIB in 2019 as 
Assistant General Manager – Operations from Boubyan Bank. Mr. AlBader holds a Masterʼs in Business 
Administration and Management from Gulf University for Science & Technology, Kuwait.

In addition, Mr. AlBader holds professional certifications from prestigious schools such as the University 
of California, Berkley & Harvard Business School.

Mr. Fahad Othman AlBader
General Manager of
Operations Department
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Sheikh Dr. Khalid Mathkour AlMathkour
Chairman of Shari’a Supervisory Board

Sheikh. Ali Mohammed Hejji Al-Jady
Vice Chairman of Shari’a Supervisory Board 

Sheikh Dr. Abdulaziz Khalifa Al-Qassar
Executive Member of Shari’a Supervisory Board

Members
of the Shari’a
Supervisory Board



39



40

Address of 
the Shari’a
Supervisory 
Board
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Praise be to Almighty Allah, and Peace and Blessings be upon Prophet Mohammad, His Blessed 
Family, Companions and Followers.

The whole world has gone through a health crisis that has affected many aspects of economic life, 
and has negatively impacted financial transactions in terms of size and objectivity, but there is a 
firm certainty that Allah has not put us under such affliction unless there is an invisible and hidden 
benefit and interest to people. Of course, time varies in terms of the appearance and concealment 
of those benefits.

There is no doubt that the most significant continual product of this crisis is the method of thinking 
about the offering of financial products. In this context, we mean the financial banking sector, 
where products based on full transparency and technological development have grown, which 
have contributed to improving the quality of these banking services. The Islamic banks have kept 
pace with these several developments, providing, thanks to Allah Almighty, a range of new banking 
services of a technological nature, maintaining their Islamic jurisprudence, where the significance 
of compatibility between Islamic financial products and technological development has been 
firmly established. This clearly demonstrates the capacity of Islamic financial jurisprudence and its 
keeping pace with financial economic developments in accordance with a multi-feature system, 
linked to that solid Islamic Shariʼa basis.

The Islamic rules governing Islamic financial transactions have therefore set special conditions 
which should be taken into consideration when applying financial technology to Islamic products, 
where these financial technology products at all levels are required to be in line with the Shariʼ
a  terms and provisions, in order for these services to adapt to the integrated Shariʼa system.

This clearly demonstrates the integration of Islamic Shariʼa laws which serve the economy as well 
as the areas of life in general; The Almighty Allah said: “This day have I perfected your religion 
for you, and have completed my mercy upon you; and have chosen Islam, to be your religion.” 
Al-Ma’eda, Verse (3). 

Al-Shangiti, may he rest in peace, said, «In completing religion and explaining all its provisions 
are all the blessings of the life and the aftermath, and therefore Allah said: «And have completed 
my mercy upon you,» and this verse explicitly states that Islam has left nothing, whatever it is, that 
creation needs in this world or in the hereafter that it does not clarify and illustrate.»

Address of
Shari’a Supervisory Board
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Therefore, Shariʼa , with respect to “Transactions Chapter” is based on inclusive and comprehensive rules, 
including: the authorization/permission of all that is in pure or good interest, the legitimacy of cooperation 
for good, the easing on people, the legitimacy of everything in the interest of contractors, the prohibition 
of all that is unjust to people and fraud transactions; Such as Riba, usurpation and monopoly, preventing 
the predominantly considered counterfeit, and other significant rules in this respect. The originated 
rule is: the origin of transactions is permissibility; thus, nothing is forbidden, except for evidence, and 
the basis is that Muslim should fear Allah in implementing any transaction. Islamic finance is based on 
this moral religious dimension, by which nation flourishes. In the same context, we should not forget 
the initiatives of Kuwait International Bank (KIB), which enhance the application of these rules in the 
transactions adopted in accordance with the ongoing cooperation between the Shariʼa  Supervisory 
Board, the Board of Directors and the Executive Management of the bank.

We seek Allah almighty to reconcile us with what He desires and accepts, and to establish our conviction 
that religion is preserved by Allah almighty who has completed his blessings upon us. 

Peace and Blessings be upon Prophet Mohammad, His Blessed Family, Companions and Followers, 
and praise be to Almighty Allah. 

Dr. Abdulaziz Khalifa Al-Qassar
Executive Member, Shariʼa Supervisory Board 
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Date: 03/01/2022

To: KIB Shareholders

Peace, mercy and blessings of Allah be upon you,

Subject: Report of the Shari’a Supervisory Board
For the period 1/1/2021 to 31/12/2021.

Praise be to Almighty Allah, and Peace and Blessings upon Prophet Mohammad, His Blessed Family, 
Companions and Followers.

Dear Sirs,

In line with the General Assembly’s resolution concerning the appointment of Shari’a Supervisory Board 
to KIB, and as we were entrusted to act as such, please find below our report:

The Shari’a Supervisory Board convened (5) meetings and passed (27) Shari’a resolutions. The regulations 
embodied in these resolutions varied according to the various departments of the Bank.

The following table shows the number of meetings each member of the Shari’a Supervisory Board attended 
during the year:

Sr. Name Job Title Number of meetings 
attended during 2021

1. Sheikh Dr. Khalid Mathkour AlMathkour Chairman of Shari’a 
Supervisory Board

5/5

2. Sheikh. Ali Mohammed Hejji Al-Jady Vice Chairman of Shari’a 
Supervisory Board 

5/5

3. Sheikh Dr. Abdulaziz Khalifa Al-Qassar Executive Member of 
Shari’a Supervisory Board

5/5

The total of (643) contracts, agreements, policies and Procedures were presented to Shari’a Supervisory 
Board.

Concerning Shari’a Supervision, it has been confirmed that the Bank’s activities have been performed 
in accordance with Shari’a regulations laid down by Shari’a Supervisory Board in the Bank. It has been 
also confirmed that the revenues non-compliant with Islamic Shari’a regulations have been set aside in 
accordance with the resolutions of the Shari’a Supervisory Board.

Report of the Shari’a
Supervisory Board 
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From Shari’a Audit perspective, the audit plan approved for 2021 has been implemented in line with 
the bank’s approved policies. The audit covered all the bank’s departments, divisions and branches. 
The report was presented to the members of the Board of Directors, the Vice Chairman and the Chief 
Executive Officer, and to the Deputy Chief Executive Officer.

All these tasks have been accomplished, with the grace of Allah, and with the positive cooperation of 
all managers and staff members of the Bank.

Based on the above, we confirm the following: 
We, at the Shari’a Supervisory Board - KIB, have supervised and reviewed the principles used and 
the contracts related to the transactions concluded by the Bank during the period from 1/1/2021 to 
31/12/2021. We have carried out the necessary supervision to give our opinion whether the Bank 
complied with the Islamic Shari’a laws and principles and with the Fatawa, decisions, resolutions and 
guidelines made by us. It is for the Bank’s Management to implement these Fatawa and principles, while 
we as the Shari’a Supervisory Board, are solely responsible for expressing an independent opinion 
based on the subject matter presented to us.

Our supervision included an adequate review and examination of the contracts and procedures used 
by the Bank on the basis of examining each type of operations. We have also collected all necessary 
information and clarifications to give our opinion whether the Bank’s business is in full conformity with 
Islamic Shari’a provisions. 

In our opinion, the contracts, operations and transactions concluded or used by the Bank during the 
period from 1/1/2021 to 31/12/2021 and which have been reviewed by us, were in compliance with the 
Islamic Shari’a laws.

We wish the Bank all success and prosperity in serving our religion and our country.

May Allah’s peace, mercy and blessings be upon you.

  Sheikh Dr. Khalid Mathkour AlMathkour Sheikh. Ali Mohammed Hejji Al-Jady 
    Chairman of Shari’a Supervisory Board  Vice Chairman of Shari’a Supervisory Board

Sheikh Dr. Abdulaziz Khalifa Al-Qassar 
Executive Member of Shari’a Supervisory Board
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To Shareholders of Kuwait International Bank (KIB) Respected,,,

Peace, Mercy & Blessings of Allah be upon you, and after kind greetings,,,

Report of KIB’s External Shariʼah Auditor for the financial year ending 
as of 31/12/2021AD

Responsibility of External Shariʼah Audit Office
Under the contract concluded between us, the external Shariʼah audit office is responsible for 
controlling and auditing all transactions and dealings to ensure the extent to which KIB adheres 
to the provisions of Islamic Shariʼah in accordance with the Resolutions and Fatwas issued by the 
Shariʼah Supervisory Board.

KIB’s Responsibility
The bank is responsible for compliance with the provisions of Islamic Shariʼah in accordance 
with the Resolutions and Fatwas issued by the Shariʼah Supervisory Board, and for providing all 
information that is necessary to conduct an external Shariʼah audit on all transactions and dealings.

Procedures and Results of External Shariʼah Audit
The minutes of meetings and reports of Shariʼah Supervisory Board in addition to the plan and 
reports of the Internal Shariʼah Audit Department are reviewed, and the Shariʼah approvals on the 
policy and procedure manuals and their amendments are reviewed for all of KIB’s departments.

We also have examined and reviewed investments, contracts, banking and commercial transactions, 
and its products and phases of its completion, and we have ensured that the concerned authorities 
in the bank have implemented these operations in accordance with the Resolutions and Fatwas of 
Shariʼah Supervisory Board.

External Shari’ah
Audit Report
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Field Visits and Results
In compliance with health requirements related to the spread of the Covid-19 epidemic and its mutants; 
the Bank’s executive departments are contacted by holding seven (7) meetings, as well as telephone 
and video conversations, and correspondence via e-mail, and the results of such meetings are recorded.

Final Independent Opinion of External Shariʼah Auditor
We think that the audit conducted on the Bank’s transactions for the period as of 01/01/2021 to 
31/12/2021 provides a proper basis for expressing our independent opinion in accordance to information, 
clarifications and confirmations we have obtained and which we consider necessary to provide us with 
sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the Bank’s executive departments have complied 
with the Resolutions and Fatwas of the Shari’ah Supervisory Board, accordingly; the External Shariʼah  
Audit Office has reached the final opinion that KIB has complied with the provisions and principles of 
Islamic Shariʼah in accordance with the Resolutions and Fatwas of the Shariʼah Supervisory Board.

External Shari’ah Auditor 

Dr. Abdulaziz Khalaf Jarallah
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Brief on the 
Global & 
Domestic 
Economic 
Developments
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Global Economic Developments 
The world has been able to adapt, at least in part, to the circumstances imposed by the pandemic, 
and the recovery of the global economy began to emerge, however, unevenly in several regions 
of the world, and has been marred by many challenges posed by the pandemic in the short and 
medium-term. The turmoil imposed by the pandemic on the supply chains has increased the prices 
of many goods and put inflationary pressures in many countries of the world, coinciding with high 
records of global debt, coupled with the stresses imposed by the pandemic on labor markets. The 
latest International Labor Organization (ILO) estimates indicated the loss of approximately 125 million 
full-time jobs, and the health expenditures placed more pressure on the worldʼs fragile economies. 
These and other structural economic factors complicated the global economic landscape and 
increased the challenges associated with the continuing global economic recovery measures.

With all of the above, the most recent International Monetary Fund (IMF) forecasts indicated 
that the world economy would grow by 5.9% in 2021, returning to 4.4% in 2022 and reaching 
3.8% in the medium term, keeping estimates conditioned by  a range of requirements, including 
keeping inflation within target levels and ensuring an extension of monetary easing policies in 
most countries of the world. Higher inflation for longer-than-expected periods may force a return 
to normal monetary conditions earlier, and uncertainty associated with high inflation necessitates 
central banks to prepare for a faster-than-expected recovery scenario and intervene on time with 
appropriate plans and policies to ensure that the situation is kept under control. The expectations 
also remain subject to enhancing vaccine prevalence levels, easing financial constraints on the 
most indebted countries, and balancing the choice of economic policies capable of dealing 
with inflationary pressures, reducing the financial risks, continuing to support both recovery 
and economic development efforts, along with mitigating the consequences of climate change 
expected in the coming years.

In detail, the IMF expects Developed Economies to grow by 5.0% in 2021 and growth to back to 
3.9% in 2022 (and to reach 5.2% in 2021 and 3.9% in 2022 in the Euro Area), where these estimates 
are mainly affected by supply chain disruptions and their impact on manufacturing output, as well 
as the unprecedented casualty numbers in some of the Groupʼs countries such as Japan. The 
economic growth of the Group of Emerging and Developing Economies is expected to reach 6.5% 
in 2021 and fall to 4.8% levels in 2022, as these expectations have been affected by the decline 
in public investments in China and the resurgence of the pandemic in some countries. On the 
other hand, the recovery in commodity prices and increased domestic demand have positively 
affected expected growth levels. As for the group of Developing and Low-Income Countries, 
expectations were weak at 3.1% in 2021 and about 5.3% in 2022. The continued slowdown in 
vaccine deployment and the high cost associated with the response to the pandemic, estimated 
by the International Monetary Fund (IMF) at about US$250 billion in these countries combined, 
have been mainly affected.

In the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) region, real GDP is expected to grow by 4.1% in 2021 and 
2022. Economic recovery is uneven for this group, as it has been affected by many negative pressures 
in many of its countries, such as inflationary pressures from rising commodity prices, labor market 
dilemmas, and the burden of many countries of the group under high debt servicing pressures, in 
addition to corporate sector weaknesses, and structural economic imbalances experienced by some 
of the Groupʼs countries. On the positive side, crude oil exporters benefited from higher prices during 
2021, wealthier countries were able to mitigate the consequences of the pandemic by accelerating the 
deployment of the vaccine, government support policies contributed to job preservation, protection of 
the banking sector, and maintaining acceptable levels of domestic demand. For example, the GCC 
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countries have benefited from a gradual recovery in global demand and rising oil prices, and the higher 
vaccineʼs prevalence rate, with an estimated 70% of GCC people receiving the vaccine. The GCC’s 
economy is expected to grow by 2.8% in 2021 and to rise to 4.2% levels in 2022, as these 2021 
estimates were negatively affected by the rise in unemployment in these countries to unprecedented 
levels according to ILO, and the pressures imposed by the pandemic on the public finances of these 
countries, despite the improvement in global oil prices.

Local Economic Developments
The governmentʼs rapid response has helped alleviate the pandemic and better control its health and 
economic repercussions. The countryʼs rapid supply and receipt of the vaccine have reduced the spread 
of the pandemic. More than 70% of Kuwaitʼs population received complete vaccination by the end of 
2021, slowing down the spread of infection and allowing economic recovery to begin. The International 
Monetary Fund (IMF) forecasts that the growth of the Kuwaiti economy will rise to 0.9% in 2021 after the 
downturn witnessed last year, supported by improved oil prices, where OPEC indicated that the average 
price of a Kuwaiti oil barrel in 2021 had risen to about US$70 per barrel, compared with an average of 
about US$41 per barrel in 2020. The average daily production of Kuwaiti oil rose to 2.53 million barrels 
per day compared to an average output of 2.44 million barrels per day last year. As a result, Kuwaitʼs 
economic growth is expected to reach 4.3% in 2022. The non-oil economy will grow by 3.0% in 2021 
and 3.5% in 2022. Expected inflation rates would remain close to 3.0% per annum in the medium term, 
influenced by the high cost of food (which has increased by about 10% year on year according to the 
latest data available from the Central Bureau of Statistics), and some other commodities.

In the same vein, the Stateʼs public finances are expected to improve significantly in the short term, 
supported by a significant rise in oil prices and lower pandemic-related expenses, as the Ministry of 
Finance’s interim data for the first eight months (November 2021 data) of fiscal year (2021/2022 | the fiscal 
year ends at the end of March of every year) show an initial deficit of KD 752 million, which is much lower 
if compared relatively to the estimated budget deficit at the time for about KD 12 billion. These statements 
remain preliminary; however, they indicate a significant improvement in the Stateʼs public finances this 
year compared to 2020/2021, which recorded a deficit of KD 10.5 billion. The International Monetary Fund 
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(IMF) expects Kuwaitʼs public finances (including sovereign investment income) to achieve a surplus 
of 2.0% of GDP in 2021. Despite this improvement, there is still a need to increase the momentum of 
economic reforms and rationalize spending while directing it towards productive sectors to diversify the 
economic sources, where risks of financial pressures remain in the medium term if crude oil prices fall. 

On a related note, prudent policies and outstanding control imposed by the Central Bank of Kuwait 
(CBK) and the ample preventive margins owned by the Kuwaiti banking sector have helped the financial 
and banking sector overcome the consequences of the pandemic until the end of 2021. The latest CBK 
data (for November 2021) indicates that credit grew by 5.2% annually, reaching its highest level for the 
same period since 2016, with personal credit facilities growing by about 12.1%. Year on year, about 
13% for the industrial sector, 15.6% for the oil and gas sector, and 2.5% for the real estate sector, with 
a 15% decline in credit to the commercial sector and the construction sector by 16%. Credit growth is 
expected to maintain comparable levels in the short term. In a related context, total domestic deposits 
decreased by 2.0% year-on-year, mainly due to a decline in government deposits of about 6.1%, and 
the drawback in private sector deposits by about 1.4% under pressure from the decline of its most 
important components, namely term deposits of about 9.5% year-on-year. However, the decline in total 
domestic deposits is expected to be temporary and return to normal growth levels in the medium term 
after removing minor liquidity pressures imposed by the pandemic and the expectations that oil prices 
will remain favorable in the medium term.

The banking sector has successfully overcome most of the consequences of this pandemic due to its 
strong capitalization levels thanks to sound prudential policies adopted by the Central Bank of Kuwait 
in the previous years, with local banks maintaining strong capitalization rates. As a result, according to 
the most recent data from the Central Bank of Kuwait (end of the first half of 2021), local banksʼ capital 
adequacy ratio (CAR) reached 19.1%, compared to about 17.6% in the same period last year.

The non-performing financing remained within acceptable limits of 2.4% compared to 2.6% during the 
same period last year. The NPLs Coverage Ratio increased to about 192.6% compared to about 164.8% 
end of the first half of last year. Local banksʼ assets increased by about 4.6% during the first nine months 
of the year on an annual basis, compared to about 10.2% for the same period last year. The liquid assets 
of local banks of total assets (cash and deposits with the Central Bank of Kuwait and the Central Bank of 
Kuwaitʼs bonds & Tawarruk) have maintained at good levels at 10.5% end of November 2021, compared 
to 11.8% during the same period last year. Although bank business activities have been affected by 
extended lockdowns and increased precautionary allocations, Bank profits increased by 72.2% in the first 
nine months of 2021 compared to the same period a year earlier but are still below pre-pandemic levels 
from the same period in 2019, by 15.6%. Local banks are expected to record good profitability during the 
fourth quarter of 2021, and profitability will continue to improve as the pandemic gradually fades.
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Boursa Kuwait indices recorded a marked improvement during 2021 after pressures last year. The All-
Share market index increased by about 27.2% year-on-year, and the market value of companies listed 
on Boursa Kuwait increased by about KD 9.2 billion, approximately 28.5% year-on-year. In addition, 
the average daily trading value index rose to KD 55.3 million per day, up about 23% year-on-year, 
reflecting improved investor sentiment as the effects of the pandemic declined during 2021, with 
positive developments in the Boursa  Kuwait at the regulatory level and the efforts made to list it with 
more global indicators. Therefore, Boursa Kuwait is expected to maintain its positive performance over 
the coming year as the economic recovery progresses unless it is affected by negative pressures that 
future pandemic developments may impose.

In another context, the Kuwaiti real estate market performed relatively well during 2021 to get rid of a 
large part of the pressures imposed by the pandemic, where the total sales of the Kuwaiti real estate 
market reached about KD 4.04 billion during the year, registering growth of 360% year-on-year, after 
the weak performance witnessed by the market due to direct impact of the total and partial closures last 
year. Real estate sales also exceeded pre-pandemic levels by 10% (compared to total sales in 2019). 
With more careful consideration, the current sales are the largest since 2014 and only about 10% below 
the record levels recorded in 2007. This strong performance of the Kuwaiti real estate market was driven 
by record performance in the residential sector, which witnessed a rise in prices with increased demand 
and limited supply, and the trend observed in the market since the beginning of the year, investors have 
shifted towards investment in the residential sector after modest performance towards investment in 
the residential sector after the modest performance of the investment sector and the pressures it is 
experiencing due to the high vacancies and the decrease in the number of expats. 

In detail, sales in the residential sector reached record levels of nearly KD 2.95 billion, seven times 
higher than last year and about 88% higher than the pre-pandemic levels in 2019, and about 9,047 
deals were recorded in the sector, the largest number registered in the residential sector since 2007.  
The average deal value was KD 327,000, which is close to those of the past two years. In the investment 
sector, sales were only KD 733 million, about 40% below pre-pandemic levels, although they nearly 
doubled compared to 2020 levels. The commercial sector remains the sector most affected by the 
consequences of the health pandemic, with sales of only KD 182 million, about 21% lower than last yearʼs 
levels and about 70% below pre-pandemic levels. The main reason for the decline in the commercial 
sector could be the pressures imposed by the pandemic on small and medium-sized entities (SMEs) 
and the decline in the labor marketʼs performance. However, the sector is expected to recover as 
economic recovery accelerates over the coming year. In the short term and both directions, the real 
estate sector is expected to be affected - negatively or positively - by the developments of the health 
pandemic, while the performance of the real estate sector will remain linked to economic developments 
in the medium term, and the performance of the sector will be positively affected - particularly the 
residential sector - substantially if the mortgage law is passed, which, if passed, needs precautionary 
preventive measures and policies to ensure that there is no significant price rise under limited supply 
and steady rise in demand.

Finally, the local economy has moved forward with the economic recovery. However, future economic 
prospects will remain subject to the developments that the pandemic will impose in the short term and 
medium term. Furthermore, there is an urgent need to adopt policies capable of redressing structural 
economic imbalances, diversifying sources of income, and enhancing the private sectorʼs contribution 
to supporting the economy and the economic development efforts to ensure sustainable levels of 
economic growth.
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Management Discussion & Analysis
This part of the report presents the Executive Management discussions concerning KIB’s 
performance indicators and future plans. All are in line with the results of its performance and 
comprehensive strategic plan. The discussions noted in the report have all been approved by the 
Bank’s Board of Directors and are based on the audited financial statements for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2021.

Strategic Plan Developments
As part of our ongoing efforts to enhance the quality of services provided to our customers, respond 
to their needs and aspirations, follow up on the rapid changes in the operational environment, and 
build the capacity to respond effectively. During the year, we have reviewed and updated our 
comprehensive strategic plan to cover the next three years (2022 - 2024), aiming to bring about a 
qualitative shift in our business activities by building a robust, flexible, harmonious, and responsive 
business model, to deliver unique banking and financial products tailored to the individual needs of 
each of our customers and exceed their expectations. Our strategic plan is based on the following 
key themes:

Construction of an Advanced and Flexible Technological Infrastructure 
This year, we have continued to develop a flexible and robust digital infrastructure that keeps 
pace with the latest developments in financial technology, providing the foundations necessary for 
coping with the process of change and enhancing our ability to achieve sustainable growth, by 
bringing about a qualitative shift in our services and internal processes, and building strategic 
partnerships with some of the worldʼs best digital financial services suppliers and developers. This 
aims to replace our banking systems with most advanced systems, and to upgrade another set of 
systems for their latest versions, in order to take advantage of all the new capabilities and features 
they have, to get closer than ever, to launch our retail services in a new modern way, supported 
by next-generation technologies, and to subsequently undertake a comprehensive development 
of services provided to our corporate customers, as the process of developing our banking 
systems, modernizing our infrastructure and enhancing our digital capabilities would be over the 
next two years, during which we take an «analysis and response» approach at all stages of the 
implementation of the strategy, with the development of analytical models capable of reading and 
predicting market trends, to be proactive in leading the process of change and implementing a 
comprehensive development process to follow, while applying the latest and best cybersecurity 
practices adopted globally, in order to enhance levels of confidentiality and protect information 
assets, and to implement the latest proactive and preventive security controls.

Development of Human Resources and Building Responsive Business Models 
Our strategic plan attaches particular significance to developing our human resources, attracting 
national human resources capable of leading the process of change, and responding to market 
developments. Developing our human cadres and building capacity has become a continuous 
and authentic process within our business model. This has enabled us to build our business model 
and data-based decision-making mechanisms to become more flexible to enhance our ability to 
achieve the targeted development of our systems and processes. This has also developed our ability 
to accumulate experiences and build young national cadres capable of achieving our strategic 
aspirations and leading the process of internal change successfully, effectively, and continuously.
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Provision of Innovative Digital Services to Retail and Corporate Customers 

This year, we have closely developed the experience of our retail customers, adopting a sophisticated 
digital business model, launching a range of new digital services across all our platforms, and continuing 
to develop our digital platforms, focusing on using the latest tools and technological means to attract 
new customers and develop the right policies and mechanisms to serve them optimally and retain 
them as well. In addition, we have worked on developing and launching a range of digital branches, 
upgrading our ATM network, restructuring many of our services, and launching an updated version of 
our platforms aimed at serving retail and corporate customers. Furthermore, we have been working 
with a group of the best suppliers globally to develop our mobile banking application and online 
banking, aiming to launch them with a new solution that exploits the technologies of the next generation 
and meets and even exceeds the aspirations of our customers. Furthermore, as part of our strategic 
plan, we are working to determine our corporate customersʼ existing and future requirements, medium 
and large corporates, and international banking customers. Furthermore, we have continued to work 
on developing and automating our support operations, as we have developed a package of digital 
tools and systems supporting account managers, which enable them to use the latest technology 
in building intelligent and advanced business models, able to provide a range of unique services 
and products to our customers, to meet their needs and conform to their aspirations, in addition to 
developing our digital channels geared to our wholesale activities and providing specialized cadres 
to serve our corporate customers through our branch network.

Provision of Unique and Integrated Digital Services to Real Estate Customers  
To maintain the Bankʼs outstanding position in the real estate sector and the ample experience 
we have accumulated over many years, we have come a long way in creating advanced 
banking solutions of unique value to our customers. We have also been working on automating 
our operations and developed the experience of our retail and corporate customers in the real 
estate sector to provide our innovative services in the fields of real estate appraisal and finance, 
property management, data analysis, as well as a range of specialized advisory services under 
one umbrella. 

Development of Unique Products and Services for Entrepreneurs and SMEs  
Our strategic plan aims to have KIB as the primary resort for entrepreneurs, the preferred Islamic 
Bank for startups and SMEs in Kuwait. It also pays special attention to a range of important economic 
sectors which are not adequately cared for in the local market, such as SMEs, entrepreneurs, and 
startups. We are building a range of strategic programs and initiatives specifically designed to meet 
their requirements and needs, to provide the necessary support and training from the moment they 
launch their projects, to help them manage and market them through digital platforms that offer a 
range of services specifically designed to meet their different needs, and provide financing solutions, 
training and consultancy to ensure the continuity of their initiatives, the development of their projects 
and their success in achieving their objectives during all the phases of their businesses. 

Improvement of Spending Efficiency and Periodic Review of Priorities  
As part of our comprehensive strategic plan, we are continuously working to improve spending 
efficiency and periodically review priorities to direct savings towards investing in our systems and 
human resources and implement the strategic initiatives included in our strategic plan.  We have also 
been working on providing the resources needed to implement the change process and develop 
systems by acquiring the latest technology. The strategic plan identifies a range of balanced and 
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coherent strategic initiatives, carefully selected, that all business and support units work to implement 
in complete harmony, identify their points of contact and interactions with our overall strategic plan, 
ensuring that our broader strategic objectives are achieved, meet the aspirations of our customers, 
and bring us closer than ever to becoming the most innovative bank in Kuwait.

To enhance our capabilities to achieve the above, we have begun, through the Bankʼs Strategic 
Planning Unit, since the beginning of the year, to conduct a quarterly review and follow-up aimed at 
studying the operational environment and identifying the Bankʼs competitive position in the market, 
to work with all Bank departments to develop and revise strategic initiatives to consistently adapt 
to developments in the markets, by following up on the current and future market requirements, 
and laying the strategic foundations for the development of the Bankʼs products and services, the 
matter which enhances our ability to identify target customer categories and segments, to develop 
customized products and services for them

Finally, to ensure the success of our strategic initiatives and accelerate achieving our objectives 
accurately and effectively, we have paid close attention to ensuring that strategic initiatives are 
consistent with the Bankʼs risk governance framework and compatible with regulatory instructions. 
This ensures that our risk management capabilities are enhanced optimally while ensuring that 
comprehensive periodic reviews of strategic priorities are carried out to ensure that they keep 
pace with market changes and respond to them in a timely and optimal manner.

Banking Activities
This year, we have continued to achieve robust results and enhance our Wholesale Banking (WB) 
activities, where performance indicators reflect the primary role of the Wholesale Banking Department 
in supporting and developing the Bankʼs business activities. Despite the unfortunate circumstances 
imposed by the pandemic, we have realized good growth levels. In addition, we have succeeded in 
attracting new customers based on a high-quality banking experience and trusted corporate values 
that place customers’ needs first. As a result, WB continued to deliver strong growth in assets and 
revenues driven by higher income from fees and financing despite a low-profit-rate environment. 
Such robust financial performance reflects the continued success of our growth strategy and our 
ability to adapt to a challenging environment without compromising on our commitment to offering 
best-in-class customer service, as is evidenced in onboarding new corporate customers across 
multiple segments.

While 2021 presented WB with unforeseen challenges related to the global crisis dynamics, it 
continued to make significant strategic advances through the success of growing various business 
lines. WB boosted revenue from bilateral and syndicated financing, cash management, treasury 
activities, and trade services. These services provide the Bank with even greater diversity as it looks 
to a period of continued uncertainty in global markets. We have also sought to balance exposure 
through opportunities within vital sectors that promote and support economic growth. These reflect 
a long-term commitment to delivering value to clients and supporting national economic growth.

In trade finance, the Bank has also succeeded in providing relevant trade finance facilities to 
corporate clients, achieved through a global network of financial institutions (FIs), with products 
including the letter of credit (LC) confirmation and financing. Our strategy of providing financing 
solutions for creditworthy entities to finance their suppliers helped mitigate the stretch experienced 
by many customers during the pandemic. Moreover, bolstering trading activity during the pandemic 
represents one of the Bank’s broader socio-economic objectives: strong import/export activity is 
critically essential to corporate growth and the enhancement of value chains.
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It is notable that in an exceptionally unpredictable and challenging market, 2021 proved to be a year 
of resilience, decisiveness, and growth for the Bank. The KIB team continued its active engagement 
with strategic clients, including financial institutions, large corporates, and a growing number of 
government-related entities, all of which drove deal flow in 2021. Despite the challenging market 
backdrop, the WB team successfully concluded landmark transactions in Kuwait and across the 
region, which saw continued investments in renewable energy and infrastructure projects driving 
project financing momentum. Market dynamics are unlikely to change dramatically in the first half of 
2022; it is expected that WB’s strategy will continue to serve the Bank well by working closely with 
clients to assist them in their financing and capital raising requirements. Consequently, in 2021, WB 
focused on credit-resilient industries and organizations, emphasizing those with a long-standing 
and stable footprint. They included government-related entities, multinationals, and corporates 
that are credit strong and operate in various sectors such as trade, contracting, construction, 
manufacturing, oil & gas, real estate, energy, telecom, FMCG, etc.

These achievements would not have been possible without our continuous investment in our 
human capital through targeted technical courses and soft skills training. This has contributed to 
building a team with a unique combination of coverage, structuring, advisory, and execution skills 
with a proven ability to originate, manage, and provide comprehensive Shariʼa  compliant financing 
solutions locally, regionally, and globally.

Looking ahead, and despite ongoing uncertainties, we believe that Kuwaitʼs economy has the 
potential to have extremely robust, multi-year growth supported by positive consumer sentiment 
around the end of the pandemic. Against this backdrop, we believe that we are well-positioned for 
a period of sustained growth, leveraging on our strong market position, strategic initiatives, and 
operational resilience. Moreover, in 2022, our banking activities will be further enhanced with the 
upcoming corporate online banking platform upgrade and a digital credit approval workflow. This 
is in addition to the digitization efforts made for the real estate corporate and retail customers, 
improving our customer experience.

On a relevant front, the global economy is still growing at a slower pace. As a result, there are still 
worries about the future outlook, particularly concerning monetary policy and inflation, sustaining 
a prevailing uncertainty for the economic scene. This has sharpened the focus of the Investment 
Department to expand on its asset composition in 2021 while actively managing against headline 
risk and inflation in a post-Covid-19 economy.

We have also successfully implemented our 2021 target to increase liquid income-producing 
investments via high-quality Sukuk, managing the Bank’s excess liquidity and ratios. The investment 
portfolio continues to be well-diversified across geographies, asset classes, and sectors and is well-
managed to mitigate against the possibility of lingering inflation over the medium term. Furthermore, 
as the global economy is regaining momentum, the Investment Department emphasizes consistent 
growth in the Sukuk portfolio, coupled with an opportunistic focus on inflation being transitory and 
the pandemic recovery shape.

On another front, the Treasury Department, though the continuous economic effect of the pandemic, 
managed to attract new clients and maintain a strong relationship with our existing clients. In addition, 
the Treasury managed to retain the Bank liquidity and regulatory ratios effectively. Next year, we will 
focus on adapting to the return of the normal monetary policy, which is expected in the medium 
term. In addition, coordinate with other business departments to extend the necessary liquidity by 
selecting the optimal financing mix while reducing the cost of funds, enhancing profitability, and 
seizing opportunities to achieve targeted growth. This is to be implemented while closely monitoring 
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the market and operational environment developments, all in line with the robust risk management 
followed by the Bank aiming to enhance the liquidity management efforts and effectiveness.

We are fully aware of the pandemicʼs role in increasing the significance of innovation and digitization 
in enhancing customersʼ experience. This year, we have continued to develop a unique business 
model, guided by the views of our retail customers on the level of service provided to them and 
the results of surveys that prioritize and anticipate their expectations to radically develop their 
experience, facilitating their access to our services and enhancing their levels of use, while ensuring 
that their transactions are rapid without any delay, through innovative physical and technological 
methods, keeping in mind the complete reinvention of their banking experience, by integrating 
both physical and technical elements. In addition, we are working on a sophisticated business 
model serving a range of branches that utilize the latest financial and banking technology while 
retaining the human touch to ensure that we optimally communicate with and serve our customers.

In this context, we have accelerated replacing our current fleet of ATMs with modern ones in line with 
the latest technologies, where the replacement of ATMs located in all branches of the Bank has been 
completed. In addition, we have come a long way in replacing devices located in external locations. 
We have also developed our plans to expand the presence of our machines in additional vital areas 
and bring us closer to our customers’ different places of presence. We have also launched a range 
of services throughout our digital channels and ATM network, such as creating/changing passwords 
through ATMs, adding PACI kiosks in four of our branches to enable customers to subscribe to/
activate the digital signature service, and have begun to provide instant issuance of debit, credit and 
prepaid cards in all our branches. We have also managed to provide PIN Selection. We have continued 
developing our Call Center services through sorting and prioritizing incoming communications 
according to customers segments, launching KYC data update services, Civil ID updates, and debit 
card replacement services through the Call Center. Furthermore, we have established an email 
update service through the mobile app and online banking. We have also launched Video Chat 
support on the Bankʼs website to leverage our offers to our customers, pending the completion of the 
development of the next generation of our digital services across all our platforms.

Business Support Activities
Business Support Units practice a pivotal role in supporting the Bankʼs digital transformation 
process, providing the necessary technical support for the implementation of strategic initiatives 
associated with all business activities, keeping in mind the establishment of a range of digital 
platforms capable of developing our entire customer experience, ensuring that all our internal 
operations are automated, digitizing all our systems, enhancing the effectiveness of our business 
model, accelerating our internal processes, increasing our ability to respond to market changes 
and operational environment, meeting, and even exceeding, our customersʼ inspirations.

In this context, the IT Department has begun a comprehensive development of its structure, 
starting with strengthening its capabilities by attracting young and skilled national cadres, using 
international technical expertise while ensuring the creation of a working environment that allows for 
the transfer of knowledge and the qualification of second-tier leaders to lead the future process of 
change. We have continued to develop a robust technological infrastructure that keeps pace with 
the expansion of our business activities, provides its current and future requirements, and extends 
the tools to follow the «analysis and response» approach at all stages of the implementation of the 
strategy by building the necessary capacity in the areas of analysis and management of business 
data, to ensure that decisions are based on accurate and up-to-date data, reflect reality and provide 
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a basis for predicting future changes while providing and developing the latest digital solutions 
that help to link infrastructure and user interface quickly and flexibly and enable us to create new 
services and features promptly and effectively and enhance our competitive advantage. In the 
same vein, we have continued to measure the performance of our internal operations to increase 
their effectiveness, shorten the documentary cycle, and rely on a combination of digital solutions. 
In addition, we have developed or upgraded many of our internal systems. We have worked on/or 
implemented several strategic initiatives that have helped significantly increase the satisfaction of 
system users. We have also noticed a significant improvement in internal measured service quality 
through consulting firms. According to the Bankʼs strategic plan, we keep in mind developing our 
operations to reach a stage where we can achieve the operational excellence we aspire to.

In 2021, we have strengthened the role of the Digital Transformation and Innovation Department by 
providing it with more distinguished technical staff to enable it to focus on developing the distinctive 
factors of our business model by creating a centralized multi-channel digital banking service platform 
that manages the interaction of our customer with our services at all points of contact, collects usage 
data and builds on large data and industrial intelligence models, using Smart Banking Solutions to 
provide data that enables us to respond to market changes on the one hand and create a new user 
experience on the other, while leveraging APIs solutions to take advantage of the latest technical 
innovations provided by modern financial services providers around the world.

As investment in innovative digital infrastructure and systems continues, and as digital solutions are 
increasingly required as the pandemic spreads, the need to implement best cybersecurity practices 
has become more necessary, as we strive and fully commit to maintaining the confidentiality of 
the banking information and maintaining our digital and banking assets. The Bank invests heavily 
in information security controls to prevent, detect and react to these threats. We have adopted 
state-of-the-art technologies and talent to combat cyberattacks continually. Furthermore, we have 
strengthened our information security control measures to minimize the threat of sophisticated 
attacks, such as advanced malware, data exfiltration, and denial-of-service attacks. The Bank 
continues to host regular information security awareness campaigns for both customers and the 
Bank’s users. We have also continued to comply with the ISO 27001:2013 Information Security 
Management System (ISMS) without any nonconformity, representing our full commitment to 
upholding robust information security practices. The Bank has also complied with other significant 
standards, such as the Central Bank of Kuwait’s cybersecurity framework, the SWIFT Customer 
Security Program (CSP) 2021, and the latest Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard V.3.2.1.

Furthermore, the Bank is also committed to protecting and preserving our customers’ data in 
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations. This is achieved by ensuring that people, 
processes, and technologies are in place to ensure the appropriate management of customers’ 
privacy. The Bank is also committed to providing full transparency to its customers and relevant 
stakeholders regarding how we collect, process, and manage personal data.

In addition, it is worth mentioning that the Bank has not experienced any data privacy and security 
breaches during 2021. This is in light of the continuous monitoring process that ensures complete 
adherence to the Bank’s policies and procedures. As part of the Bank’s accelerated strategy for 
growth, the Bank has also merged the Anti-Fraud and Privacy units with the Information Security 
unit in a new department named the Information Security, Privacy, and Anti-Fraud Department. This 
organizational change was enacted to significantly converge technical expertise and business 
acumen to enhance the Bank’s control capabilities and effectiveness substantially. Adopting 
such a salient model is an aspiration that exemplifies the ongoing transformation initiatives being 
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executed by top management and the agile change management process to become the Islamic 
bank of choice in Kuwait. We have continued to strengthen our anti-fraud capabilities by investing 
in fraud controls, focusing on the ever-changing fraud landscape, and introducing next-generation 
anti-fraud capabilities to protect our customers and the Bank continually and effectively.

We thoroughly believe that the process of developing and automating systems is not an end 
by itself, nor does it alone enable us to create a truly competitive advantage, as all financial 
and banking institutions develop their systems and strive to keep up with the latest financial 
and banking technologies. Therefore, we have to take strategic initiatives capable of creating 
added value that enables the Bank to provide unique services and products, intersecting with 
our customersʼ modern lifestyles and benefiting from the marketʼs technological revolution. Thus, 
we have worked this year and through the Strategic Planning Unit established in 2021 on a range 
of important strategic initiatives. We have strengthened the role of the Product Development 
Unit with the development of a plan to provide it with the necessary professional staff, to work 
together with the rest of the Bankʼs departments to review the services and products supplied 
to our customers, to ensure that they meet, and even exceed their expectations, in accordance 
with the requirements of the market and the everchanging demands and requirements of the 
customers, all in line with our strategic directives, which aim to establish the Bankʼs position as a 
distinguished provider of digital financial services by providing unique and sophisticated products 
and processes. In addition, the Enterprise PMO Unit has been established to ensure that the 
implementation of our major projects is consistent with the Bankʼs strategic plan and ensure that it 
is implemented effectively and within the strategic frameworks set for each. Change Management 
Unit has also been formed under the Strategic Planning Unit umbrella. This Unit aims to review all 
internal processes, ensure that they are restructured and automated, speed up implementation, 
enhance effectiveness and ensure that they are consistent with the strategic plan, in accordance 
with the Bankʼs policies and procedures. The appointment of qualified national cadres is under 
way to enable this unit to implement its role soon.

The Economic Research Unit also continued to study the rapid economic developments witnessed 
by the global economy and its forecasted effects on the local economy, providing updated reports 
and economic databases to support the Bankʼs various departments and the Executive Management 
in the decision-making process. In addition, the Economic Research Unit was also keen to prepare 
and publish a series of specialized periodic reports monitoring changes in specific markets and 
demonstrating their impact on the Bankʼs operational environment, not to mention coordinating the 
Bankʼs annual report as presented to your hands.

The Financial Control & Planning (FCP) Department ensures accurate and timely recording of 
the Bank’s accounting entries in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted by the Central Bank of Kuwait. Furthermore, FCP provides innovative analysis and reports 
to top management. Dashboards and reports were further enhanced, and new reports were added 
during the year. This has served as an important tool for measuring the performance enabling the 
Bank to achieve the strategic objectives set by the Board of Directors. Planning meetings were 
organized during the year to prepare the next year’s budget in line with the strategic direction. 
KIB was proactive in finalizing and delivering the approved periodic financial statements during 
the year. In addition, the Bank ensures that the internal financial policies, which are in accordance 
with the principles of Islamic Shari’a as approved by the Bank’s Shari’a Supervisory Board, are 
followed strictly. FCP follows a zero-tolerance approach to ensure compliance with all instructions 
and guidelines issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait and other regulatory bodies. FCP also ensures 
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that all data requirements from external ratings agencies and analysts are provided in due course. 
FCP completed digitization of the majority of payment processing handled by the department 
eliminating paper-based manual documentation during 2021.

Investor Relations Unit organized quarterly/annual global investor calls and actively participated 
in various conferences enhancing the international profile of KIB, being listed in the Premier Index 
of Boursa Kuwait in 2021. In addition, remote access and paperless transaction processing were 
continued during the year. FCP will focus on further process improvements, latest technology 
acquisition, and enhanced system integration in the coming year.

In a related context, and as part of our relentless efforts to provide skilled national cadres capable 
of managing the process of change within the framework of our strategic plan, the focus of the 
Human Resources Department (HRD) through 2021 was to identify national competencies within 
the Bankʼs staff and to develop the necessary programs and plans to prepare second-tier leaders 
and to localize more leadership positions in the future. HRD has also coordinated with several 
departments that have automated their operations to relate employee performance to measurable 
outputs, enhancing productivity levels and helping to identify outstanding competencies within the 
various departments of the Bank. HRD activities also included the development of initiatives aimed 
at measuring employee satisfaction through a range of questionnaires to gather their opinions and 
suggestions, including our participation in the «Great Place to Work» survey, which aims to develop 
a better understanding of employeesʼ stimulating conditions and environment, to increase their 
productivity and level of job satisfaction, and to enhance employee retention levels and increases 
the Bankʼs ability to attract new talents. This year, we have developed a welcome program for new 
employees and updated the employee manual to facilitate the onboarding process and the new 
employeeʼs integration within the Bank. This year also witnessed the launch of the Digital Human 
Resources Management System program as one of the strategic initiatives aiming at digitizing all 
the Bankʼs systems and operations.

The Legal Department has continued to provide innovative solutions to meet the needs of the 
business and assist in the decision-making process, thus reducing the legal risks associated with 
the Bank`s activities and business, as well as the departmentʼs role in representing the Bank in the 
judicial disputes. Legal Department is ultimately keen on recruiting, training, and qualifying legal 
national manpower, all in agreement with the Bank’s strategy and objectives.

In compliance with the Central Bank of Kuwait regulations and decisions, and to enhance customer 
satisfaction, the Customer Complaint Unit has pursued receiving all customer complaints and 
independently resolving them in coordination with the concerned department. These measures 
have been carried out by investigating and studying the reasons for the complaint and carrying out 
corrective and remedial actions, if required, to avoid the recurrence of such complaints, satisfy the 
Bank’s customers, and fulfill their needs. The Bank also ensued through the Customer Complaints 
Unit during 2021, and in coordination with the Bank’s departments to ensure that the instructions 
of the Customer Protection Manual are implemented by setting the necessary mechanisms and 
recommendations for implementing these regulations and presenting an annual report to the Board 
of Directors reflecting the extent of the Bank’s compliance with these regulations of the Manual. 
In addition, the Executive Management of KIB has always been keen on protecting customers’ 
interests by laying down adequate mechanisms to deal with customers’ complaints, in compliance 
with CBK instructions related to customer protection and meeting the requirements of all customer 
segments, particularly customers with special needs.
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Under the exceptional circumstances of the pandemic, KIB’s Corporate Communications Unit 
continued to promptly respond to the changes imposed by the pandemic, successfully developing 
an integrated plan for internal communication among departments with the utmost efficiency, as 
well as with the public and stakeholders through appropriate channels of communication, such as 
press releases, reports and social media brochures, which have helped keep them acquainted with 
all the Bankʼs developments and activities. In addition, the Unit also worked to highlight the most 
significant achievements of the Bank, raise awareness of the Bank’s status and services, and work 
to enhance confidence between the Bank and its customers, adopting the principle of transparency 
to ensure the development of the concept of communication with the public via modern media and 
media content that keeps pace with the lifestyle of the customers and rises to their aspirations.

Compliance, Disclosure and Transparency Activities
The Regulatory Compliance Department has continued practicing its role to ensure that the Bank’s 
internal controls and policies fully comply with the requirements of regulatory bodies, top of which is 
the Central Bank of Kuwait. This shall warrant the Bank’s reputation and integrity before all regulatory 
bodies, customers, and shareholders. The Department also sets sound governance methods agreeable 
with the regulatory instructions and legislations, ensuring full conformity with such governance rules 
and regulations. The Department has also played a liaison role in linking regulatory entities with the 
Bank’s departments and units to ensure the Bank businesses’ compliance with regulatory controls 
and approved sound professional practices and avoid non-compliance risks.

To this end, and in fulfillment of its assigned roles and responsibilities, the Department has relentlessly 
extended expert opinion and advice to the Bank’s departments and units concerning compliance 
rules and regulations. Additionally, the division has actively participated in raising staff’s regulatory 
awareness. The division has also ensured adequate preparation, completeness, and on-time delivery 
of regulatory reports.

In addition, it has published awareness materials for the staff to ensure adequate implementation 
of regulations and coordination among the Banks departments and units to align the applicable 
policies and procedures manuals with the regulatory requirements. The Department has also 
presented periodic reports to the Bank’s Executive Management, reflecting compliance with 
regulatory controls and instructions and emphasizing staff compliance awareness. Furthermore, 
KIB continuously seeks to enhance the supervisory role of the Regulatory Compliance Department, 
which monitors the activities of the various departments and units of the Bank to ensure their 
compliance and understanding of the regulatory legislation issued by the regulatory authorities.

Owing to the Bank’s keenness to comply with all disclosure requirements issued by the Central Bank 
of Kuwait, Capital Markets Authority, and Boursa Kuwait, and to ensure the complete application 
of such regulations per the governing rules and regulations, the Bank, through the Disclosure and 
Transparency Unit, publishes all material information pertinent to the Bank. The Unit also ensures 
that all matters disclosed to Capital Markets Authority and Boursa Kuwait are published as per 
their required forms accurately, clearly, and on time to help shareholders and investors make 
sound decisions and invest their funds appropriately. In addition, the Unit has continued to utilize 
the electronic disclosure system of Kuwait Boursa’s listed companies. This matter has contributed 
significantly to speeding up the Bank’s disclosure process on the Boursa Kuwait website.

The Bank ensured full compliance with regulatory laws and instructions concerning Anti Money 
Laundering, Countering Financing Terrorism (AML/CFT), and tax compliance (FATCA – CRS). At the 



65

same time, KIB is keen to provide its staff with the necessary training courses and guidance. In 
addition, independent Audits and various tests have been carried out to ensure the Bank’s compliance 
officer and staff have been carrying out their duties and responsibilities in line with the Bank’s policies 
and procedures concerning Anti Money Laundering, and Countering Financing Terrorism, and tax 
compliance. The Bank is also keen to submit the required reports concerning foreign accounts and 
tax compliance on time every year. It is also worth mentioning that our Bank has updated its AML/
CFT policies and procedures to align with the requirements made by regulators. Furthermore, the 
department ensures that the strategic initiatives are in line with the regulatory requirements.

Risk Management Activities
Risk Strategy
The Bank’s Risk Management Strategy, as approved by the Board of Directors, is to maintain a 
balance between sustained growth in the market segments where the Bank operates and managing 
risks associated with the business environments and risk-taking through appropriate control of risk 
appetite, risk tolerance levels and limits, risk-adjusted returns, risk mitigates and collaterals, with 
tools to conduct appropriate due diligence and apply risk measurements techniques that take into 
consideration the Central Bank of Kuwait applicable regulations, industry-accepted best practices 
on risk management, Islamic Shariʼa  principles, updated market intelligence and cognizance of 
emerging macroeconomic factors.

Risk Management Independence
The Risk Management Department (RMD) of the Bank works under the guidance of the Board Risk 
Management Committee (BRMC). It is headed by the Chief Risk Officer (General Manager of Risk 
Management), tasked with the responsibility of providing oversight on all risk types in the Bank. RMD 
continues to strive for improvement and enhancement of the Risk Management framework in the 
Bank through use of updated tools and techniques to evaluate, regulate and control risks involved in 
the day-to-day activities of the banking process. The use of risk-adjusted return based approach for 
optimizing the use of capital and optimizing the profitability is one of the major steps adopted for meeting 
the stated objectives. The liquidity measures of LCR and NSFR are used extensively for monitoring 
and decision-making on all market and liquidity risks related matters. The Bank has implemented 
IFRS 9 models for estimating ECL charges as per international practices and as guidelines provided 
by the Central Bank of Kuwait (CBK). In addition, an annual review of the Risk Appetite Limits and 
Risk Tolerance measures, including Stress Testing scenarios, Credit Rating validations, Capital 
Planning, etc., are conducted periodically and are in line with regulatory requirements and industry 
best-practice. Bank’s Risk Management Department is primarily responsible for the management of 
all risks in the Bank, while risk-taking is the responsibility of the Business lines. 

The Risk Management Department manages all risks arising from the use of financial instruments 
e.g., credit, and liquidity, market encompassing foreign exchange, profit rate, equity risks, 
and operational risks. In accordance with the Central Bank of Kuwait guidelines on corporate 
governance, the Risk Management Department is an independent department headed by General 
Manager as the Chief Risk Officer (CRO) and is supported by an experienced and qualified team 
of risk managers and risk officers and analysts. Chief Risk Officer is independent of Executive 
Management and has a direct reporting line to the Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC) 
who is mandated by the Board of Directors to maintain a robust risk culture across the entire 
organization.
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Credit Risk Review
Credit Risk Review function within RMD analyzes credit proposals submitted by business units and 
provides a structured opinion for the credit approving committees as part of the credit approval 
process and in line with overall prudential norms and guidelines set up by the Board of Directors. 
This function is entrusted to review credit proposals and to highlight the associated credit risk factors 
in line with the applicable policies and standards in the Bank and as per Credit Risk Management 
Policy/Central Bank of Kuwait guidelines or other requirements for managing credit risk. 

Credit Risk Control (Pre-Fact) is entrusted with the responsibility of executing the administration 
process of the credit, ensuring that the proposals adhere to the compliance with appropriate legal, 
regulatory, and Bank policies and procedures before submitting them to the approving authorities. 
Upon approval, the Credit Risk Control (Post-Fact) is responsible to verify that the implementation 
of the approved Credit by the other Administration Departments of the Bank are in-line with the 
credit conditions and procedures of the Bank. Credit Risk Control also monitors the requirement of 
provisions for delinquent exposures and potential problem credits, to meet the requirements of the 
Central Bank of Kuwait and in accordance with accounting standards.

Appropriate limits structure are in place to control and monitor sector and name concentration 
in credit risk. The Bank also has a process of monitoring and controlling cross-border exposure 
through the process of Country and Bank/FI limits, which are approved at least annually by BRMC. 
In order to control and monitor the impact of the economic downturn likely to arise from the COVID19 
pandemic, the credit risk function conducted a stress/vulnerability exercise to assess any impact 
on the credit portfolio so as to guide the business lines as an early warning effort to undertake 
appropriate proactive actions for risk control on credit management.

Market & Liquidity Risk
Market & Liquidity Risk function under RMD monitors liquidity risks, market risks, and profit rate risk 
on a regular basis. Internal precautionary measures of risk are in place for managing the liquidity, 
market and profit rate risks of the Bank. Assets Liability Management Committee (ALCO) periodically 
reviews the stress testing of the profit rate and liquidity risk. ALCO is provided with reports and 
analysis by RMD on a regular basis and for adhoc scenarios as and when warranted. This function  
monitors the above risks on a daily, and monthly basis based on the various quantitative limits 
and trend analysis. Enhanced monitoring and regulatory reporting were put in place in light of the 
economic situation arising from the COVID19 pandemic.

Operational Risk
Operational Risk function ensures that all departments of the Bank adhere to policies and procedures 
in their operations and endeavors to identify, assess, control and monitor operational risk as part of 
overall risk management. Assessments of operational risk and controls are conducted across the 
Bank through Risk Control Self Assessments (RCSA) by various departments under the guidance 
of RMD. Proactive control mechanisms have been conducted through well-established process 
for procedure and policy reviews. Losses and other related events are monitored, and appropriate 
mitigation and recommendations are provided on regular basis. The Bank’s business and support 
departments have a primary responsibility for identifying, assessing and managing their operational 
risks. They employ Internal control techniques to reduce their likelihood or impact to tolerable 
levels within the Bank’s risk appetite. Risk Management assigns vulnerability and impact levels 
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to activities and monitors the high and medium risk activities with medium to high impact through 
the Key Risk Indicators (KRIs) framework. Operational Risk also verifies any deficiencies observed 
during internal or external audits, in order to put relevant controls in place to avoid any operational 
deficiency that could lead to losses or lead to reputation risk.

Business Continuity Management
Business Continuity Management (BCM) under Risk Management addresses the risks inherent with 
unexpected business interruptions and the BCM system is designed, implemented and maintained 
to provide a rigorous mechanism to ensure that its infrastructure and procedures are capable 
to withstand and manage business disruptions as defined by its Business Continuity Steering 
Committee. Technical, functional and simulation exercises are undertaken continuously to test 
the preparedness. The Bank was awarded the International Organization for Standardization, ISO 
22301:2012 Certificate for “Business Continuity Management System” since 2013. KIB’s success 
in having the ISO 22301:2012 Certificate awarded to it is an evidence that the Bank operates a 
robust BCM framework with required system in all its activities along with the advanced processes 
applied by the Bank. KIB is the first bank in Kuwait to have obtained ISO 22301 certificate by BSI 
(British Standards Institute) in addition to being the first bank to undergo a successful independent 
assessment while demonstrating compliance with global standards with a clear demonstration of 
risk leadership and risk awareness across the entire organization.

Business Continuity Management which is also responsible for Crisis Management, during the 
COVID19 disruption ensured that the business continues normally without any disruptions in Head 
office and branches all through the pandemic including the time when the country was under 
mandatory lock-down by the government authorities. Head Office and branches were continuing 
to serve customers as near-normal with the highest safety measure taken such as implementing 
social distancing, limited number of customers in the branch and thermal scanning at all entrances. 
Protocols were initiated for working from home, infectious diseases guidelines were agreed, and 
during return to work protocol adequate measures were put in place to avoid negative impact on 
Bank’s employees, its customers and its assets.

Enterprise Risk Management
Enterprise Risk is managed under RMD and the ERM function is involved in overall quantitative 
risk management strategy and risk infrastructure of the Bank. ERM provides overview of the risks 
the Bank is exposed to and has the responsibility of monitoring the Risk Strategy, Appetite and 
Tolerance levels. ERM leads IFRS9 ECL modeling and estimations and enhancement of overall 
credit rating and risk management framework. ERM is responsible for the Pillar 2 assessment 
(ICAAP) and Stress Testing, expected credit loss (ECL) regulatory reporting. ERM assesses the 
requirements in order to meeting sophistication of risk management techniques so as to roll-out 
additional tools and methodologies required for monitoring and reporting of risks. The ICAAP and 
Stress-Testing of the Capital is undertaken on a periodic basis for the information of the Board 
of Directors through the Board Risk Management Committee and for regulatory reporting to the 
Central Bank of Kuwait. At the onset of COVID19 pandemic and through-out time, assessment of 
risk vulnerability to the asset quality, liquidity and capital was carried out with multiple scenarios 
and RMD provided guidance to the management or actions and measures required to control the 
impact on Bank’s capital adequacy, liquidity and solvency. 
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Corporate Governance Framework     
KIB believes that ethical values are the best tools to achieve the highest standards of corporate 
governance in accordance with instructions issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait on governance 
rules and controls and seeks to achieve excellence in corporate governance where it adopts 
transparency by offering innovative banking products governed by the principles and provisions of 
Islamic Shariʼa . KIB performs to be the Islamic bank of choice in Kuwait while enhancing customer 
confidence and complying with regulatory requirements.

KIB adheres to the rules of sound governance, which stipulates the distribution of functions, 
responsibilities, and rights among stakeholders within the Bank (Board of Directors, Executive 
Management, Shareholders, Stakeholders, Departments, and Regulators). Accordingly, KIB cares 
for the necessary controls and actions that the Board of Directors, its committees, and the Executive 
Management shall follow in developing the objectives and the strategy to achieve them while 
monitoring performance and guiding the Executive Management. KIB also considers the commitment 
toward shareholders and the protection of depositors’ and stakeholders’ rights while ensuring that 
the Bankʼs operations are carried out safely and prudently and within the framework of the applicable 
laws and controls and applying the standards and principles of disclosure and transparency. 

Two independent board members joined KIB in compliance with the instructions of the Central 
Bank of Kuwait issued in September 2019 to ensure the independence of the decision of KIB’s 
Board of Directors. This is in addition to the clear understanding of members of their role in terms 
of governance and the ability to make sound and objective decisions on the Bankʼs operations.  

Governance Manual Applications for KIB 
The Governance applications have come to conform to KIB�s strategy of developing customer 
banking services and protecting stakeholders through the Governance Manual, which contains nine 
pillars reflecting the instructions of the Central Bank of Kuwait. These pillars incorporate the Board of 
Directors, Executive Management, the Bank’s behavioral values (ethics), the rules governing related 
parties’ transactions and conflict of interest, and internal controls. It also tackles full recognition 
of the operational structure of the Bank’s businesses, resultant risks and the prominent role of the 
Risk Management Department in this respect, and compliance governance and cybersecurity risk 
and information security. In addition, the pillars confirm the sound application of disclosure and 
transparency principles, remunerations policies and systems, and protection of stakeholdersʼ and 
shareholdersʼ rights. Therefore, the Board of Directors emphasizes full compliance and application of 
the aforesaid pillars as indicated in the content of the Bank’s annual report, in addition to the following:

The Board’s Overall Responsibility 
The Board of Directors provides guidance, supervises the Bankʼs activities, and works to 
establish sound governance principles throughout the Bank. The Board of Directors has set the 
strategic objectives of the Bank, risk strategy, and governance guidelines, whereby it oversees 
the performance of the Executive Management. The Board also approves the internal controls, 
ensures the effectiveness thereof, and oversees the Bank’s departmentsʼ compliance with the 
strategic plan and the approved policies, as required by laws and regulations and by virtue of the 
Central Bank of Kuwait and regulatory authorities’ instructions aiming at consolidating the principle 
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of the independence of the members of the Board of Directors, which is one of the basics for 
practicing sound governance. In addition to developing the concept of public trust in the Bankʼs 
management, the Board reviews the integrity of related parties’ transactions. It ensures that all the 
Bank’s risks are soundly managed. The ultimate responsibility in determining risk appetite and 
effective risk management rests with the Board of Directors.

Code of Conduct (Behavioral Values) 
The Board of Directors applies governance policies and establishes a culture of governance 
and adopts a charter of rules and code of conduct and ethics, defines appropriate governance 
practices for its own work, and has in place the means to ensure that such practices are followed 
and periodically reviewed for ongoing improvement. The Board takes the lead in establishing the 
“tone at the top” and in setting professional standards and corporate values that promote integrity 
for the Bank, Senior Management, and staff members.

Sound governance practices have been revised in line with the standards governing the 
professional behavior of the Bank’s stakeholders, whereby a code of conduct and ethics was 
laid down, including a clear definition of conflict of interest. In addition, the code of conduct and 
ethics and the whistleblowing policy have been circulated to all Bank staff and Board members for 
signature, acknowledging the content thereof.

In this context, KIB constantly provides the necessary support to all regulatory roles within the 
Bank, intending to secure efficiency and sufficiency of all operations by defining such roles and 
determining their reporting lines within the organizational structure, and by verifying the adequacy 
of internal controls pertinent to related parties transactions and to ensure that all operations are in 
line with relevant approved polices, while protecting the Bank’s reputation. Furthermore, the Bank 
has policies and procedures governing the credit facilities extended to Board members and related 
parties, all in line with the regulatory rules and instructions, to ensure no preferential treatment for 
Board members, such as disallowing them from attending any meetings that, directly or indirectly, 
discuss or vote for any facilities extended to them personally. Furthermore, the Instructions that 
may carry a conflict of interest must be presented and adopted by the Board of Directors, and the 
annual financial report shall contain such clarifications. 

In addition, the stakeholders of KIB have always been keen on applying the professional code of 
conduct concerning utilizing internal information about the Bank’s position for personal interests. 
This applies to all Board members and staff.

The Executive Management of KIB has always been keen on protecting customers’ interests by 
laying down adequate mechanisms and policies to deal with customers’ complaints, in compliance 
with CBK instructions related to customer protection and meeting the requirements of all customer 
segments, particularly customers with special needs, as KIB has always been keen to overcome 
all obstacles and to avail the banking and financial services for them.

Conflict of Interest 
The Bank has clear formal, written, comprehensive Conflict of Interests Policies related to the 
matters and possibilities applicable to the board, the executive management, and the Bank’s staff.
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Banking Confidentiality
In accordance with Law No. 32 of 1968 on Currency, the Central Bank of Kuwait, and the Regulation 
of Banking Profession, on Banking Confidentiality, banking confidentiality is considered the highest 
priority of the banking business. It is deemed a cornerstone of its business and dealings with its 
customers. The Bank’s policies on keeping the confidentiality of banking business stipulate the 
following:

• Board members and the Bank’s staff must keep the banking confidentiality of the Bank and its 
clientsʼ information and data and the clients of other banks to which they have access while 
performing their duties.

• Non-disclosure of the Bank’s or its clients’ information and data unless by the authorized 
persons and to the extent permitted by the Bank’s internal rules, regulations and policies.

• Maintaining the security of information of the Bank and its clients and setting the regulatory 
controls to prevent access to the same by anyone save for the authorized persons. Thus, the 
Bank’s Board of Directors shall be responsible, via Disclosure Policy Manual, for laying down 
the control systems to restrict access to information and data only by the authorized persons 
and shall ensure that the control systems would prevent leakage of any banking information in 
breach of banking confidentiality, via Information Security, Privacy & Anti-Fraud Department 
at KIB. 

• The Board and Senior Management shall recognize their responsibility for developing security 
awareness in the Bank in a way that enhances and maintains banking confidentiality.

• The significance of not exploiting any information about the Bank’s status which might be made 
available to a Board member or any of the Bank’s staff for serving personal or other related 
parties’ interests ought to be secured and complied with, even after the end or termination of 
their services for the Bank.

• The Bank’s internal audit department function shall monitor the implementation of such policies.

Related Parties
KIB ensures that all transactions with related parties are conducted on an equal basis and are 
subject to the terms and conditions without any preferential terms. The Bank has a written policy 
for related party transactions, including the rules and procedures regulating operations with 
related parties. The Bank keeps records of all related party transactions which are subject to an 
appropriate audit. The Bank keeps updated records of these parties to control any transaction 
with them. All related party transactions are regularly disclosed in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) applicable to this effect.
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Operation Organizational Structure 
Through the organizational structure, the Board of Directors has always been keen to monitor the 
material risks and issues that influence the Bank and its subsidiaries and that sound, effective 
measures and systems are in place for obtaining the required information from the Bank and its 
subsidiaries. Accordingly, an operation organizational structure has been established to mitigate 
the potential risks affecting this structure to avoid unnecessary sophisticated structures. Such 
structures shall be regularly reviewed to ensure their suitability and equality.  

Protection of Shareholders’ Rights 
KIB has always been keen on protecting the shareholdersʼ rights and treating them equally. The 
shareholders should have the right to review and participate in the decisions related to amending 
the Bank’s Articles of Association and the decisions that might affect the Bank’s future or activity. 
The Bank provides all the information required for shareholders on time and by appropriate means 
to help them perfectly practice their rights. The Bank’s procedures and policies, including KIB’s 
articles of association, also reflect the content of laws, regulations, and instructions issued by the 
supervisory and regulatory authorities in this regard. 

Protection of Stakeholders’ Rights
The Bank has always been keen to protect the stakeholders; rights. A stakeholder is defined as any 
person or entity that has a relationship with the Bank (shareholders, depositors, Bank employees, 
creditors, suppliers, and society). Stakeholders have a vivid and vital role in the success of the Bank. 
In accordance with Law No. 32 of 1968 concerning currency, the Central Bank of Kuwait, and the 
regulation of banking business, the Bank has always been keen on protecting stakeholdersʼ rights. 
The Board understands that the success of the Bank is finally achieved by collaborated efforts of 
different parties involved, including depositors, debtors, and staff. The Bank’s policies and practices 
confirm the importance of respecting the rights of stakeholders in line with the relevant bylaws, rules, 
and regulations.
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KIB Organization Structure

* Internal Shari,a Audit report to Board Audit Committee & Shari,a Supervisory Board.

* Risk Management, AML/CFT & Tax Compliance (FATCA/CRS), and Regulatory Compliance
   report to Board Risk Management Committee.
* Information Security, Privacy and Anti Fraud raised their reports to Board Risk Management Committee.

* Corporate Governance reports to Board Corporate Governance Committee.

* Internal Audit report to Board Audit Committee.

* External Audistors reports to Board Audit Committee and Shareholder Assembly.

* External Shari,a auditor submits his report to the General Assembly, with a copy of the report submitted to the Shari,a Supervisory Board.  
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KIB Governance Structure

Board of Directors

Board of Directors 
The Board is fully responsible for the Bank and for overseeing the performance of the Executive 
Management, including the granting of approvals, supervision, monitoring the implementation of the 
strategic objectives of the Bank, risk strategy, compliance governance, and cybersecurity, and the 
succession plans, and ensuring the implementation of sound governance standards.

The Board of Directors consists of eight non-executive members, one executive member, and two 
independent board members. All are elected by the General Assembly. Election or renewal of 
membership takes place every three years during the Shareholders’ General Assembly meeting in 
accordance with applicable rules and regulations issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait and other 
regulatory bodies. The Board of Directors shall perform its duties through its committees and be 
responsible for setting all policies and making decisions. The Board shall also ensure appropriate 
strategy implementation and have an adequate number of members to form the committees in 
compliance with sound governance regulations.

The Board is also responsible for all the Bank’s operations, financial soundness, compliance with 
the Central Bank of Kuwait’s regulations, and maintaining the interests of shareholders, depositors, 
creditors, staff, and other stakeholders. The Board shall also ensure that the Bank’s administrative 
work is appropriately carried out and in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations and in 
line with the Bank’s internal policies and procedures. 

The number of Board meetings should not be less than six meetings during the year, provided that the 
quorum is met by not less than half of the board members. 
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Board of Directors and its Committees’ Meetings  
During 2021, the General Assembly Meeting was held on 06/05/2021. The Board of Directors approved 
the formation of Board committees to enhance effective supervision and control of the Bank’s processes 
and activities and ensure the application of best practices. The following table shows the attendees of 
Board and Board committee meetings:

Total Number of Meetings
Held in 2021
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13 24 10 7 2 7
The minimum number of meetings 6 12 4 2 2 4
Names of the Board of Directors 
Members Number of meetings attended by the Board Members

Sheikh Mohammed Jarrah Al-Sabah 11 19 - - 2 -

Mr. Raed Jawad Bukhamseen 11 - - - - -

Dr. Haider Hassan Al-Jumaa 12 - 9 3/3 - -

Mr. Anwar Jawad Bukhamseen 12 22 - 7 2 3/3
Mr. Jassem Hassan Zainal 12 23 - - 1/1 7
*Dr. Abdullah Abdul Samad Marafi 8 15 - 4 - 4
Mr. Saleh Sulaiman Al Trad 13 - 10 7 2 -

Mr. Marzook Khaled Yousef Al Marzook 13 - 10 - - -

Mr. Anwar Fozan Abdullah Al Sabej 11 - - - - 4
*Mr. Ahmed Abdulmohsen Al Melaifi 8 - 5 - 1 -

*Dr. Reyadh Yousef Faras 8 - - 4 - 4

• Dr. Abdullah Abdul Samad Marafi joined KIB’s board of directors as a complementary member in the general assembly meeting convened on 06/05/2021. 
• Dr. Reyadh Yousef Faras and Mr. Ahmed Abdulmohsen Al Melaifi have joined the board as independent members for KIB in the general assembly 

meeting convened on 06/05/2021.

Members of the Board assumed their steering duties, held their responsibilities during the meetings 
to manage the Bank’s various activities, and worked to ensure optimum utilization of the human and 
financial resources of the Bank. The Board convened 13 meetings during 2021, while the Bank’s 
Articles of Association stipulate for convening at least six meetings per annum. The Board rendered 
135 decisions during the year and 11 decisions taken by circulation. The following is the formation of 
the committees and most significant accomplishments in 2021.

Board Strategy, Financing & Investment Committee (BSFIC)
The role of BSFIC is to safeguard and protect the Bank’s asset quality, ensure that exposures to finance and 
investment risks match with the rules and regulations issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait and the Bank’s 
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applicable policies and that finance transactions ensure the highest returns and do not have adverse 
impacts on the financial stability of the Bank. The Committee also ensures that the Executive Management 
is fully aware of the exposures to finance and investment risks in the Bank, continuously monitor such 
exposures and the non-performing finance and investment transactions and takes all remedial actions 
necessary to maintain the Bankʼs interests and the quality of its assets. In addition, the committee reviews 
and approves the strategic plan to develop the Bank’s strategy in the long run according to the Central 
Bank of Kuwait’s instructions. Furthermore, it mandates corrective actions concerning pending issues that 
are not the responsibility of any other board-level committee. The committee shall also sort out any non-
performing financing/investments referred by the Board of Directors. The Committee shall take decisions 
within the authority delegated to it by the Board and make recommendations to the Board of Directors on 
issues beyond its authority.  .  

The Committee is composed of the following members: 

1. Sheikh Mohammed Jarrah Al-Sabah Chairman

2. Mr. Anwar Jawad Bukhamseen Vice Chairman

3. *Dr. Abdullah Abdul Samad Marafi Member

4. Mr. Jassem Hassan Zainal Member

The Board Strategy, Finance & Investment Committee convened 24 meetings in 2021 and adopted 222 
decisions and seven decisions by circulation taken during the year.

Most significant accomplishments by the Committee in 2021   
• Review and approve the recommendations of FIC (Executive Management) concerning financing and 

investment proposals.

Changes in Committee membership during the year 2021  

* Dr. Abdullah Abdul Samad Marafi has joined the committee on 06/05/2021 and attended his first meeting 
with the committee on 23/05/2021.

Board Audit Committee
The duties of the Board Audit Committee are signified in setting the appropriate standards to ensure 
the application of internal audit to help the Board to fulfill its supervisory responsibilities over regulatory 
controls, by providing a larger scale of support and securing complete independence from the Executive 
Management and by realizing that the external audit functions are performed in line with the approach 
that realizes the dual audit principle. The Committee also ensures compliance with the Bank’s internal 
policies and other pertinent laws, regulations, and instructions. The Committee also monitors the level of 
compliance with the Islamic Shari’a laws and principles and the funds for listed investment accounts. It 
ensures that expenses and profits are distributed according to the Islamic Shari’a provisions and system 
approved by Shari’a Supervisory Board. The Committee also evaluates the effectiveness and efficiency 
of the internal Shari’a audit and its contribution to securing compliance with the Islamic Shari’a provisions 
and principles. The Committee also ensures that the internal control systems related to financial and 
management issues are characterized by financial comprehensiveness and are controlled and audited 
in due course. The Committee also assists the Board of Directors in reviewing the financial reports, 
ensuring the Bank’s compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements, ensuring the adequacy of 
qualifications and expertise of independent auditors, and creating an environment of disciplines and 
internal controls in the Bank.  
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The Committee is composed of the following members: 

1. *Mr. Ahmed Abdulmohsen Al Melaifi Charirman 

2. Dr. Haider Hassan Al-Jumaa  Vice Chairman 

3. Mr. Saleh Sulaiman Al Trad  Member  

4. Mr. Marzook Khaled Yousef Al Marzook Member

In 2021, the Committee convened ten meetings and adopted 19 decisions. In addition to seven decisions 
by circulation during the year.

Most significant accomplishments by the Committee in 2021 
• Approve the quarterly financial statements for 2020/ 2021. 

• Discuss all regulatory reports. 

• Renew contract with Protiviti (Faisal Al Sager) to audit all consumer and installment financing cases 
for the year 2021. 

• Review KPMG Audit Bureau’s accounting and other records report, plus the internal control systems 
for the year ending 31 December 2020 (ICR). 

• Discuss the updated methodology for auditing over branches and the parameters for appraising 
branches’ performance. 

• Approve the Internal Shari’a Audit Department’s plan for 2021, and update the Shari’a Supervisory 
Board Charter. 

• Approve the proposed organizational chart for Internal Shari’a Audit Department. 

Changes in Committee membership during the year 2021  
* Mr. Ahmed Abdulmohsen Al Melaifi, an independent board member, has joined the committee on 

06 / 05 / 2021. And attended his first meeting with the committee on 02 / 06 / 2021 .

Board Nomination & Remuneration Committee   
The role of this Committee is to submit the recommendations to the Board of Directors concerning 
the candidates to the Board in accordance with the approved policies, standards, and instructions 
issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait with regard to controls of nomination to the membership of the 
Board. The Committee also monitors and ensures transparency in appointing the members of the 
Shari’a Supervisory Board members and estimates its effectiveness as a whole and on an individual 
basis. The Committee also warrants placement of transparent policies, rewards, and compensations 
for Shari’a Supervisory Board in line with their duties and responsibilities. The Committee also carries 
out periodic reviews of the requirements of the appropriate skills for the membership of the Board 
and prepares descriptions of qualifications and efficiencies required for the boardʼs membership 
tailored to the Bankʼs business interest. The Committee also conducts an annual assessment of the 
performance of the Board as a whole and the performance of each member independently, as well as 
checking and endorsement of the standards of selection and measures for appointment of the Chief 
Executive Officer and the Deputy Chief Executive Officer and executive managers. This Committee 
also works to ensure the setup and application of the remuneration framework, reviews and submits 
the recommendations concerning the matters relevant to the changes in the pay and remuneration 
policy, including the end-of-service policies.
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The Committee is composed of the following members:
1. *Dr. Reyadh Yousef Faras Chairman 

2. Mr. Anwar Jawad Bukhamseen Vice Chairman

3. Mr. Saleh Sulaiman Al Trad  Member

4. *Dr. Abdullah Abdul Samad Marafi  Member

In 2021, the Committee convened seven meetings and adopted 53 decisions and ten decisions by 
circulation during the year 2021.

Most significant accomplishments by the Committee in 2021  
• Approve the organizational structure of the Bank and the corporate governance structure.

• Approve the amendments made to the organizational structure of certain departments of the bank. 

• Approve the amendments made to the employee performance appraisal form. 

• Approve the Workplan for vacant executive posts. 

• Approve the plan for increasing Kuwaitization (nationalization).  

Changes in Committee membership during the year 2021. 
Dr. Reyadh Yousef Faras, an independent member, and Dr. Abdullah Abdul Samad Marafi joined the 
committee. And attended their first meeting with the committee on 10/06/2021. Dr. Haider Hassan 
Al-Jumaa is no longer a committee member, effective from 06/05/2021.

Board Risk Management Committee  
The Committee helps the board fulfill its responsibilities by overseeing the tasks of the Risk Management 
Department in the Bank and ensuring that the Bank’s policies embody sound risk management 
practices and implementation thereof. The Committee also monitors the Risk Management Department’s 
compliance with the standards set by the Central Bank of Kuwait and the IFSB, provided, however, that 
they should not conflict with the provisions and principles of Islamic Shari’a and with the regulations 
issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait to this effect. In addition, the Committee conducts revision and 
assessment of the Bank’s capital adequacy and its distribution and the soundness and adequacy of the 
Risk Management Department function. It also ensures that Senior Management is well aware of and 
continually oversees the risks encountered by the Bank, such as credit and real estate risks and the 
pertinent policies and procedures. The committee also warrants the safety of the Bank from cybersecurity 
risks, compliance governance, in accordance with the Central Bank of Kuwait’s instructions.

The Committee is composed of the following members: 
1. *Dr. Reyadh Yousef Faras Chairman

2. Mr. Jassem Hassan Zainal Vice  Chairman                                      

3. *Dr. Abdullah Abdul Samad Marafi Member 

4. Mr. Anwar Fozan Abdullah Al Sabej Member  

In 2021, the Committee convened seven meetings and adopted 26 decisions. In addition to 19 decisions 
by circulation during the year. 
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Most significant accomplishments by the Committee in 2021 
• Follow up on the internal ICAAP and Stress Testing results reports. 

• Approve all the amendments to the Bank’s policies and procedures.

• Discuss Compliance Plan reports.

• Discuss ECL results as per IFRS (9) for Q3 / 2021.

• Discuss the Risk Appetite of the Sukuk Portfolio.

Changes in Committee membership during the year 2021: 
• Mr. Anwar Jawad Bukhamseen is no longer a member of this committee. Dr. Reyadh Yousef Faras 

(Independent Member) and Dr. Abdullah Abdul Samad Marafi joined the committee on 06 / 05 /2021. 
And attended their first meeting with the committee on 29 / 06 /2021.

Board Corporate Governance Committee  
The role played by this Committee is signified in assisting the Board of Directors to assume its oversight 
responsibilities vested in the Board concerning sound corporate governance, including the setup of 
package guidelines of the Bank’s corporate governance and oversight over the implementation of the 
sound corporate governance. The Committee also works on introducing and updating Governance 
Manual for approval by the Board and then uploading it on the Bank’s website, with close supervision 
on the concerned parties mentioned in the Manual and reporting the same to the Board. In addition, the 
Committee may seek external Shari’a advice after obtaining the Board’s approval and coordinating with the 
Shari’a Supervisory Board and Board Audit Committee to ensure compliance with the Shari’a Audit manual.

The Committee is composed of the following members: 
1. Sheikh Mohammed Jarrah Al-Sabah  Chairman 

2. Mr. Anwar Jawad Bukhamseen  Vice Chairman

3. Mr. Ahmed Abdulmohsen Al Melaifi Member 

4. Mr. Saleh Sulaiman Al Trad  Member 

In 2021, the Committee convened two meetings and adopted three decisions. In addition, two decisions 
by circulation during the year. 

Most significant accomplishments by the Committee in 2021 
• Review the implementation of the Central Bank of Kuwait’s regulations concerning Shariʼa Supervision 

Governance.

• Discuss Corporate Governance quarterly reports 2020 / 2021. 

• Review the Executive Management’s implementation of the investment strategy adopted for the distribution 
of quarterly profits to depositors. 

• Review Shariʼa Supervision Governance quarterly reports.

Changes in Committee membership during the year 2021
Mr. Jassem Hassan Zainal is no longer a committee member, effective from 06/05/2021. and Mr. Ahmed 
Abdulmohsen Al Melaifi Joined the Committee on 06/05/2021; he attended his first meeting with the 
committee on 16/06/2021. 
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Overview of Executive Management & Its Committees      
The Vice Chairman and CEO, supported by the Deputy CEO and a group of qualified and experienced 
General Managers, Deputies, and Assistant Managers, implements the policies laid down by the Board.

Under the boardʼs supervision, the Executive Management ensures that the Bank’s operations conform with 
work strategy, risk appetite, and the policies approved by the Board. The Board also relies on the Bank’s 
efficient Senior Management to execute the Board decisions without any direct interference by the Board. 

It is also responsible before the Board for monitoring and supervising the Bank’s business, particularly 
with respect to compliance, independence of jobs, and segregation of duties. The Senior Management 
shall regularly provide the Board with financial and administrative reports in complete transparency and 
objectivity. 

Executive Management Committees   
The following are the Executive Management Committees:

• Executive Management Committee (EMC): EMC is responsible for following up on implementing all 
administrative and strategic projects and all matters related to HR, IT, purchases, and administrative 
affairs. As subordinates to this Committee, the following committees were offshoots; Branches 
committee, Product Development Committee and Technical Projects Committee.  

• Financing & Investment Committee (FIC): The Financing & Investment Committee is responsible 
for reviewing and approving proposals for Financing & investments within the authority delegated 
to it in line with the approved delegation of authority, recommending new financing or investment 
proposals to the BSFIC or the BOD, on all proposals that are beyond its delegated authority; 
reviewing and, if thought fit, recommending any proposal for sale, buyouts, mergers, acquisition or 
liquidation of existing financial or direct investments to BSFIC; presenting to BSFIC, for its review 
those investment proposals approved by the Investment Committee, reviewing the Bank’s investment 
portfolio periodically, including but not limited to, adherence to limits, and recommending appropriate 
corrective actions to the BSFIC, and evaluating investment key performance metrics based on a 
comparison of actual returns, and with such other benchmarks. FIC is also responsible for reviewing 
and approving proposals for legal actions and/or any other action plan on problematic financing 
within its delegated authority and making suitable recommendations to BSFIC.

• Provisions & Impairments Committee: The Committee is entrusted with analyzing and assessing risk 
exposures to the approved credit facilities and investments to make the required provisions in compliance 
with Central Bank of Kuwait requirements and IFRS. The Committee also prepares the reports to be 
presented later on to the Board of Directors and its Committees to take appropriate decisions thereupon. 

• Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO): The Committee is the decision-making body for all 
matters pertaining to the optimum balance of assets and liabilities in the short, medium, and long 
term to ensure profitability increases while complying with regulatory bodies’ requirements.

• Business Continuity Steering Committee: The Committee’s role is to oversee and maintain 
compliance with the Bank’s BCM policy. With full responsibility and accountability for ensuring that 
the Business Recovery Plans of their business functions and IT Disaster Recovery are up to date and 
tested periodically as per the BCM schedule. It shall also ensure that business continuity management 
practices are effectively implemented within the Bank. This Group makes its recommendations to the 
Board Risk Management Committee.
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• Information Security Steering Committee: The committeeʼs role is to review the information security 
management system and ensure its continuing suitability, adequacy, and effectiveness. The Committee 
also attends to information security matters and concerns that may potentially impact the business operation 
or adversely jeopardize the Bank’s image and reputation. The Committee raises substantial incidents and 
recommendations to the Board of Directors as necessary. This may also include events of a critical and 
immediate threat to the Bank’s security that may require the Board of Directors’ immediate intervention.

Statement of the Board of Directors on the Adequacy of Internal 
Control Systems   
The internal control systems in KIB are regularly checked from efficiency and effectiveness perspectives. 
These systems are comprehensive and are being monitored and reviewed in a timely manner within 
the framework of a transparent and clear organizational structure tailored to identify responsibilities 
and accountabilities. The implementation of the approved policies and procedures is monitored by 
the Internal Audit Department, which reviews the internal controls, duties, and responsibilities and the 
appropriate use of authority. As a result, the Bank has adequate and effective internal control systems 
and risk management operations. The Board also approved organizational structure in line with the 
Bank’s work strategy, activities, and job descriptions detailing the tasks and responsibilities and the 
policies and procedures of all jobs and banking operations. All the above is being monitored by Internal 
Audit. All these policies and procedures identify the duties and responsibilities of each job and the 
authority ladder and managerial lines at different administrative levels in a way that realizes dual control 
and the segregation of duties principle to avoid conflict of interests. 

The Bank performs an annual internal control review (ICR) by a certified independent auditor other than 
the Bank’s external auditor to ensure the adequacy of internal control systems. 

The Bank also has controls that enable the staff to directly contact the Chairman to report any concerns 
which may implicate violations by any other staff in the Bank (Whistleblowing Policy).

The Bank’s Board of Directors confirms that the internal control systems are adequate and satisfactory.

External Auditor’s Statement on the Sufficiency of the Bank’s Internal Control 
Systems: 
KIB concluded a contract with an external audit firm to ensure the soundness of the accounting books 
and the other records and the internal control systems in the Bank. The external auditor confirmed the 
soundness of the internal control systems in the Bank for the financial year ending 31 December 2020. 
Hereunder is the statement of the external auditors on reviewing the internal control systems:



83



84

The Board of Directors
Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P.
P.O. Box 22822, Safat 13089 
State of Kuwait

29 September 2021

Report on Accounting and Other Records and Internal Control Systems
In accordance with our letter of engagement dated 26 April 2021, we have examined the accounting and 
other records and internal control systems of Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P (“the Bank” or “KIB”), 
which were in existence during the year ended 31 December 2020. The areas examined comprised. 

Our examination has been carried out with regard to the requirements contained in the Manual of General 
Directives concerning Internal Control Reviews issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait (“the CBK”) on 
15 June 2003, CBK instructions dated 20 June 2012 concerning Pillar IV of corporate governance 
instructions in respect of risk management and internal controls at Kuwaiti Banks, CBK instructions 
dated 14 May 2019 concerning Combating Money Laundering Operations and Financing of Terrorism, 
CBK instruction dated 9 February 2012 on maintaining confidential information on customer information 
and International Standards on Assurance Engagement 3000.

As Board of Directors of Kuwait International Bank, you are responsible for establishing and maintaining 
adequate accounting and other records and internal control systems, taking into consideration the 
expected benefits and relative costs of establishing such systems. The objective is to provide reasonable, 
but not absolute, assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorized use or disposition, 
that banking risks are properly monitored and evaluated, that transactions are executed in accordance 

KPMG Safi Al-Mutawa & Partners, a Kuwaiti Public Accountant and a member firm of the KPMG global organization of 
independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited. A private English company limited by guarantee

KPMG Safi Al-Mutawa & Partners
Al Hamra Tower, 25th Floor
Abdulaziz Al Saqr Street
P.O. BOX 24, Safat 13001
State of Kuwait
Tel: +965 2228 7000
Fax: +965 2228 7444
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• Marketing.
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with established authorization procedures and are recorded properly, and to enable you to conduct the 
business in a prudent manner.

Because of inherent limitations in any accounting and internal control system, errors or irregularities 
may nevertheless occur and not be detected. Also, projection of any evaluation of the systems to 
future periods is subject to the risk that management information and control procedures may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with those procedures 
may deteriorate.

In our opinion, having regard to the nature and size of the Bank’s operations, during the year ended 31 
December 2020, the accounting and other records and internal controls systems, in the areas examined 
by us, were established and maintained satisfactorily in accordance with the requirements of the 
Manual of General Directives concerning Internal Control Reviews issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait 
on 15 June 2003, CBK instructions dated 20 June 2012 concerning Pillar IV of corporate governance 
instructions in respect of risk management and internal controls at Kuwaiti Banks, CBK instructions 
dated 14 May 2019 concerning Combating Money Laundering Operations and Financing of Terrorism, 
CBK instruction dated 9 February 2012 on maintaining confidential information on customer information 
with the exception of the matters set out in the report.

Furthermore, the Bank has established a process of regular follow-up on reported exceptions to ensure 
that corrective actions are being taken to rectify the control weaknesses and gaps identified during the 
course of the Internal Control Review.

Yours sincerely, 

Safi A. Al-Mutawa
License No 138 “A”of                  
KPMG Safi Al-Mutawa & Partners 
Member firm of KPMG International
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Disclosure Requirements
Remunerations Policy Package* 
KIB grants a number of remunerations and incentives to its employee based on the appraisal of each 
employee, which is given in conformity with specific technical and professional standards. The grant of 
these remunerations is tailored to the staff performance and encourages them to raise their performance 
standard. Thus, there has been a framework on which staff performance is appraised and reviewed 
based on designated and clear-cut standards before granting bonuses and rewards in line with the 
approved remuneration policy. 

Board of Directors Remuneration Package  
No remuneration was paid to the Chairman and members of the Board of Directors for their membership 
in the Board for the year ended 31 December 2021. 

Remunerations Package Paid to Top Senior Executives  
The remunerations package for this group includes fixed and variable pay components, including basic 
salaries, allowances, bonuses, life insurance, and end of services benefits. Total remunerations package 
paid to five of top senior executives as well as two mandatory positions of senior executives which were 
not part of top five (seven in total) including Chief Executive Officer, Deputy Chief Executive Officer in 
addition to the General Managers of Financial Control & Planning Department and Risk Management 
Department along with the General Internal Auditor, amounted to KD 1,836 thousand for the year ended 
31 December 2021.

Staff Remunerations 
KIB grants remunerations and incentives to its staff based on the appraisal of each employee, which is 
carried out with specific technical and professional standards. The grant of remunerations encourages 
staff to raise their performance standard. KIB, represented by its Board of Directors, has approved the 
remunerations in the short and long runs and covered all job levels at KIB by defining the role of each 
staff within the KIB team by identifying his/her functions, duties and responsibilities, and the required 
objectives. 

Remuneration Weights & Standards for Staff Category  
In 2021, KIB appraised the staff performance by assessing five main objectives according to the nature of 
work of the staff and their behaviors in line with the standards of KIB. The process of annual performance 
appraisal of KIB’s staff has been completed under the supervision of the Human Resources Department 
and closely in collaboration with the Bank’s Management. The following discloses the remuneration paid to 
staff performing regulatory functions and those participating in risk-related activities. 

*  This term refers to remunerations package including fixed and variable pay components including basic salaries, allowances, 
bonus (paid pertinent to performance and incentive plans) life insurance and end of services benefits.
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Remunerations for top management (including 31 staff of Assistant GM and higher) amounted to KD 
3,836 thousand, as they were paid KD 2,645 thousand as fixed remuneration and KD 1,191 thousand 
as variable remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Remunerations for staff participating in risk embedded activities (including Chief Executive Officer and 
Deputy Chief Executive Officer, General Managers and their Deputies for the core business operations 
in the Bank), totaling 14 people, amounted to KD 2,189 thousand, out of which KD 1,407 thousand as 
fixed remuneration and KD 781 thousand as variable remuneration for the year ended 31 December 
2021. 

Remunerations for Financial Control and Risk Control Staff (Heads of Departments and Units at Financial 
Control & Planning Department, Risk Management Department, Internal Audit Department, Regulatory 
Compliance Department, Governance and Anti Money Laundering, CFT & Tax Compliance Division, 
and staff who are responsible for ensuring compliance with instructions of regulators), totaling 20 
people, amounted to KD 1,131 thousand, out of which KD 862 thousand as fixed remuneration and KD 
269 thousand as variable remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Major Shareholders 
Major shareholders of the Bank who hold 5% or more (directly or indirectly) of the Bank’s share capital 
as of 31/12/2021:

Bukhamseen Group Holding, its Subsidiaries, Associates, and Allied 
Parties 36.07%

Public Institution for Social Security 8.42%

Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)  
In view of our firm belief in the Bank’s role in and responsibility towards our society, 2021 has witnessed 
the Bank’s influential contributions to various social initiatives and programs, as indicated in the Social 
Responsibility Report for 2021.
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Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P (the “Bank”) and 
its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2021, and the related consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as adopted by the Central Bank of Kuwait for use by the State of Kuwait.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance 
with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For matter below, our description of how our audit 
addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have identified the following key audit matter:
Credit losses on financing receivables
The recognition of credit losses on cash and non-cash financing receivables (“financing facilities”) to 
customers is the higher of the Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) under International Financial Reporting 
Standard 9: Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”), determined in accordance with Central Bank of Kuwait (the 
“CBK”) guidelines, and the provision required by the CBK rules based on classification of credit facilities and 
calculation of their provision (the “CBK rules”) as disclosed in the accounting policies in Note 2.5 and Note 
10 to the consolidated financial statements. 
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The recognition of ECL under IFRS 9, determined in accordance with CBK guidelines, is a complex 
accounting policy, which requires considerable judgement in its implementation. ECL is dependent on 
management’s judgement in assessing significant increase in credit risk and classification of financing 
facilities into various stages; determining when a default has occurred, development of models for assessing 
the probability of default of customers and estimating cash flows from recovery procedures or realization of 
collateral. Furthermore, as disclosed in Note 28, the COVID-19 pandemic significantly impacted the amount 
of judgement that management applied in their determination of the ECL. As a result, the ECL has a higher 
than usual degree of uncertainty and the inputs used are inherently subject to change, which may materially 
change the estimate in future periods. 

Recognition of specific provision on impaired facility under the CBK rules is based on the instructions by 
CBK on the minimum provision to be recognized together with any additional provision to be recognised 
based on management estimate of expected cash flows related to that financing facility. 

Due to the significance of credit facilities and the related estimation uncertainty and judgement in the 
impairment calculation, this was considered as a key audit matter. This is further heightened by the high 
degree of estimation uncertainty due to the economic impacts of COVID-19.

Our audit procedures included assessing the design and implementation of controls over the inputs and 
assumptions used by the Group in developing the models, its governance and review controls performed 
by the management in determining the adequacy of credit losses. Further, our audit procedures were 
updated to incorporate consideration of the economic disruption caused by COVID-19, including a focus on 
rescheduled credit facilities. 

With respect to the ECL based on IFRS 9, determined in accordance with the CBK guidelines, we have 
selected samples of financing facilities outstanding as at the reporting date, which included rescheduled 
credit facilities, and evaluated the Group’s determination of significant increase in credit risk and the resultant 
basis for classification of the credit facilities into various stages. We involved our specialists to review the ECL 
model in terms of key data, methods and assumptions used to ensure they are in accordance with IFRS 9 
requirements, determined in accordance CBK guidelines. For a sample of financing facilities, we assessed 
the Group’s staging criteria, Exposure at Default (“EAD”) Probability of Default (“PD”) and Loss Given Default 
(“LGD”) including the eligibility and value of collateral considered in the ECL models used by the Group and 
the overlays considered by the management in view of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, in order to determine 
ECL taking into consideration CBK guidelines. We have also evaluated the consistency of various inputs and 
assumptions used by the Group’s management to determine ECL.

Further, for the CBK rules provision requirements, we have assessed the criteria for determining whether there 
is a requirement to calculate any credit loss in accordance with the related regulations and, if required, it has 
been computed accordingly. For the samples selected, which included rescheduled financing facilities, we 
have verified whether all impairment events have been identified by the Group’s management. For the selected 
samples which also included impaired financing facilities, we have assessed the valuation of collateral and 
reperformed the resultant provision calculations. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 
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Other information included in the Annual Report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021  
Management is responsible for the other information, which consists of the information included in the Annual 
Report of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2021, other than the consolidated financial statements 
and our auditors’ report thereon. We obtained the report of the Bank’s Board of Directors, prior to the date 
of our auditor’s report, and we expect to obtain the remaining sections of the Group’s Annual Report for the 
year ended 31 December 2021 after the date of our auditor’s report. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and 
will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the audit, or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained 
prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement in this other 
information; we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 
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• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the Group’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken 
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current year and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 
KUWAIT INTERNATIONAL BANK K.S.C.P. (continued)
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
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BADER A. AL-WAZZAN
LICENCE NO. 62 A
DELOITTE & TOUCHE 
AL WAZZAN & CO.

21 February 2022
Kuwait

BADER A. AL-ABDULJADER
LICENCE NO. 207 A 
EY
AL AIBAN, AL OSAIMI & PARTNERS

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Furthermore, in our opinion proper books of account have been kept by the Bank and the consolidated 
financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Bank’s Board of Directors relating to these 
consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We further report that we obtained all the 
information and explanations that we required for the purpose of our audit and that the consolidated financial 
statements incorporate all information that is required by the Capital Adequacy Regulations and Financial 
Leverage Ratio Regulations  issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait (“CBK”) as stipulated in CBK Circular Nos. 
2/RB, RBA/336/2014 dated 24 June 2014, and its amendments, and 2/I.B.S. 343/2014 dated 21 October 
2014, and its amendments, the Companies Law No 1 of 2016, as amended, and its executive regulations, 
as amended, and by the Bank’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, that an inventory 
was duly carried out and that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, no violations of the Capital Adequacy 
Regulations and Financial Leverage Ratio Regulations issued by the CBK as stipulated in CBK Circular Nos. 
2/RB, RBA /336/2014 dated 24 June 2014, and its amendments and 2/I.B.S. 343/2014 dated 21 October 
2014, and its amendments, respectively, the Companies Law No 1 of 2016, as amended, and its executive 
regulations, as amended, or of the Bank’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, have 
occurred during the year ended 31 December 2021 that might have had a material effect on the business of 
the Bank or on its financial position.

We further report that, during the course of our audit, to the best of our knowledge and belief, we have not 
become aware of any violations of the provisions of Law No. 32 of 1968, as amended, concerning currency, 
the Central Bank of Kuwait and the organisation of banking business, and its related regulations during the 
year ended 31 December 2021 that might have had a material effect on the business of the Bank or on its 
financial position.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 
KUWAIT INTERNATIONAL BANK K.S.C.P. (continued)
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KD 000’s

Notes 2021 2020

Financing income 82,084 89,075
Finance cost and distribution to depositors 3 (32,047) (40,249)
Net financing income 50,037 48,826

Fees and commission income 4 10,910 7,867
Net gain from foreign exchange 1,025 798
Investment income 5 3,830 2,197

Other income 6 989 4,158

TOTAL OPERATING INCOME 66,791 63,846

Staff costs (22,527) (19,696)
General and administrative expenses (14,234) (13,026)

Depreciation (4,423) (4,237)

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES (41,184) (36,959)

Profit from operations before provisions and impairment losses 25,607 26,887

Provisions and impairment losses 7 (14,033) (26,760)
PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS 11,574 127

Provision for:
Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS) (103) -
National Labor Support Tax (NLST) (289) (4)
Zakat (105) -

Board of Directors’ remuneration - -

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 11,077 123

Attributable to:
  Shareholders of the Bank 10,892 1

  Non-controlling interests 185 122

11,077 123

Basic and diluted earnings/ (loss) per share attributable to
the shareholders of the Bank 8 5.66 fils (5.09) fils

The accompanying notes from 1 to 28 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
For the year ended 31 December 2021
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KD 000’s

2021 2020

Profit for the year 11,077 123

Other comprehensive loss:

Items that may be reclassified to consolidated statement of profit or loss

- Change in fair value of debt instruments at FVOCI (1,878) 2,656

- Less: Gain on debt instruments at FVOCI reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal (884) -

- Foreign currency translation adjustments )225( 60

Items that will not be reclassified to consolidated statement of profit or loss

- Change in fair value of equity investments at FVOCI 2,563 (6,615)

Other comprehensive loss for the year (424) (3,899)

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year 10,653 (3,776)

Attributable to:

  Shareholders of the Bank 10,446 (3,899)

  Non-controlling interests 207 123

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for the year 10,653 (3,776)

The accompanying notes from 1 to 28 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2021
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KD 000’s

Notes 2021 2020

ASSETS
Cash and balances with banks 9 87,583 111,059
Deposits with the Central Bank of Kuwait 146,297 96,301
Due from banks 9 212,358 317,986
Financing receivables 10 2,270,474 1,985,026
Investment securities 11 295,839 184,362
Investment in an associate 12 1,674 1,543
Investment properties 13 53,545 53,824
Other assets 14 29,092 19,281
Property and equipment 15 38,207 32,213
TOTAL ASSETS 3,135,069 2,801,595

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
LIABILITIES
Due to banks and financial institutions 16 561,826 671,386
Depositors' accounts 17 2,061,626 1,644,803
Sukuk issued 18 90,397 90,403
Other liabilities 19 63,497 42,684
TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,777,346 2,449,276

EQUITY
Share capital 20 113,275 113,275
Share premium 21 49,480 49,480
Treasury shares 20 (45,234) (45,234)
Other reserves 21 145,511 140,182
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE BANK 263,032 257,703
Perpetual Tier 1 Sukuk 22 91,035 91,035
Non-controlling interests 3,656 3,581
TOTAL EQUITY 357,723 352,319
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 3,135,069 2,801,595

Sheikh Mohammed Jarrah Al-Sabah
Chairman  

Raed Jawad Bukhamseen
Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The accompanying notes from 1 to 28 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2021

The accompanying notes from 1 to 28 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



100

Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 31 December 2021

KD 000’s

Notes 2021 2020
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year 11,077 123
Adjustments for:

Net gain from foreign exchange (1,025) )798(
Dividend income 5 (1,204) )856(
Change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL 5 (382) )360(
Realised gain from sale of debt instruments 5 (888) (33)
Share of result from an associate 5 (131) )5(
Rental income from investment properties 5 (1,225) )884(
Gain from sale of investment properties 5 - )59(
Depreciation 4,423 4,237
Provisions and impairment losses 7 14,033 26,760

24,678 28,125
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Deposits with the Central Bank of Kuwait (49,996) 53,877
Due from banks - 43,451
Financing receivables (293,779) (137,406)
Other assets (6,867) (4,558)
Due to banks and financial institutions (109,560) (123,740)
Depositors’ accounts 416,823 175,229
Other liabilities 12,260 (3,874)

Net cash (used in)/ from operating activities (6,441) 31,104
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of investment securities (244,081) )132,970(
Proceeds on redemption/ sale of investment securities 133,822 124,702
Additions on an investment property 13 - )68(
Purchase of property and equipment (9,218) )3,985(
Dividend income received 1,204 856
Rental income received 1,225 884
Net cash used in investing activities (117,048) )10,581(
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from issue of subordinated Tier 2 Sukuk - 90,403
Profit paid to holders of Perpetual Tier 1 Sukuk 22 (5,117) (5,188)
Dividends paid by subsidiary to non-controlling interests (132) )132(
Cash dividends paid (141) )6,608(
Net cash (used in)/ from financing activities (5,390) 78,475

NET (DECREASE)/ INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (128,879) 98,998
Effect of foreign currency translation (225) 60
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 429,045 329,987
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 9 299,941 429,045

The accompanying notes from 1 to 28 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

1. INCORPORATION AND ACTIVITIES  
Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. (the “Bank”) is a Kuwaiti public shareholding company incorporated 
in the State of Kuwait on 13 May 1973 as a specialised bank and is regulated by the Central Bank of 
Kuwait (“CBK”). The Bank’s shares are listed on the Boursa Kuwait (Premier Market).

In June 2007, the CBK licensed the Bank to operate in accordance with Islamic Shariaá from 1 July 
2007. From that date, all activities are conducted in accordance with Islamic Shariaá, as approved by 
the Bank’s Fatwa and Shariaá Supervisory Board. 

The Bank is engaged principally in providing Islamic banking services, the purchase and sale 
of properties, leasing, and other trading activities. Trading activities are conducted on the basis of 
purchasing various commodities and selling them on Murabaha at agreed profit margin which can be 
settled in cash or on installment credit basis.

The registered office of the Bank is at West Tower – Joint Banking Center, P.O. Box 22822, Safat 13089, 
Kuwait.

The Bank operates through 16 local branches (2020: 16) and employed 655 staff as of 31 December 
2021 (2020: 632).

The consolidated financial statements of the Bank and its Subsidiaries (together the “Group”) (Note 2.5) 
for the year ended 31 December 2021 were authorised for issue by the Chairman on 14 February 2022 
in accordance with a resolution of the Bank’s Board of Directors on 13 January 2022.

The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Bank’s shareholders has the power to amend these 
consolidated financial statements after issuance.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the regulations for 
financial services institutions as issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait (“CBK”) in the State of Kuwait. 
These regulations, require banks and other financial institutions regulated by CBK to adopt the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by International Accounting Standards 
Board (IASB) with the following amendments:

a) Expected credit loss (“ECL”) to be measured at the higher of ECL provision on credit facilities 
computed under IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) in accordance with CBK guidelines or the 
provisions as required by CBK instructions along with its consequent impact on related disclosures; 
and

b) Recognition of modification losses on financial assets arising from payment holidays to customers 
as a result of COVID-19 during the financial year ended 31 December 2020, as required by CBK 
circular reference 2/BS, RBA/4612020/. Modification losses referred to in the circular, are recognized 
in retained earnings instead of profit or loss as would be required by IFRS 9. However, modification 
loss on financial assets arising from any other payment holidays to customers shall be recognized in 
profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9. All modification losses incurred after the financial year ended 
31 December 2020 are recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The application of 
the policy will result in application of different accounting presentation for modification loss in 2020 
compared to 2021.

The above framework is hereinafter referred to as ‘IFRS as adopted by the CBK for use in the State of 
Kuwait’.
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The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for 
measurement of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, financial assets through 
profit or loss and land and buildings under property and equipment.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (“KD”) which is the functional currency 
of the Bank and KIB Takaful, rounded to the nearest thousand Kuwaiti Dinars, except when otherwise stated.

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are 
consistent with those used in the previous year except for the adoption of certain standards and 
amendments, which are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021. The Group 
has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not 
yet effective.

Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions 
On 28 May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions - amendment to IFRS 16 Leases 
The amendments provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification 
accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic. As a 
practical expedient, a lessee may elect not to assess whether a Covid-19 related rent concession from 
a lessor is a lease modification. A lessee that makes this election accounts for any change in lease 
payments resulting from the Covid-19 related rent concession the same way it would account for the 
change under IFRS 16, if the change were not a lease modification.

The amendment was intended to apply until 30 June 2021, but as the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic 
is continuing, on 31 March 2021, the IASB extended the period of application of the practical expedient 
to 30 June 2022.The amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 
2021. However, the Group has not received Covid-19-related rent concessions, but plans to apply the 
practical expedient if it becomes applicable within allowed period of application.

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 
and IFRS 16 
In August 2020 the IASB issued Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 
39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16, (IBOR reform Phase 2) to address the accounting issues which arise 
upon the replacement of an IBOR with a risk-free rate (“RFR”).

IBOR reform Phase 2 includes a number of reliefs and additional disclosures. The reliefs apply upon the 
transition of a financial instrument from an IBOR to RFR. As a practical expedient, changes to the basis 
for determining contractual cash flows as a result of interest rate benchmark reform are required to be 
treated as changes to a floating interest rate, provided that, for the financial instrument, the transition 
from the IBOR benchmark rate to RFR takes place on an economically equivalent basis.

The Group has exposure to the London Interbank offered rates (LIBOR), the benchmark rate, through 
its financial instruments, which will be replaced as part of the fundamental reform of various major 
profit rate benchmarks. The Group has undertaken a project under the oversight of a cross-functional 
IBOR Committee to manage its transition from LIBORs to alternative rates. The objectives of the IBOR 
Committee include evaluating the extent to which assets and liabilities are referenced to LIBOR cash 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
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flows, whether such contracts need to be amended as a result of those reforms and how to manage 
communication about LIBOR reform with counterparties. The new contracts to be entered by the Group 
on or after 1 January 2022 will be based on using various alternative benchmark interest rates including 
certain “risk-free” rates.

Transition away from LIBORs to the risk-free or alternative “reference rate” (RFR’s) regime will affect the 
pricing of deposits, Islamic Financing, hedging instruments and debt securities. 

Financial assets and liabilities
The Group’s exposure to IBOR linked financial assets and liabilities is mainly through USD LIBOR. The Group 
will perform transition of these contracts to RFRs through bilateral agreements not later than June 2023. 

The Group’s exposure to financial assets and liabilities that are based on USD LIBOR maturing after 
June 2023 is KD 193,194 thousand and KD Nil thousand respectively. The Group is in discussion with 
the counterparties clients to effect an orderly transition of USD exposures to the relevant RFR.

Other amendments to IFRSs which are effective for annual accounting period starting from 1 January 
2021 did not have any material impact on the accounting policies, financial position or performance of 
the Group.

2.3 NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET ADOPTED
A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations which are effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 have not been early adopted in the preparation of 
the Group’s consolidated financial statements. None of these are expected to have a significant impact 
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

2.4 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Where necessary, 
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring its accounting policies in line 
with those used by the Bank. All significant intra-group balances, transactions and unrealized gains 
or losses resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated in full. The subsidiaries’ 
financial statements are prepared either to the Bank’s reporting date or to a date not earlier than three 
months of the Bank’s reporting date.

Interest in the equity of subsidiaries not attributable to the Group is reported as non-controlling interests 
in the consolidated statement of financial position. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree is measured 
at the proportionate share in the recognized amount of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Losses 
are allocated to the non-controlling interests even if they exceed the non-controlling interest’s share 
of equity in the subsidiary. Transactions with non-controlling interests are treated as transactions with 
equity owners of the Group. Gains or losses on disposals of non-controlling interests without loss of 
control are recorded in equity.

On loss of control, the Group derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, any non-controlling 
interests and the other components of equity related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising 
on loss of control is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. If the Group retains any 
interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at fair value at the date that control is 
lost. Subsequently it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as a financial asset depending 
on the level of influence retained.
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2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Business Combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, 
which is the date on which control is transferred to the Group. The Group controls an investee if and 
only if the Group has:

• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities 
of the investee);

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers 
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements;

• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights;

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

• The fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

• The recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus

• If the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the pre-existing equity interest in 
the acquiree; less

• The net recognised amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.

Transactions costs, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the 
Group incurs in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred.

The principal operating subsidiary and special purpose vehicles are as follows:

Name of company Country of 
incorporation

Principal
activity

2021 2020

% Effective ownership

Al Dawli Takaful Insurance Company KSCC 
(“KIB Takaful”) Kuwait Shariaá compliant 

insurance services 73.6 73.6

KIB Tier 1 Sukuk Limited Cayman 
Islands Sukuk issuance 100 100

KIB Sukuk Limited Cayman 
Islands Sukuk issuance 100 100

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
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Financial instruments
Financial assets
Recognition of financial assets  
A financial asset or a financial liability is recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised using settlement date accounting 
i.e. the date that the Group receives or delivers the assets. Changes in fair value between the trade date 
and settlement date are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, or in consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income in accordance with the policy applicable 
to the related instrument.

Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of 
assets within the time frame generally established by regulations or conventions in the market place.

De-recognition of financial assets
A financial asset is de-recognised (in whole or in part) where: 

• the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired, or

• the Group retains the contractual right to receive the cash flows of the financial asset, but has assumed 
a contractual obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ 
arrangement, or 

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and either (a) has transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has neither transferred 
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset 
is recognised to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that 
takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying 
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled 
or expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The 
difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Classification and Measurement of Financial assets
The Group has determined the classification and measurement of its financial assets as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in hand, current account and money at call with other 
banks and deposits with banks maturing within seven days. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at 
amortised cost using effective yield rate. (Note 9)

Deposits with the Central Bank of Kuwait and due from banks
Deposits with the Central Bank of Kuwait and due from banks comprise of Tawarruq transaction with 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and Measurement of Financial assets (continued)
CBK and government debts, Murabaha finance with banks and are carried at amortised cost using 
effective yield rate.

Financing receivables
Financing receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market. The Bank offers Shariaá compliant products and services such as 
Murabaha, Wakala, Istisna’a, Musawama and Ijara which are stated at amortised cost and presented 
as financing receivables in the consolidated statement of financial position. The amount due is settled 
either by installments or on a deferred payment basis.

Murabaha is a sale agreement for commodities and real estate to “a promise to buy” customer, at a 
price comprising of cost plus agreed profit, after the Bank has acquired the asset.

Wakala is an agreement whereby the Group provides a sum of money to a customer under an agency 
arrangement, who invests it according to specific conditions in return for a fee. The agent is obliged to 
return the amount in case of default, negligence or violation of any terms and conditions of the wakala.

Istisna’a is a sale contract between a contract owner and a contractor whereby the contractor based on 
an order from the contract owner undertakes to manufacture or otherwise acquire the subject matter of 
the contract according to specifications, and sells it to the contract owner for an agreed upon price and 
method of settlement whether that be in advance, by installments or deferred to a specific future date.

Musawama is an agreement under which negotiations between a buyer and a seller preclude the 
disclosure of sellers cost.

Leased assets - Group as a lessor
Ijara receivable is an Islamic transaction involving the purchase and immediate lease of an asset at cost 
where the lessor conveys to the lessee the right to use the asset for an agreed period of time in return for 
a payment or series of payments. At the end of the lease term the lessee has the option to purchase the 
asset. Ijara receivables are stated at the aggregate of the minimum lease payments due less provision 
for impairment, if any, and are presented net of deferred income.

Investment securities
Group’s financial investments consists of investment in sukuk, equity and other investments.

* Debt securities (Sukuk) are classified as either at amortised cost or at FVOCI based on the business 
model in which these securities are managed.

* Equity investments are generally carried at FVTPL except for those specific investments for which the 
Group has made an election to classify at FVOCI.

* Other investments are carried at FVTPL.

Business model assessment
The Group determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of 
financial assets to achieve its business objective. The Groupʼs business model is not assessed on an 
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instrument by instrument basis but at a higher level of aggregated portfolios and is based on a number 
of observable factors. The information considered includes:

* The stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice;

* The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that 
business model) and how those risks are managed; and

* The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its 
expectations about future sales activity.

The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking ‹worst 
case› or ‹stress case’ scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in a way 
that is different from the Groupʼs original expectations, the Group does not change the classification 
of the remaining financial assets held in that business model but incorporates such information when 
assessing newly originated or newly purchased financial assets going forward.

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and profit (SPPP test)
The Group assesses the contractual terms of financial assets to identify whether they meet the SPPP 
test. ‘Principal’ for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial 
recognition and may change over the life of the financial asset. Profit is defined as consideration for time 
value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal and for other basic lending risks and 
costs as well as a profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and profit, the Group 
considers whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or 
amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. The Group considers:

* Contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;

* Leverage features;

* Prepayment and extension terms;

* Terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset 
arrangements); and

* Features that modify consideration of the time value of money – e.g. periodical reset of profit rates.

Contractual terms that introduce a more than de minimis exposure to risks or volatility in the contractual 
cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not give rise to contractual cash flows 
that are solely payment of principal and profit. In such cases, the financial asset is measured at fair 
value through profit or loss.

The Group classifies its financial assets upon initial recognition into the following categories:

* Financial assets carried at amortised cost

* Financial assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)

* Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)
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Financial assets carried at Amortised cost
A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions:

* it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; 
and

* its contractual terms give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and profit on the principal amount outstanding

Financial assets carried at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective yield method. Finance income, foreign exchange gains and losses and charge for expected 
credit losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Any gain or loss on de-
recognition is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets carried at FVOCI
(i) Debt Securities (Sukuk) at FVOCI

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions:

* it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 
flows and selling financial assets; and

* its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and profit on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt Securities at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Profit income calculated using the 
effective yield method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment losses are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Fair value changes which are not part of an effective hedging 
relationship are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the fair value reserves as 
part of equity until the asset is derecognised or reclassified. When the financial asset is derecognised, 
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from 
equity to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

(ii) Equity investments at FVOCI

Upon initial recognition, the Group makes an irrevocable election to classify some of its equity 
investments as equity investments at FVOCI if they meet the definition of Equity under IAS 32 Financial 
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. Such classification is determined on an instrument 
by instrument basis.

Equity investments at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Changes in fair values including 
foreign exchange component are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the 
fair value reserves as part of equity. Cumulative gains and losses previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are transferred to retained earnings on derecognition and are not recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Dividend income on equity investments at FVOCI are 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss unless they clearly represent a recovery of 
part of the cost of the investment in which case they are recognised in other comprehensive income. 
Equity investments at FVOCI are not subject to impairment assessment.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Classification and Measurement of Financial assets  (continued)



Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

109

Financial assets carried at FVTPL
Financial assets in this category are those assets which have been either designated by management 
upon initial recognition or are mandatorily required to be measured at fair value under IFRS 9. 
Management designates an instrument at FVTPL that otherwise meet the requirements to be measured 
at amortised cost or at FVOCI only if it eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch that 
would otherwise arise. Financial assets with contractual cash flows not representing solely payment of 
principal and profit are mandatorily required to be measured at FVTPL. 

Financial assets at FVTPL are subsequently measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Dividend income from equity investments measured at 
FVTPL is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the right to the payment has 
been established.

Reclassification of financial assets
The Group does not reclassify its financial assets subsequent to their initial recognition apart in the 
exceptional circumstances in which the Group acquires, disposes of, or terminates a business line.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group computes Expected Credit Losses (“ECL”) on the following financial instruments that are not 
measured at FVTPL:

* Financing receivables including loan commitments

* Letters of credit and financial guarantee contracts including commitments

* Investment in debt securities measured FVOCI (Sukuk)

* Balances and deposits with banks

Balances with the CBK, bonds, treasury bills, public debt instruments and Islamic financial instruments 
Tawaruq issued by the CBK and Government of Kuwait are low risk and fully recoverable and hence no 
ECL is measured on these instruments.

Impairment of financing facilities
Financing facilities granted by the Group consists of financing receivables, letters of credit and financial 
guarantee contracts and commitments to grant financing receivables. Impairment on financing 
receivables shall be recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at an amount equal 
to the higher of ECL under IFRS 9 according to the CBK guidelines, and the provisions required by the 
CBK instructions (Note 2.1).

Impairment of financial assets other than financing receivables
The Group considers that its cash and cash equivalents have low credit risk based on the external 
credit ratings of the counterparties and CBK guarantee of deposits placed with local banks. The Group 
recognises ECL on investment in debt securities at FVOCI and on balances and deposits with banks. 
Equity investments are not subject to ECL.

Expected Credit losses
The Group applies a three stage approach to measure the expected credit loss as follows. Assets 
migrate through the following three stages based as the change in credit quality since initial recognition.
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Stage 1: 12-month ECL
The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to 12-month ECL on financial assets where 
there has not been significant increase in credit risk since their initial recognition or on exposures that 
are determined to have a low credit risk at the reporting date. The Group considers a financial asset 
to have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally recognised definition of 
‘investment grade’.

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL – not credit impaired
The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL on financial assets where 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition but are not credit impaired.

Stage 3: Lifetime ECL – credit impaired
The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL on financial assets that are 
determined to be credit impaired based on objective evidence of impairment.

Life time expected credit losses are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected 
life of a financial instrument. The 12 months ECL is the portion of life time expected credit loss that 
result from default events that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. Both life time 
expected credit losses and 12 month ECLs are calculated on either an individual basis or a collective 
basis depending on the nature of the underlying portfolio of financial instruments.

Determining the stage for impairment
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there has been significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring over the remaining expected life 
from the reporting date with the risk of default at the date of initial recognition. The quantitative criteria 
used to determine a significant increase in credit risk is a series of relative and absolute thresholds. All 
financial assets that are more than 30 days past due are deemed to have significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition and migrated to stage 2 even if other criteria do not indicate a significant 
increase in credit risk.

At each reporting date, the Group also assesses whether a financial asset or group of financial assets 
is credit impaired. The Group considers a financial asset to be impaired when one or more events 
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash-flows of the financial asset have occurred 
or when contractual payments are more than 90 days past due. All credit impaired financial assets 
are classified as stage 3 for ECL measurement purposes. Evidence of credit impairment includes 
observable data about the following:

* Significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer.
* A breach of contract such as default or past due event.
* The lender having granted to the borrower a concession, that the lender would otherwise not consider, 

for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty.
* The disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.
* Purchase of a financial asset at a deep discount that reflects the incurred credit loss.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
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At the reporting date, if the credit risk of a financial asset or group of financial assets has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition or not credit impaired, these financial assets are classified as stage 1.

Measurement of ECLs
Expected credit losses are probability-weighted estimate of credit losses and are measured as the 
present value of all cash shortfalls discounted at the effective profit rate of the financial instrument. 
Cash shortfall represent the difference between cash-flows due to the Group in accordance with the 
contract and the cash-flows that the Group expects to receive. The key elements in the measurement 
of ECL include probability of default (“PD”), loss given default (“LGD”) and exposure at default (“EAD”). 
The Group estimates these elements using appropriate credit risk models taking into consideration of 
the internal and external credit ratings of the assets, nature and value of collaterals, forward looking 
macroeconomic scenarios etc.

Incorporation of forward looking information
The Group considers key economic variables that are expected to have an impact on the credit risk and 
the ECL in order to incorporate forward-looking information into the ECL models. These primarily reflect 
reasonable and supportable forecasts of the future macro-economic conditions. The consideration of 
such factors increases the degree of judgment in determination of ECL. The management reviews the 
methodologies and assumptions including any forecasts of future economic conditions on regular basis.

Modification of financing receivables
Under certain circumstances, the Group seeks to restructure financing to customers rather than taking 
possession of collateral. This may involve extending the payment arrangements, reduction in the amount 
of principal or profit and the agreement of new facility or financing conditions. If the modifications are 
substantial, such a facility is derecognised and a new facility is recognised with substantially different 
terms and conditions.

The facility will have a loss allowance measured based on 12 month ECL except in rare occasions where 
the new facility is considered to be originated - credit impaired. Management continuously reviews 
modified Islamic financing to customers to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments are 
likely to occur. Management also assesses whether there has been significant increase in credit risk 
or the facility should be classified in stage 3. When Islamic financing to customers have been modified 
but not derecognised, any impairment is measured using the original effective profit rate as calculated 
before the modification of terms.

Write-offs
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) when the Group 
determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient 
cash flows to repay the amounts. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject to 
enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the consolidated statement of financial position
Loss allowances for ECL are presented as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the financial 
assets for financial assets carried at amortised cost. In the case of debt instruments measured at 
FVOCI, the Group recognises the ECL charge in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and a 
corresponding amount is recognised in other comprehensive income with no reduction in the carrying 
amount of the financial asset in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Provisions for credit losses in accordance with CBK instructions
The Group is required to calculate provisions for credit losses on financing receivables in accordance 
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with the instructions of CBK on the classification of financing receivables and calculation of provisions. 
Financing receivables are classified as past due when a payment has not been received on its 
contractual payment date or if the facility is in excess of pre-approved limits. A financing receivable is 
classified as past due and impaired when the profit or a principal instalment is past due for more than 
90 days and if the carrying amount of the facility is greater than its estimated recoverable value. Past 
due and past due and impaired financing receivables are managed and monitored as irregular facilities 
and are classified into the following four categories which are then used to determine the provisions.

Category Criteria Specific provisions 

Watch list Irregular for a period of 90 days -

Substandard Irregular for a period of 91 - 180 days 20%

Doubtful Irregular for a period of 181 - 365 days 50%

Bad Irregular for a period exceeding 365 days 100%

The Group may also include a credit facility in one of the above categories based on management’s 
judgement of a customer’s financial and/or non-financial circumstances.

In addition to specific provisions, minimum general provisions of 1% on cash facilities and 0.5% on non-
cash facilities are made on all applicable financing receivables (net of certain restricted categories of 
collateral) which are not subject to specific provisioning.

In March 2007, CBK issued a circular amending the basis of calculating general provisions on facilities 
changing the rate from 2% to 1% for cash facilities and from 1% to 0.5% for non-cash facilities. The 
required rates were to be applied effective from 1 January 2007 on the net increase in facilities, net 
of certain categories of collateral, during the reporting period. The general provision in excess of the 
present 1% for cash facilities and 0.5% for non-cash facilities as of 31 December 2006 would be 
retained as a general provision until a further directive from the CBK is issued.

Financial liabilities  
Financial liabilities include due to banks and financial institutions, depositors’ accounts created by 
Mudaraba and Wakala contracts, Sukuk issued and other liabilities. Mudaraba represents an agreement 
whereby the Bank and the customer share an agreed percentage of any profit earned on customers’ 
investments as agreed. Wakala represents an agreement whereby the Bank aims to provide a certain 
rate of return for the transactions entered on behalf of the customer.

Equity instruments 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

Own equity instruments of the Bank which are acquired by it or by any of its subsidiaries (treasury 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
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shares) are recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Bank’s own 
equity instruments.

Tier 1 sukuk are perpetual Mudaraba sukuk which are not redeemable by sukukholders and bear an 
entitlement to profit distributions that is non-cumulative and at the issuer’s sole discretion. Accordingly, 
tier 1 sukuk are presented as a component of equity instruments issued by the Group in equity (Note 22).

Offsetting
Financial assets and financial liabilities are only offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated 
statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts 
and the Group intends to either settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

Collateral pending sale
The Group occasionally acquires non-monetary assets in settlement of certain financing receivables. 
Such assets are stated at the lower of the carrying value of the related financing receivables and the 
current fair value of such assets. Gains or losses on disposal, and revaluation losses, are recognised in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantees
In the ordinary course of business, the Group provides financial guarantees, consisting of letters of 
credit, guarantees and acceptances. Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements at fair value, being the premium received, in other liabilities. The premium received 
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in ‘fees and commission income’ on a 
straight-line basis over the life of the guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is measured at the higher of 
the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date and 
the amount recognized less cumulative amortization. When a payment under the guarantee is likely to 
become payable, the present value of the expected net payments less the unamortised premium, is 
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantees and letter of credit are assessed and provision for impairment is made in a similar 
manner to that for financing receivables.

Revenue recognition
Income from Murabaha, Wakala, Istisna’a and Musawama are recognised on an effective yield basis 
which is established on initial recognition of the asset and is not revised subsequently. 

Income from Ijara is recognised over the term of the Ijara agreement to yield a constant rate of return on 
the net investment outstanding.

The calculation of the effective yield includes all fees paid or received, transactions costs and discounts 
or premiums that are an integral part of the effective yield.

Fees and commission income that relate mainly to transaction and service fees is recognized as the 
related services are performed.

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 

Rental income from investment properties is recognised on a straight line basis over the period of the 
lease.
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Once a financial instrument categorised as “financing receivables” is written down to its estimated 
recoverable amount, related income is thereafter recognised on the unimpaired portion based on the 
original effective yield rate that was used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring 
the recoverable amount.

Finance cost
Finance cost is directly attributable to due to banks and financial institutions, depositors’ accounts and 
Sukuk issued. All finance costs are expensed in the period they occur.

Government grants 
Government grants are recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received 
and all attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is 
recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the related costs, for which it is 
intended to compensate, are expensed. When the grant relates to an asset, it is recognised as income 
in equal amounts over the expected useful life of the related asset.

When the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the asset and the grant are recorded at 
nominal amounts and released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the asset, based on the 
pattern of consumption of the benefits of the underlying asset by equal annual instalments.

Foreign currency
Foreign currency transactions are recorded at rates of exchange ruling at the date of the transactions. 
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies outstanding at the year-end are translated into 
Kuwaiti Dinars at rates of exchange ruling at the reporting date. Any resultant gains or losses are taken 
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at 
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Translation difference on non-
monetary items classified as “at fair value through profit or loss” are reported as part of the fair value 
gain or loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss whereas, where as those on non-monetary 
items classified as FVOCI financial assets are included in consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income.

Dividends on ordinary shares
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability and deducted from equity when they are 
approved by the Bank’s shareholders in the AGM. 

Dividends for the year that are approved by the AGM after the reporting date are disclosed as an event 
after the reporting date.

Statutory contributions
Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (“KFAS”)
The Bank calculates the contribution to KFAS at 1% of profit in accordance with the calculation based on 
the KFAS’s Board of Directors resolution, excluding transfer to statutory reserve from profit for the year.
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National Labour Support Tax (“NLST”)
The Bank calculates NLST in accordance with Law No. 19/ 2000 and the Minister of Finance Resolution 
No. 24/ 2006 at 2.5% of taxable profit for the year. Cash dividends from listed companies which are 
subject to NLST are deducted from the profit for the year to determine the taxable profit.

Zakat
Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit in accordance with the Ministry of Finance resolution 
No. 58/ 2007. The Zakat charge calculated in accordance with these requirements is charged to the 
consolidated statement of profit and loss.

Investment in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group exerts significant influence. Investment in associate 
is accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Where an associate is acquired and held 
exclusively for resale, it is accounted for as a non-current asset held for resale under IFRS 5.

Under the equity method, the investment in associate is initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter 
for the post-acquisition change in the Group’s share of the associate’s net assets. Goodwill relating to an 
associate is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually 
tested for impairment. The Group recognises in the consolidated statement of profit or loss its share of 
the total recognised profit or loss of the associate from the date that influence or ownership effectively 
commenced until the date that it effectively ceases. Distributions received from the associate reduce 
the carrying amount of the investment. Adjustments to the carrying amount may also be necessary for 
changes in Group’s share in the associate arising from changes in the associate’s equity that have 
not been recognised in the associate’s profit or loss statement. The Group’s share of those changes is 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Unrealised gains on transactions with associate are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s share in the 
associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment 
in the asset transferred. An assessment for impairment of investments in associates is performed when 
there is an indication that the asset has been impaired, or that impairment losses recognised in prior 
years no longer exist. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. A 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions 
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The 
reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The associate’s financial statements are prepared either to the Group’s reporting date or to a date not 
earlier than three months of the Group’s reporting date using consistent accounting policies. Where 
practicable, adjustments are made for the effects of significant transactions or other events that occur 
between the reporting date of the associates and the Group’s reporting date.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any retained 
investment at fair value. Any difference between carrying amount of the investment in associate upon 
loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal is 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Investment properties
Land and buildings, held for long-term capital appreciation and rental yields, and not occupied by 
the Group, are classified as investment properties. These also include properties acquired by the 



Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

116

Group in settlement of financing receivables. Investment properties are carried at cost which includes 
purchase price and transaction costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Land 
is not depreciated. Depreciation is computed on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives 
of 20 years. Fair values of investment properties are determined periodically by external appraisers 
having an appropriate recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and 
category of the property being valued.

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each year end. 
The carrying amount of each item is reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the assets are written down to their recoverable 
amount and the impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Impairment 
is tested at the lowest level of the cash generating unit (“CGU”) to which the item belongs.

An investment property is derecognised when either it has been disposed of, or when the investment 
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its 
disposal. Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period of retirement or disposal.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer 
from investment property to property and equipment, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is 
the carrying value at the date of change in use. If property and equipment becomes an investment 
property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated under property 
and equipment up to the date of change in use.

When the Group begins to redevelop an existing investment property with a view to selling the property, 
it is transferred to trading properties at carrying value.

Property and equipment
Land and buildings are measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation on buildings and 
impairment losses recognised after the date of the revaluation. Valuations are performed annually to 
ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ materially from its carrying amount.

Any revaluation change is credited to the revaluation surplus reserve in equity, except to the extent that it 
reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset previously recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss, in which case the increase is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
A revaluation deficit is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, except to the extent that 
it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset recognised in the revaluation surplus reserve.

An annual transfer from the revaluation surplus reserve to retained earnings is made for the difference 
between depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the assets and depreciation based on 
the asset’s original cost. Additionally, accumulated depreciation as at the revaluation date is eliminated 
against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of 
the asset. Upon disposal, any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset being sold is transferred 
to retained earnings.

Computer hardware and software, furniture, fixtures and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment in value.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Investment properties (continued)
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Depreciation of owned assets is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets, as follows:

Building 20 years

Furniture and fixtures 5 years

Office equipment and software 4 years

ATM 3 years

Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss when the asset is derecognized. 

Leases – Group as a lessee
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract 
is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term 
leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments 
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

a) Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the 
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any re-measurement of lease liabilities.

The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs 
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives 
received. Unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the end 
of the lease term, the recognised right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the 
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject to impairment. The 
carrying value of the right-of-use assets are presented under other assets in the consolidated statement 
of financial position.

b) Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the present 
value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments 
(including in- substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments 
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. 
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be 
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects 
the Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an 
index or a rate are recognised as expense in the period on which the event or condition that triggers 
the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental profit rate at the 
lease commencement date if the profit rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the 
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of profit and 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases – Group as a lessee  (continued)

reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured 
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease payments 
or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset and are presented under other liabilities 
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Fair value measurement
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based 
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or

• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible to by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would 
use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient 
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising 
the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial 
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1:  inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
entity can access at the measurement date;

Level 2:  inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the 
asset or liability either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3:  inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

For financial instruments quoted in an active market, fair value is determined by reference to quoted 
market prices. Bid prices are used for assets and offer prices are used for liabilities. The fair value of 
investments in mutual funds, unit trusts or similar investment vehicles are based on the last published 
net assets value.

For unquoted financial instruments fair value is determined by reference to the market value of a similar 
investment, discounted cash flows, other appropriate valuation models or brokers’ quotes.

For financial instruments carried at amortised cost, the fair value is estimated by discounting future 
cash flows at the current market rate of return for similar financial instruments.

The fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to 
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.
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For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the consolidated financial statements on a recurring 
basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement 
as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on 
the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value 
hierarchy as explained above.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. 
If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates 
the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (“CGU”) recoverable amount is 
the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Where the carrying amount of an asset 
or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate 
valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share 
prices for publicly traded companies or other available fair value indicators.

For non-financial assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there 
is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If 
such indication exists, the Group estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the 
asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the 
carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceeds the carrying amount that 
would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 
prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Post-employment benefits

The Group is liable under Kuwait Labor Law to make payments under defined benefit plans to employees 
at cessation of employment. The defined benefit plan is unfunded and is based on the liability that 
would arise on involuntary termination of all employees on the reporting date. This basis is considered 
to be a reliable approximation of the present value of this liability.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when, as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of economic 
resources will be required to settle a present, legal or constructive obligation and the amount can be 
reliably estimated.

Treasury shares

The Bank’s holding in its own shares is stated at acquisition cost and is recognised in equity. The 
treasury shares are accounted for using the cost method. Under this method, the weighted average 
cost of the shares reacquired is charged to a contra account in the equity. When the treasury shares 
are sold, gains are credited to a separate account in equity, “treasury shares reserve”, which is not 
distributable until all the treasury shares are disposed. Any realised losses are charged to the same 
account to the extent of the credit balance on that account. Any excess losses are charged to retained 



Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2021

120

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.5 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Treasury shares (continued)

earnings then to the voluntary reserve and statutory reserve. Gains realised subsequently on the sale of 
treasury shares are first used to offset any previously recorded losses in the order of reserves, retained 
earnings and the treasury shares reserve account. These shares are not entitled to any cash dividend 
that the Bank may propose. The issue of bonus shares increases the number of shares proportionately 
and reduces the average cost per share without affecting the total cost of treasury shares.

Contingencies

Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed when 
an inflow of economic benefit is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements, but are disclosed 
unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefit is remote.

Segment information

A segment is a distinguishable component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it earns 
revenues and incurs costs. The operating segments are used by the management of the Group to allocate 
resources and assess performance. Operating segments exhibiting similar economic characteristics, product 
and services and class of customers are appropriately aggregated and reported as reportable segments.

2.6 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements requires management to make 
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets 
and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, as well as the disclosure of contingent liabilities. 
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material 
adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods.

Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following 
judgments, apart from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

Classification of financial assets
The Group determines the classification of financial assets based on the assessment of the business 
model within which the assets are held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial 
asset are solely payments of principal and profit on the principal amount outstanding. Refer note 2.5 
classification of financial assets for more information.

Classification of real estate
Management decides on acquisition of a real estate whether it should be classified as trading, investment 
property, property under development or property and equipment. 

The Group classifies it as “trading property” if it is acquired principally for sale in the ordinary course 
of business.

The Group classifies it as “investment property” if it is acquired to generate rental income or for capital 
appreciation, or for undetermined future use.
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The Group classifies property as “property under development” if it is acquired with the intention of 
development.

The Group classifies property as “property and equipment” when it is acquired for owner occupation.

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options - Group as lessee
The Group determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods 
covered by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods 
covered by an option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Group applies judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the option to 
renew considering relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the renewal. After 
the commencement date, the Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change 
in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise (or not to exercise) the option 
to renew (e.g., a change in business strategy).

Estimation uncertainty and assumptions

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Expected credit losses of financial instruments

The Group estimates ECL for all financial assets carried at amortised cost (except for balances with the 
CBK and government of Kuwait) or FVOCI except for equity instruments. 

Significant judgements are required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:

*  Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk;

*  Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for measurement of ECL;

*  Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of product/
market and the associated ECL; and

*  Establishing group of similar financial assets for the purpose of measuring ECL.

The Bank regularly reviews its model in the context of actual loss experience and adjusts when necessary.

Valuation of financial instruments with significant unobservable inputs

Valuation techniques for financial instruments with significant unobservable inputs includes estimates 
such as expected cash flows discounted at current rates applicable for items with similar terms and risk 
characteristics; recent arm’s length market transactions; current fair value of another instrument that is 
substantially the same; valuation models etc.

Any changes in these estimates and assumptions as well as the use of different, but equally reasonable 
estimates and assumptions may have an impact on the carrying values of unquoted financial assets.
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3. FINANCE COST AND DISTRIBUTION TO DEPOSITORS

The Bank’s Board of Directors determines the depositors’ share of profit based on the results for the 
respective year for Mudaraba deposits.

4. FEES AND COMMISSION INCOME

This represents income earned from property appraisals, property management fees, letters of credit 
and guarantee fees, debit/credit card, point of sales fees etc.

5. INVESTMENT INCOME

KD 000’s

2021 2020

Dividend income 1,204 856
Change in fair value of financial assets at FVTPL 382 360
Realised gain from sale of debt instruments 888 33
Share of results from associate 131 5
Rental income from investment properties 1,225 884
Gain from sale of investment property (Note 13) - 59

3,830 2,197

6. OTHER INCOME

Other income for the comparative year includes KD 1,607 thousand resulted from an insurance claim 
along with KD 1,896 thousand grant from the Government of Kuwait (Note 28) in line with Manpower and 
Government Restructuring Programme (MGRP).

7. PROVISIONS AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

KD 000’s

2021 2020

Impairment losses on financing receivables (Note 10) 10,252 27,743
Reversal of impairment on non-cash credit facilities (1,032) (339)
Expected credit losses for investment in sukuk - Net (148) 238
Expected credit losses for other financial assets 50 19
Impairment losses on investment properties (Note 13) 71 120
Provision no longer required (5,909) (1,021)
Other provisions (Note 19) 10,749 -

14,033 26,760
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8. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS/ (LOSS) PER SHARE 

Basic and diluted earnings/ (loss) per share is computed by dividing the profit/ (loss) for the year 
attributable to the shareholders of the Bank adjusted for profit paid on Perpetual Tier 1 Sukuk (if any) 
by the weighted average number of shares issued, less treasury shares. The computation of earnings/ 
(loss) per share is as follows:

KD 000’s

2021 2020

Profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of the Bank 10,892 1
Less: profit paid on Perpetual Tier 1 Sukuk (Note 22) )5,117( )5,188(

5,775 (5,187)

2021 2020

Weighted average number of shares issued 1,132,760,724 1,132,760,724
Less: Weighted average number of treasury shares )113,175,067( (113,175,067)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding 1,019,585,657 1,019,585,657

Basic and diluted earnings/ (loss) per share 5.66 fils (5.09) fils

9.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

KD 000’s

2021 2020

Cash 8,984 14,460
Balances with banks 11,569 18,029
Balances with CBK 67,032 78,573

87,585 111,062
Less: Expected credit losses (2) (3)
Cash and balances with banks 87,583 111,059

Murabaha finance with banks
(contractual maturity of 90 days or less) - Net 212,358 317,986

Cash and cash equivalents 299,941 429,045
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10. FINANCING RECEIVABLES

Analysis of financing receivables based on class of financial assets is given below:

KD 000’s

2021 2020

Corporate 1,999,715 1,744,144
Retail 332,643 293,811

2,332,358 2,037,955
Less: Provision for impairment (61,884) (52,929)

2,270,474 1,985,026

 Movement in provision for impairment:

KD 000’s
2021 2020

 Specific
provision

 General
provision Total Specific 

provision
General 

provision Total

Balance at beginning of year 7,107 45,822 52,929 6,228 46,836 53,064

Provision charged/(release) (Note 7) 4,943 5,309 10,252 28,757 (1,014) 27,743

Amounts (written off)/ Recovery (1,399) 102 (1,297) (27,878) - (27,878)

Balance at end of year 10,651 51,233 61,884 7,107 45,822 52,929

The management believes that the impairment provision for financing receivables complies in all material 
respects with the specific provision requirements of CBK. The surplus general provision arising on the 
change in the general provision rate in March 2007 amounts to KD 5,044 thousand and is retained as 
general provision until further directive from the CBK.

Provision on non-cash credit facilities of KD 3,541 thousand as at 31 December 2021 (2020: KD 4,573 
thousand) is included in other liabilities (Note 19).

Expected credit losses on credit facilities determined under IFRS 9 according to CBK guidelines 
amounted to KD 52,247 thousand as at 31 December 2021 (2020: KD 55,167 thousand), which is lower 
than the provision for credit facilities required by CBK instructions of KD 65,425 thousand (2020: KD 
57,502 thousand).
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2021

2020

KD 000’s

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Cash credit facilities
   High 805,308 270,625 - 1,075,933
   Standard 1,009,974 191,212 - 1,201,186
   Impaired - - 55,239 55,239

1,815,282 461,837 55,239 2,332,358

KD 000’s

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Cash credit facilities
   High 738,485 242,087 - 980,572
   Standard 813,788 189,466 - 1,003,254
   Impaired - - 54,129 54,129

1,552,273 431,553 54,129 2,037,955

An analysis of the changes in the Expected Credit Losses in relation to credit facilities (cash facilities) 
computed under IFRS 9 in accordance to the CBK guidelines:

KD 000’s

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
 ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021 6,487 16,293 22,220 45,000
Transfer to Stage 1 447 (49) (398) -
Transfer to Stage 2 (41) 186 (145) -
Transfer to Stage 3 (6) (26) 32 -
ECL allowance for the year (1,049) (1,195) 916 (1,328)
At 31 December 2021 5,838 15,209 22,625 43,672

KD 000’s

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
 ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 5,299 15,175 25,729 46,203
Transfer to Stage 1 626 (71) (555) -
Transfer to Stage 2 (78) 390 (312) -
Transfer to Stage 3 (7) (592) 599 -
ECL allowance for the year 647 1,391 (3,241) (1,203)
At 31 December 2020 6,487 16,293 22,220 45,000

An analysis of the carrying amounts of credit facilities (cash facilities), and the corresponding Expected 
Credit Losses based on the staging criteria under IFRS 9 in accordance with CBK regulations.
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2021

2020

An analysis of the carrying amounts of contingent liabilities and commitments, the amounts in the table 
represent the amounts committed or guaranteed (Non-cash facilities), and the corresponding Expected 
Credit Losses based on the staging criteria under IFRS 9 in accordance with CBK regulations.

KD 000’s

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Non-cash credit facilities
   High 41,441 654 - 42,095
   Standard 258,296 39,269 - 297,565
   Impaired - - 1,352 1,352

299,737 39,923 1,352 341,012

KD 000’s

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Non-cash credit facilities
   High 31,680 5,790 - 37,470
   Standard 194,741 40,265 - 235,006
   Impaired - - 2,638 2,638

226,421 46,055 2,638 275,114

An analysis of the changes in the Expected Credit Losses in relation to credit facilities (non-cash facilities) 
computed under IFRS 9 in accordance to the CBK guidelines.

KD 000’s

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
 ECL allowance as at 1 January 2021 2,661 4,058 2,630 9,349
Transfer to Stage 1 33 (33) - -
Transfer to Stage 2 - - - -
Transfer to Stage 3 - - - -
ECL allowance for the year (687) 389 (1,337) (1,635)
At 31 December 2021 2,007 4,414 1,293 7,714

KD 000’s

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
 ECL allowance as at 1 January 2020 2,416 4,572 2,893 9,881
Transfer to Stage 1 826 (826) - -
Transfer to Stage 2 (150) 150 - -
Transfer to Stage 3 - - - -
ECL allowance for the year (431) 162 (263) (532)
At 31 December 2020 2,661 4,058 2,630 9,349

The carrying amounts of commitments amounted to KD 631,768 thousand as at 31 December 2021 (2020: 
KD 412,506 thousand) and the corresponding Expected Credit Losses amounted to KD 861 thousand 
(2020: KD 818 thousand).

10. FINANCING RECEIVABLES (continued)
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11. INVESTMENT SECURITIES

KD 000’s

2021 2020
Financial assets at FVTPL:
Quoted equity securities 1,233 13,514
Quoted sukuk 494 -

1,727 13,514
Financial assets at FVOCI:
Quoted equity securities 2,878 2,585
Unquoted equity securities 25,733 23,836
Quoted sukuk 265,501 144,427

294,112 170,848
295,839 184,362

Investments in sukuk at FVOCI are subject to expected credit losses. An analysis of changes in the carrying 
amount and the corresponding expected credit losses in relation to investments in sukuk are as follows:

KD 000’s
2021 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Gross carrying amount at beginning of year 137,507 6,920 - 144,427
Additions/ disposals during the year – Net 129,957 (7,005) - 122,952
Transfer between stages - - - -
Fair value and exchange movements (1,963) 85 - (1,878)
Balance at end of year 265,501 - - 265,501

KD 000’s
2020 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Gross carrying amount at beginning of year 131,810 - - 131,810
Additions/ disposals during the year – Net 9,961 - - 9,961
Transfer between stages (6,806) 6,806 - -
Fair value and exchange movements 2,542 114 - 2,656
Balance at end of year 137,507 6,920 - 144,427

KD 000’s
2021 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

ECL allowance at beginning of year 324 253 - 577
Re-measurements during the year 149 12 - 161
Effect from disposal (44) (265) - (309)
Balance at end of year 429 - - 429

KD 000’s
2020 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

ECL allowance at beginning of year 339 - - 339
Re-measurements during the year 12 253 - 265
Effect from disposal (27) - - (27)
Balance at end of year 324 253 - 577
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12. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

Country of 
incorporation

Principal 
activity

% of holding KD 000’s

2021 2020 2021 2020

 Associate of KIB Takaful
Partners Properties Co. W.L.L. Kuwait Real Estate 25.5 25.5 1,674 1,543

There was no published price quotation available for the associate of the Group. There is no 
significant restriction on the ability of the associate to transfer funds to the Group in the form of 
cash dividends or repayment of credit facilities.

13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

KD 000’s

2021 2020

Balance at beginning of year 53,824 58,236

Additions - 68

Disposal (a) - )4,089(

Impairment (Note 7) (71) )120(

Depreciation (208) (271)

Balance at end of year 53,545 53,824

(a) During the prior year, sale of investment properties amounting to KD 4,089 thousand was financed by 
the Bank, which resulted in a net gain of KD 59 thousand (Note 5).

The fair value of investment properties as at 31 December 2021 was KD 60,276 thousand (2020: KD 59,236 
thousand) which was determined by independent valuers who have appropriate qualifications and recent 
experience in the valuation of properties in the relevant locations. The fair values were determined based on 
combination of valuation techniques which include market comparison approach and income capitalisation 
approach. In estimating the fair values of the properties, the highest and the best use of the properties is 
their current use where price per square meter, annual lease income and recent sale transaction for similar 
properties are the significant inputs. There has been no change to the valuation techniques during the year. 
All of the Group’s investment properties are included in level 3 of fair value hierarchy.
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14. OTHER ASSETS 

KD 000’s

2021 2020

Prepayments and refundable deposits 3,478 1,812

Transactions in progress 2,114 1,417

Clearing and under settlement accounts 6,811 4,989

Accrued income 2,287 2,873

Right of use assets - Net 2,354 1,581

Government grant receivable (Note 28) 6,012 -

Others 6,036 6,609

29,092 19,281

15. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Land and buildings were revalued at KD 18,747 thousand (2020: KD 19,336 thousand) using the 
average of the fair values determined by two external valuers who have appropriate qualifications and 
recent experience in the valuation of properties in the relevant locations. The fair values were determined 
based on combination of valuation techniques which include market comparison approach and income 
capitalization approach. In estimating the fair values of the properties, the highest and the best use of the 
properties is their current use. There has been no change to the valuation techniques during the year. 
Land and buildings are included in level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Other equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation amounting to KD 19,460 thousand 
(2020: KD 12,877 thousand). If buildings had been carried at cost less depreciation, the net carrying 
amount that would have been included in these consolidated financial statements is KD 6,193 thousand 
(2020: KD 6,398 thousand).  

16. DUE TO BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

KD 000’s

2021 2020

Murabaha payable to banks 181,006 202,892

Murabaha payable to financial institutions 349,704 446,222

Current and call accounts 31,116 22,272

561,826 671,386

17. DEPOSITORS’ ACCOUNTS
Depositors’ accounts represent Current, Savings, Call, Margin, Mudaraba and Wakala accounts.
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18. SUKUK ISSUED
On 30 November 2020, the Bank through Trust Certificate Issuance Programme (USD 2 Billion) issued 
USD denominated subordinated Tier 2 Sukuk amounting to USD 300 million with a tenor of 10 years 
(callable at each periodic distribution date after 5 years). The Tier 2 Sukuk is listed on the International 
Securities Market of the London Stock Exchange. Sukuk bears a profit rate of 2.375% per annum, payable 
semi-annually in arrears until the First Call Date subject to terms of the issue. After that, the expected 
profit rate will be reset based on prevailing 5-year US Treasury plus a margin of 1.99% per annum. 

These Wakala Sukuk are unsecured and callable in whole at the option of the Bank on 30 November 2025 
and each periodic distribution date thereafter, subject to certain conditions and regulatory approvals.

19. OTHER LIABILITIES 

KD 000’s

2021 2020

Depositors’ profit payable 7,429 6,528
Provision on non-cash credit facilities (Note 10) 3,541 4,573
Accrued staff benefits 12,410 9,288
Payables and purchase orders 8,317 5,530
Dividend payable 1,385 1,526
Accrued expenses 8,884 8,670
Taxes and other dues 497 4
Lease liability 2,274 1,514
Provision against legal cases (Note 7) 10,749 -
Others 8,011 5,051

63,497 42,684

20. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

a) Share capital

KD 000’s

2021 2020
Authorised, issued and fully paid up capital of the Bank
comprises of 1,132,760,724 (2020: 1,132,760,724)
ordinary shares of 100 fils, all shares are paid up in cash 113,275 113,275

b) Treasury shares

2021 2020

Number of treasury shares (‘000 shares) 113,175 113,175
Percentage of treasury shares 9.99% 9.99%
Cost of treasury shares (KD 000’s) 45,234 45,234
Market value of treasury shares (KD 000’s) 24,672 23,540
Weighted average market price (fils/ share) 218 fils 197 fils
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The Board of Directors has been authorised by the shareholders to purchase treasury shares up to a 
maximum of 10% of the share capital of the Bank. Reserves equivalent to the cost of the treasury shares 
held are not available for distribution.

An amount of KD 45,234 thousand (2020: KD 45,234 thousand) from statutory and voluntary reserves 
equivalent to the cost of the treasury shares held by the Group is not available for distribution throughout 
the holding period of treasury shares.

c) Dividends
The Board of Directors’ meeting held on 13 January 2022 recommended the distribution of cash 
dividends of 4 fils per share amounting to KD 4,078 thousand on outstanding shares (excluding treasury 
shares) and bonus shares of 4% on outstanding shares as at 31 December 2021. This proposal is 
subject to the approval by the shareholders’ AGM.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020 and recommendation of 
the Board of Directors dated 14 January 2021 not to distribute cash dividends or bonus shares were 
approved by the Bank’s shareholders on their AGM held on 6 May 2021.
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21. OTHER RESERVES

KD 000’s
 Statutory

reserve
 Voluntary

reserve
 Treasury

 shares
reserve

 Retained
earnings

 Fair
 valuation

 reserve

 Revaluation
surplus

 Foreign
 currency

 translation
adjustments

Total
 other

reserves

Balance as at 1 January 2021 38,737 32,654 4,846 33,068 16,900 14,037 )60( 140,182
Profit for the year - - - 10,892 - - - 10,892
Other comprehensive loss for
the year - - - - (221) - (225) (446)
Total comprehensive income/ 
(loss) for the year - - - 10,892 (221) - )225( 10,446
Transfer due to disposals of 
investment at FVOCI - - - (824) 824 - - -
Depreciation transfer for 
buildings - - - 544 - )544( - -

Transfer to reserves 1,139 1,139 - )2,278( - - - -
Profit paid on Perpetual Tier 1 
Sukuk (Note 22) - - - )5,117( - - - )5,117(

Balance as at 31 December 2021 39,876 33,793 4,846 36,285 17,503 13,493 (285) 145,511

Balance as at 1 January 2020 38,736 32,653 4,846 58,185 19,782 14,581 )120( 168,663
Profit for the year - - - 1 - - - 1
Other comprehensive (loss)/ 
income for the year - - - - (3,960) - 60 (3,900)
Total comprehensive income/ 
(loss) for the year - - - 1 )3,960( -  60 (3,899)

Transfer due to disposals of 
investment at FVOCI - - - )1,078( 1,078 - - -

Modification loss on deferral of 
financing instalments (Note 28) - - - (7,203) - - - (7,203)
Depreciation transfer for buildings - - - 544 - (544) - -
Dividends paid - - - (6,797) - - - (6,797)
Bonus shares - - - (5,394) - - - (5,394)
Transfer to reserves 1 1 - (2) - - - -
Profit paid on Perpetual Tier 1 
Sukuk (Note 22) - - - (5,188) - - - (5,188)
Balance as at 31 December 2020 38,737 32,654 4,846 33,068 16,900 14,037 )60( 140,182
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a) Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Companies’ Law (as amended) and the Articles of Association, the Bank is required 
to transfer to statutory reserve, 10% of the profit for the year before contribution to KFAS, NLST, Zakat and 
directors’ remuneration. Distribution of the statutory reserve is limited to the amount required to enable 
the payment of a dividend of 5% of share capital in years when retained earnings are not sufficient for the 
payment of a dividend of that amount. The Bank has transferred KD 1,139 thousand (2020: KD 1 thousand) 
to the statutory reserve for the year ended 31 December 2021. 

b) Voluntary reserve

In accordance with the Bank’s Articles of Association, 10% of the profit for the year before contribution to 
KFAS, NLST, Zakat and directors’ remuneration is required to be transferred to voluntary reserve. Such annual 
transfers may be discontinued by a resolution of the Bank’s shareholders AGM upon a recommendation by 
the Board of Directors. The Bank has transferred KD 1,139 thousand (2020: KD 1 thousand) to the voluntary 
reserve for the year ended 31 December 2021.

c) Share premium

The share premium account is not available for distribution.

d) Revaluation surplus

The revaluation surplus represents the surplus of market value over carrying value of land and buildings (net 
of incremental depreciation). The balance in this reserve will be directly transferred to retained earnings on 
disposal of the underlying assets.

22. PERPETUAL TIER 1 SUKUK
On 10 June 2019, the Bank through a Shariaá compliant Sukuk arrangement issued RegS Tier 1 Sukuk 
amounting to USD 300 million. Tier 1 Sukuk is a perpetual security in respect of which there is no fixed 
redemption date and constitutes direct, unsecured, deeply subordinated obligations (senior only to share 
capital) of the Bank subject to the terms and conditions of the Mudaraba Agreement. The Tier 1 Sukuk is 
listed on the Irish Stock Exchange (Euronext Dublin) and is callable by the Bank after five-year period ending 
10 June 2024 (the “First Call Date”) or any profit payment date thereafter subject to certain redemption 
conditions including prior regulatory approvals.

The net proceeds from Tier 1 Sukuk are invested by way of Mudaraba with the Bank (as “Mudareb”) on an 
unrestricted basis, by the Bank in its general business activities carried out through the general Mudaraba 
pool. Tier 1 Sukuk bears a profit rate of 5.625% per annum to be paid semi-annually in arrears until the 
First Call Date subject to terms of the issue. After that, the expected profit rate will be reset based on then 
prevailing 5 year US Treasury plus a margin of 3.6% per annum.

At the issuer’s sole discretion, it may elect not to make any Mudaraba distributions expected and in such 
event, the Mudaraba profit will not be accumulated and will not constitute a default event. During the current 
year, the Bank paid profit amounting to KD 5,117 thousand (2020: KD 5,188 thousand) on this Perpetual 
Tier 1 Sukuk

23. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
To meet the financial needs of customers, the Group enters into various contingent liabilities and revocable 
commitments. Even though these obligations may not be recognised on the consolidated statement of 
financial position, they expose the Group to credit risk and therefore form part of the overall risk of the Group.
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The total outstanding commitments and contingent liabilities are as follows:

KD 000’s

2021 2020

Acceptances 25,213 6,281
Letters of credit 4,923 4,865
Letters of guarantee 310,876 263,968

341,012 275,114

The Group also has revocable cash commitments to extend credit amounting to KD 373,351 thousand 
(2020: KD 252,048 thousand).

24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
These are transactions with certain related parties (major shareholders, associate, directors and 
executive officers of the Bank, close members of their families and companies in which they are principal 
owners or over which they are able to exercise significant influence) who were customers of the Bank in 
the ordinary course of business. Such transactions were made on substantially the same terms including 
profit rates as those prevailing at the same time for comparable transactions with unrelated parties and 
did not involve more than a normal amount of risk. Transactions with subsidiaries is eliminated in full and 
hence not disclosed.

The transactions and balances with related parties included in this consolidated financial statements are 
as follows: 

KD 000’s

Major 
shareholders

and other 
related parties Associate

Directors 
and

Executive 
officers

2021 2020

Balances
Financing receivables 137,682 - 54,804 192,486 188,494
Credit cards - - 34 34 30
Deposits 29,024 263 7,059 36,346 28,130
Commitments and contingent liabilities 83,857 - 4,095 87,952 93,873
Collaterals against credit facilities 111,438 - 68,359 179,797 170,493

Transactions
Financing income 4,943 - 1,654 6,597 8,381
Distribution to depositors 242 - 23 265 365
Others - - 435 435 311
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2021 2020

No. of
 Directors

 and
 Executive

officers

KD 000’s

No. of
Directors 

and 
Executive 

officers

KD 000’s

Directors
Financing receivables 5 54,417 4 46,008
Deposits 10 5,934 8 5,845
Commitments and contingent liabilities 4 3,991 4 5,563
Collaterals against credit facilities 4 68,359 4 63,833

Executive officers
Financing receivables 14 387 8 257
Credit cards 24 34 16 30
Deposits 29 1,125 21 1,123
Commitments and contingent liabilities 25 104 18 84

The key management and directors’ remuneration for the year was as follows:

KD 000’s

2021 2020
Key management personnel compensation:

Short-term benefits 3,738 2,546
Post-employment benefits 222 178

3,960 2,724

The Bank’s Board of Directors has proposed Directors’ fees of KD Nil for the year ended 31 December 
2021 (2020: KD Nil) within the limit permissible under local regulations and is subject to approval of 
shareholders at their AGM. Remuneration of Chairman and Board of Directors includes compensation 
for contribution related to participation in the various board committees in accordance with Board of 
Directors’ decisions.

25. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on the reports reviewed by the Chief Executive 
Officer that are used for strategic decisions. These segments are strategic business units that offer 
different products and services. They are managed separately since the nature of the products and 
services, class of customers and marketing strategies of these segments are different.

These operating segments meet the criteria for reportable segments and are as follows:

Commercial and
International Banking             :

Comprising of range of banking services and investment products 
to corporate customers providing commodity and real estate 
Murabaha finance, Ijara and Wakala facilities.
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Retail Banking   : Comprising of range of banking services and investment 
products to individual customers, providing commodity 
Murabaha finance, Ijara, Wakala and Musawama facilities.

Treasury, Fund Management
and Institutional Banking :

Comprising of liquidity management, correspondent banking, 
clearing, Murabaha investments, exchange of deposits with banks 
and financial institutions.

Investment Management : Comprising of investment in an associate and other investments, 
including investment properties.

Others    : Comprising of those which is not pertaining to the above segments 
and includes those relating to all subsidiaries.

Management monitors the operating segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about 
resource allocation and performance assessment.

The Group measures the performance of operating segments through measures of segment operating 
income and results in management reporting system.

Segment assets principally comprise of all assets and segment liabilities comprise of all liabilities that 
are attributable to the segment.

The following table presents operating income, results for the year, total assets and total liabilities 
information regarding the Group’s reportable segments.

KD 000’s

2021

Commercial 
and

International 
Banking

Retail Treasury, Fund 
Management

and Institutional 
Banking

Investment
Management

Others Total

Segment operating income 62,588 8,695 (15,341) 8,175 2,674 66,791
Segment results
- Depreciation - - - - (4,423) (4,423)
- Provisions and impairment 

losses (4,679) 336 29 52 (9,771) (14,033)

Segment profit/ (loss) 30,775 3,230 940 3,737 (27,605) 11,077
Segment assets 1,945,572 333,146 504,203 295,361 56,787 3,135,069
Segment liabilities 443,288 807,646 1,471,144 - 55,268 2,777,346

2020
Segment operating income 65,180 7,842 (20,799) 5,853 5,770 63,846
Segment results
- Depreciation - - - - (4,237) (4,237)
- Provisions and impairment 

losses (24,492) (2,533) 5 (355) 615 (26,760)

Segment (loss)/ profit (3,875) 7,456 4,124 (916) (6,666) 123
Segment assets 1,698,081 291,548 553,820 211,938 46,208 2,801,595
Segment liabilities 283,990 717,612 1,413,939 - 33,735 2,449,276

The Group operates from the State of Kuwait only.

25. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(a) Strategy in using financial instruments

As an Islamic bank, the Bank’s activities are principally related to the sourcing of funds through Shariaá 
compliant financial instruments, within the guidelines prescribed by CBK and deploying these funds in 
Shariaá compliant financing and investment activities, to earn a profit. The profits are shared between 
the shareholders as well as the profit sharing deposit account holders, as per policies and proportions 
determined by the Board of Directors and Fatwa and Shariaá Supervisory Board. The funds raised 
vary in maturity between short and longer tenors and are mainly in Kuwaiti Dinars, apart from major 
foreign currencies (including GCC currencies). While deploying the funds, the Bank focuses on the 
safety of the funds as well as maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet all claims that may fall due. Safety 
of shareholders and depositor funds is further enhanced by diversification of financing activities across 
economic and geographic sectors, as well as borrower types.

(b) Overall risk management

The main objective of risk management in the Group is to achieve an optimum balance between risk 
and reward with the twin goals of profit maximisation and capital conservation.

The Group’s risk management framework is built around this objective and seeks to address specific 
concerns of the various stakeholders such as shareholders, CBK, rating agencies, customers, depositors 
and the general public.

The Group’s commitment to the creation and maintenance of effective risk management systems and 
procedures is evidenced by the oversight responsibility given to the Board Risk Management Committee 
(“BRMC”) by the Board of Directors.

The Group has established a prudent and professional approach to risk taking with the following 
underlying principles that support its risk management framework:

• Actively promoting an overall culture that accords high value to disciplined and effective risk management;

• Using professionally qualified people with appropriate risk management skills;

• Disciplined processes for evaluation and acceptance of risk within appropriate limits in individual 
transactions, products and the management of financing and investments;

• A management information system that provides timely and accurate information on risks to the relevant 
management group and the commitment to continuously upgrade these systems and apply the most up-
to-date analytical tools and systems to properly capture risks, monitor positions and determine the impact 
of potential management actions; and

• An internal audit function to ensure ongoing adherence to and integrity of risk management processes.

The Bank’s Risk Management Department headed by independent Chief Risk Officer, is primarily 
responsible for the risk management in the Bank under the direction of BRMC. The Risk Management 
Department is structured in a manner which facilitates focused attention on each of the specific risk 
arising from financial instruments and structures, e.g., credit, liquidity, market (encompassing foreign 
exchange, profit rate, equity risks) and other risks such as operational risks.
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The Group’s risk management methodologies include:
• Pro-active methodologies such as continuous review and enhancement of: the Group’s policies and 

procedures; development and enhancement of risk measurement tools such as risk grading models, 
pricing models and VaR models; risk inputs in respect of the Group’s strategic planning as well as 
structuring and review of product and services.

• On-going methodologies, such as risk management reviews and inputs in respect of financing and 
investment proposals; reviews and inputs of new products and services; periodical review of the financing 
and investment portfolio by way of reports and highlighting perceived risks to top management as well as 
line functionaries; continuous monitoring of market, operational and technology related risks. 

• Post fact methodologies, such as review of proposals and trends in respect of provisions; write-offs and 
disposal of investments.

The Group is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and operational risk.

(i) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and 
cause the other party to incur a financial loss. This includes the risk of decline in the credit standing of 
the customer. While such decline does not imply default, it increases the probability of the customer 
defaulting. Financial instruments that create credit risk include financing receivables, contingent liabilities 
and commitments to extend credit and investment in sukuk.

Credit risk management structure
To manage credit risk underwriting, the Group has established a board level Strategy and Finance and 
Investment Committee (“BSFIC”) and the following management-level committees assist in this regard:

• Finance and Investment Committee (“FIC”)

• Provisioning and Impairment Committee (“PIC”)

The BSFIC is responsible for reviewing and approving the credit and investment proposals that are 
beyond the delegated authorities of the management-level Finance and Investment Committee and 
review the Provision Committee recommendations with regard to credit facilities, financing relationships, 
financing limits, pricing, profitability and investment activities.

The management-level FIC is responsible for safeguarding the asset quality of the Bank and ensuring 
profitable use of funds. The Committee review the Bank’s credit policy in line with CBK guidelines for 
commercial and retail credit as well as the cross-border and inter-bank counterparty risk. The Committee 
approve or renew credit and investment proposals within the Committee’s financing limits and reviews 
and concurs in the approval process for extension of credit in excess of the authority to be approved 
by BSFIC.

The PIC is primarily responsible for determining the provisions required for impaired facilities when the 
facility is not already classified as irregular according to CBK regulations (i.e. the Watch list classification 
of financing facilities). In addition, the Committee also reviews the IFRS 9 ECL and required provisions 
for irregular financing facilities to ensure compliance with CBK regulations.

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
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In accordance with the instructions of the CBK dated 18 December 1996, setting out the rules and 
regulations regarding the classification of credit facilities, the Bank has formed this internal committee 
which is composed of competent professional staff and which is responsible for the study and evaluation of 
the existing credit facilities of each customer of the Bank. This Committee, meets regularly throughout the 
year, is required to identify any abnormal situations and difficulties associated with a customer’s position, 
which may cause the debt to be classified as irregular, and to determine an appropriate provisioning 
level. The Committee also studies the position of customers whose irregular balances exceed 25% of their 
total debt, in order to determine whether further provisions are required. This committee also oversees 
expected credit loss of the facilities and adherence to IFRS 9 guidelines issued by the CBK.

Credit risk management strategy and process
The Bank manages its credit facilities portfolio with the objective of ensuring that it is well diversified and 
it earns a level of return appropriate to the risk it assumes.

In the course of normal business, the Bank deploys its funds in various credit facilities, with the primary 
objective of generating profits for the shareholders and depositors. However, at the same time, the 
Bank seeks to ensure the quality of the credit facilities. The Bank continually strives to achieve an 
optimal balance between the return and credit quality of the portfolio.

The Bank’s policies and procedures manuals, dealing with credit, lay down the credit risk management 
framework by specifying various covenants and credit standards which inter alia include:

• clear definition of roles and responsibilities of the various functionaries involved in the different stages 
of the credit facility life cycle;

• establishing clear approval authority structure both for routine as well as exceptional credit facilities;

• listing beneficiary, facility, collateral and pricing parameters for the Bank’s product-set;

• standardising credit approval packages;

• defining criteria for collateral valuation and policies for collateral management;

• detailing the procedures for the entire credit life-cycle, including non performing portfolio management;

• ensuring, by way of limits, a diversification of the credit portfolio across markets within the constraint 
of the business strategy, sectors and counterparties.

Credit risk measurement
The Bank measures credit risk in terms of asset quality using two primary measures – the provisioning 
ratio, IFRS 9 ECL based provisioning and the non-performing financing receivables ratio. The non-
performing financing receivables ratio is the ratio of non-performing financing receivables to total 
financing receivables.

Assessment of expected credit losses 

Definition of default
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default and therefore Stage 3 (credit impaired) for ECL 

calculations when:

• the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group 
to actions such as realising security (if any is held); 
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(i) Credit risk (continued)
• the borrower is past due more than 90 days on any material credit obligation to the Group; or

• borrower is considered as credit impaired based on qualitative assessment for internal credit risk 
management purposes

Any stressed facility that has been restructured would be considered as Stage 2 for ECL estimation.

The Group considers investments and inter-bank balances as in default when the profit-portion or 
principal payment is past due for 1 day. The Group considers externally-rated portfolio with ratings ‘D’ 
for S&P and Fitch, and ‘C’ for Moody’s as defaulted.

The Group considers a variety of indicators that may indicate unlikeliness to pay as part of a qualitative 
assessment of whether a customer is in default. Such indicators include:

• breaches of covenants

• borrower having past due liabilities to public creditors or employees

• borrower is deceased

Significant increase in credit risk
The Group continuously monitors all assets subject to ECLs. In order to determine whether an instrument 
or a portfolio of instruments is subject to 12 months ECL or life time ECL, the Group assesses whether 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The quantitative criteria 
used to determine a significant increase in credit risk is a series of relative and absolute thresholds. All 
financial assets that are more than 30 days past due are deemed to have significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition and migrated to stage 2 even if other criteria do not indicate a significant 
increase in credit risk.

The Group considers a 2 notch downgrade (based on 21 Grade rating scale) as a significant increase 
in credit risk for externally rated instruments with an “investment grade” rating at inception whereas for 
instruments with a below “investment grade” rating at inception, 1 notch downgrade is considered as a 
significant increase in credit risk. Similarly the Group applies a consistent quantitative criteria for internally 
rated portfolio to assess significant increase in credit risk. In the absence of ratings at inception, the Group 
considers current rating at reporting date to determine if there is significant increase in credit risk and in 
such cases the instruments below investments grade or its equivalent will be considered as stage 2.

The Group considers a financial instrument with an external rating of “investment grade” as at the 
reporting date to have low credit risk. In addition to the above quantitative criteria, the Group applies 
qualitative criteria for the assessment of significant increase in credit risk based on monitoring of certain 
early warning signals.

Internal rating and PD estimation process

In managing its portfolio, the Group utilises ratings and other measures and techniques which seek to 
take account of all aspects of perceived risk. The Bank uses Moody’s Creditlens rating system, which 
enable to provide appropriate-rating grades based on Financial and Non -financial aspects. This is 
sophisticated rating tools, which enhances the measuring the perceived credit risk more accurately. 
The Creditlens provides the ability to analyze a business and produce risk ratings at obligor levels. 
The analysis supports the usage of financial factors as well as non-financial subjective factors. The 
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Group also uses external ratings by recognised rating agencies for externally rated portfolios. The Group 
continuously upgrades risk management tools and techniques. To enhance the discriminatory and 
predictive power of the rating systems bank perform periodical independent external validation exercise.

The Probability of Default (“PD”) is the likelihood that an obligor will default on its obligations in the 
future. IFRS 9 requires the use of point in time (“PIT”) PD and depending on the facility staging (1 or 2) a 
12-month duration and lifetime duration is considered. A PD used for IFRS 9 should reflect the Group’s 
estimate of the future asset quality. The through the cycle (“TTC”) PDs are generated from legacy rating 
system based on the internal/external credit ratings currently. The bank is in the process of transitioning 
into Moody’s Credit Lens (CL) Credit Rating system for PD estimation process. The Group converts the 
TTC PD to PIT PD term structures using appropriate models and techniques.

The Group assesses the PD for its retail portfolio through behavioral scorecards implemented in the Group. 
The scorecards are based on logistic regression technique. This enables the evaluation of score and 
PD associated against each facility. Term structure of PD is based on hazard rate concept. The survival 
distribution used is exponential distribution. The probability distribution function of an exponentially 
distributed random variable is used with the hazard rate as the PD evaluated from the Behavioral scorecard. 

Exposure at default
Exposure at default (“EAD”) represents the amount which the obligor will owe to the Group at the time of 
default. The Group considers variable exposures that may increase the EAD in addition to the drawn credit 
line. These exposures arise from undrawn limits and contingent liabilities. Therefore, the exposure will contain 
both on and off balance sheet values. EAD is estimated taking into consideration the contractual terms such 
as profit rates, frequency, reference curves, maturity, amortization schedule, usage given default, etc. EAD 
for retail financing incorporate prepayment assumptions (if any) whereas for credit cards portfolio, credit 
conversion factors are applied (based on CBK guidelines) to estimate the future draw downs.

Loss given default

Loss given default (“LGD”) is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Group estimates 
LGD parameters based on the history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The 
LGD models consider the structure, collateral, seniority of the claim, counterparty industry and recovery 
costs (if any) of any collateral that is integral to the financial asset. The Group applies CBK prescribed 
haircuts for the collateral categories while estimating LGD. For all unsecured credit facilities, the Group 
considers a minimum of 50% LGD for senior debt and 75% LGD for subordinated debt. 

Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Group considers various key economic variables which reflect the continuing uncertainties and 
effects stemming from Covid-19 and other emerging risks, which may be expected to have an impact 
on credit risk and the expected credit losses (ECL), when incorporating forward-looking information into 
the ECL models. Key economic variables include, but are not limited to, Gross Domestic Product, Equity 
price index, Oil prices, and Government expenditure. Together, they provide reasonable indications and 
forecasts of future macro-economic conditions. The consideration of such factors increases the degree of 
judgment in determination of ECL. The Group employs statistical models which incorporate the effect of 
macro-economic factors to adjust the historical TTC PDs to arrive at the PiT PDs. The Group considers three 
scenarios (baseline, benign and severe) of forecasts of macro-economic data separately for designated 
geographies and segments, and appropriate probability weights are applied to these scenarios to derive 
a probability-weighted outcome of expected credit loss. Management reviews the methodologies and 
assumptions including any forecasts of future economic conditions, on a regular basis.
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The probability-weighted scenarios (Baseline, Benign, and Severe) increased the bank’s reported 
allowance for credit losses for financing receivables in Stage 1 and Stage 2, relative to our Baseline 
scenario, by KD 3,912 thousand (2020: increased by KD 3,126 thousand). If the Bank were to use only 
the Severe scenario, allowance for credit losses on performing loans (Stage 1 and Stage 2) would be 
KD 3,487 thousand (2020: KD 14,761 thousand) higher than the reported allowance for credit losses as 
at 31 December 2021. Actual results will differ as this does not consider the migration of exposures or 
incorporate changes that would occur in the portfolio due to risk mitigation actions and other factors.

Under current probability-weighted scenarios, if all performing loans were in Stage 1, reflecting a 
12-month expected loss period, the allowance for credit losses would be KD 15,057 thousand as at 
31 December 2021 (2020: KD 13,891 thousand) lower than the reported allowance for credit losses on 
financing receivables.

Maximum exposure to credit risk

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the consolidated 
statement of financial position, without taking account of any collateral and other credit enhancements. 
The gross maximum exposure is shown net of deferred profit and provision, before the effect of mitigation 
through the use of master netting and collateral agreements. 

KD 000’s
2021 2020

 Credit risk exposures relating to consolidated statement of financial
position items:

Balances with banks 78,599 96,599

Deposits with the Central Bank of Kuwait 146,297 96,301

Due from banks 212,358 317,986

Financing receivables 2,270,474 1,985,026

Investment in sukuk 265,995 144,427

Other assets 22,229 14,046

Total 2,995,952 2,654,385

Credit risk exposures relating to contingent liabilities:

Acceptances 25,213 6,281
Letters of credit 4,923 4,865
Letters of guarantee 310,876 263,968
Total 341,012 275,114
Total credit risk exposure 3,336,964 2,929,499

Credit risk can also arise due to a significant concentration of Bank’s assets to any single counterparty; 
this risk is managed by diversification of the portfolio. The 20 largest gross customers’ accounts for 21% 
(2020: 21%) of total credit risk exposures as at 31 December 2021.

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(i) Credit risk (continued)
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Risk concentrations of the maximum exposure to credit risk
Concentrations of credit risk arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business 
activities, or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would cause 
their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or 
other conditions. Concentrations of credit risk indicate the relative sensitivity of the Bank’s performance to 
developments affecting a particular industry or geographic location.

Geographical and industry sector concentrations of financial assets and off balance sheet items are as 
follows: 

KD 000’s

2021 2020

 Financial
assets

 Contingent
liabilities

Financial
assets

Contingent 
liabilities

Geographic region:
Asia * 70,880 18,315 33,410 9,507
North America 9,637 - 12,610 -
Middle East (excluding Kuwait) 250,733 17,076 117,286 12,033
Europe 21,975 12,739 14,236 11,268
Kuwait 2,642,727 292,882 2,476,843 242,306

2,995,952 341,012 2,654,385 275,114

Industry sector:
Personal 324,724 - 289,647 -
Banking and financial institutions 933,407 33,141 836,735 20,345
Real Estate 749,060 723 702,785 3,747
Construction 85,417 139,194 117,252 126,804
Others 903,344 167,954 707,966 124,218

2,995,952 341,012 2,654,385 275,114

* Includes IILM Sukuk amounting to KD 60,508 thousand (2020: KD 33,374 thousand).  

Credit risk mitigation
Credit risk mitigation techniques that the Bank is permitted to use are collateral, netting and guarantees 
provided under certain conditions, which include such agreements being binding on all parties and legal 
enforceability, are met.

The Bank’s financing policy specifies the acceptable types of collateral, source of valuation, accuracy 
of valuation and frequency of revaluation in respect of collateral. The policy also specifies the maximum 
facility commitment to collateral value and approval levels for different types of collateral and facility. The 
accepted collaterals are cash, first demand bank guarantees, securities and real estate.

As part of its general collateral control mechanism, the Bank periodically revalues all collateral to ascertain 
that the collateral cover is not lower than the value at the time of the original approval. The Bank also 
continuously monitors the validity and expiry dates of mortgages to ensure their timely renewal.

The main types of guarantors are individuals and corporate entities. If guarantor is rated by any of the three 
rating agencies (approved by the CBK for the purposes of calculation of capital adequacy), the Bank has 
considered the guarantor related credit risk mitigation allowance while arriving at the capital adequacy.
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(i) Credit risk (continued)
Collateral and other credit enhancements

The amount and type of collateral required depend on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty. 
Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters.

Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with 
the underlying agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of the 
adequacy of the allowance for impairment losses.

It is the Bank’s policy to dispose-off repossessed properties in an orderly fashion. The proceeds are 
used to reduce or repay the outstanding claim. In general, the Bank does not occupy repossessed 
properties for business use. 

At 31 December 2021, 50% (2020: 53%) of the total outstanding financing receivables were fully secured.

Credit quality of financial instruments   
The Bank classifies the various credit risk exposure which are neither past due nor impaired into two 
categories of credit quality as under:

• High quality: Regular exposures covered fully by collateral in excess of 100% of the 
outstanding amount and those where the ultimate risk of financial loss from 
the obligor’s failure to discharge its obligation is assessed to be low.

• Standard quality: All other regular exposures.

The table below shows the credit risk exposure by credit quality of assets by class and grade, net of 
deferred profit and provision:

KD 000’s

 Neither past due nor impaired            Past due/
2021 High quality Standard quality impaired Total

Balances with banks 78,599 - - 78,599
Deposits with the Central Bank 
of Kuwait 146,297 - - 146,297

Due from banks 212,358 - - 212,358
Financing receivables 861,788 1,116,350 292,336 2,270,474
Investment in sukuk 265,995 - - 265,995
Other assets 22,229 - - 22,229

1,587,266 1,116,350 292,336 2,995,952
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KD 000’s

 Neither past due nor impaired                Past due/

2020 High quality Standard quality impaired Total

Balances with banks 96,599 - - 96,599
Deposits with the Central Bank 
of Kuwait 96,301 - - 96,301

Due from banks 317,986 - - 317,986
Financing receivables 801,390 895,399 288,237 1,985,026
Investment in sukuk 144,427 - - 144,427
Other assets 14,046 - - 14,046

1,470,749 895,399 288,237 2,654,385

Ageing analysis of past due but not impaired or impaired of financing receivables as per class of 
financial assets as per CBK instructions:

KD 000’s

Corporate Consumer Total

2021  Past due but
not impaired Impaired

 Past due but
not impaired Impaired

 Past due but
not impaired Impaired

Up to 30 days 196,088 - 11,045 - 207,133 -

31 – 60 days 12,672 - 3,587 - 16,259 -
61 – 90 days 21,367 - 2,384 - 23,751 -
91 – 180 days - - - 394 - 394
More than 180 days - 44,112 - 687 - 44,799

230,127 44,112 17,016 1,081 247,143 45,193

KD 000’s

Corporate Consumer Total

2020  Past due but
not impaired Impaired

 Past due but
not impaired Impaired

 Past due but
not impaired Impaired

Up to 30 days 188,919 - 8,462 - 197,381 -
31 – 60 days 8,014 - 2,798 - 10,812 -
61 – 90 days 30,109 - 2,266 - 32,375 -
91 – 180 days - 585 - 903 - 1,488
More than 180 days - 46,181 - - - 46,181

227,042 46,766 13,526 903 240,568 47,669

As at 31 December 2021, the fair value of collaterals held by the Bank against individually past due or 
impaired amounted to KD 308,150 thousand (2020: KD 257,392 thousand).
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(ii) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. To limit liquidity risk, 
management has arranged diversified funding sources in addition to its core deposit base, manages 
assets with liquidity in mind, and monitors liquidity on a daily basis.
The Bank’s management of liquidity risk is consistent with its overall risk management framework and 
includes establishing minimum liquid asset requirements and limits with regards to the acceptance of 
short-term wholesale deposits to protect against short term liquidity demands.
The Bank monitors liquidity risk by measuring the liquidity gaps on a daily basis and the position is 
reviewed by asset liability management committee (“ALCO”) on a monthly basis. Similarly, liquidity 
reserve position, Liquidity Coverage Ratio, Net Stable Funding Ratio and the ratio of financing facilities to 
eligible deposits are monitored on a daily basis.
The Bank measures liquidity risk by preparing and monitoring the maturity profile of its assets and liabilities 
as disclosed below: 

KD 000’s

2021
Up to

1 month
1-3

months
3-12

months
Over

1 year Total

Assets
Cash and balances with banks 87,583 - - - 87,583
Deposits with the Central Bank of 
Kuwait 70,586 33,570 42,141 - 146,297

Due from banks 212,358 - - - 212,358
Financing receivables 296,296 585,022 629,052 760,104 2,270,474
Investment securities 9,075 30,254 21,179 235,331 295,839
Investment in an associate - - - 1,674 1,674
Investment properties - - - 53,545 53,545
Other assets 17,559 652 5,922 4,959 29,092
Property and equipment - - - 38,207 38,207
Total assets 693,457 649,498 698,294 1,093,820 3,135,069
Liabilities
Due to banks and financial 
institutions 345,278 77,169 139,379 - 561,826

Depositors’ accounts 777,479 663,922 434,849 185,376 2,061,626
Sukuk issued - - - 90,397 90,397
Other liabilities 55,595 - - 7,902 63,497
Total liabilities 1,178,352 741,091 574,228 283,675 2,777,346
Net liquidity gap (484,895) (91,593) 124,066 810,145 357,723

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
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KD 000’s

2020 Up to
1 month

1-3
months

3-12
months

Over
1 year Total

Assets
Cash and balances with banks 111,059 - - - 111,059
Deposits with the Central Bank of 
Kuwait 27,605 33,573 35,123 - 96,301

Due from banks 280,666 37,320 - - 317,986
Financing receivables 306,343 399,074 599,504 680,105 1,985,026
Investment securities 12,967 12,136 10,623 148,636 184,362
Investment in an associate - - - 1,543 1,543
Investment properties - - - 53,824 53,824
Other assets 5,663 544 7,939 5,135 19,281
Property and equipment - - - 32,213 32,213
Total assets 744,303 482,647 653,189 921,456 2,801,595
Liabilities
Due to banks and financial 
institutions 417,998 125,309 121,577 6,502 671,386

Depositors’ accounts 590,955 662,420 241,449 149,979 1,644,803
Sukuk issued - - - 90,403 90,403
Other liabilities 34,268 - - 8,416 42,684
Total liabilities 1,043,221 787,729 363,026 255,300 2,449,276
Net liquidity gap (298,918) (305,082) 290,163 666,156 352,319

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual 
undiscounted repayment obligations. Repayments which are subject to notice are treated as if notice 
were to be given immediately.

KD 000’s

2021
Less than

1 month
1-3

Months
3-12

Months
1 to 5
years

Over
5 years Total

Due to banks and financial institutions 345,309 77,339 140,493 - - 563,141
Depositors’ accounts 777,539 664,819 437,020 185,376 - 2,064,754
Sukuk issued - - - 99,371 - 99,371
Other liabilities 55,595 - - - 7,902 63,497

1,178,443 742,158 577,513 284,747 7,902 2,790,763

KD 000’s

2020
Less than

1 month
1-3

Months
3-12

Months
1 to 5
years

Over
5 years Total

Due to banks and financial institutions 418,855 125,565 121,844 6,515 - 672,779
Depositors’ accounts 591,386 662,902 241,625 150,088 - 1,646,001

Sukuk issued - - - - 101,778 101,778
Other liabilities 34,268 - - - 8,416 42,684

1,044,509 788,467 363,469 156,603 110,194 2,463,242
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The table below shows the contractual expiry of the Group’s contingent liabilities and commitments.

KD 000’s

2021
Less than

1 month
1-3

Months
3-12

Months
1 to 5
years

Over
5 years Total

Contingent liabilities 29,060 58,111 152,380 93,292 8,169 341,012

Commitments 46,576 43,301 134,434 94,407 54,633 373,351

75,636 101,412 286,814 187,699 62,802 714,363

KD 000’s

2020
Less than

1 month
1-3

Months
3-12

Months
1 to 5
years

Over
5 years Total

Contingent liabilities 12,209 38,435 128,371 91,830 4,269 275,114

Commitments 54,571 29,817 66,931 86,005 14,724 252,048

66,780 68,252 195,302 177,835 18,993 527,162

(iii) Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises of three types of risk including profit rate risk, currency 
risk and other price risk (other than those arising from rate of return risk or currency risk).

The objective of market risk management is to manage and control exposures within acceptable parameters, 
whilst optimising returns. Given the Group’s current profile of financial instruments, the principal exposure 
is the risk of loss arising from fluctuations in the future cash flows or fair values of these financial instruments 
because of a change in achievable rates. This is managed principally through monitoring repricing gaps 
and the economic value of equity. ALCO reviews these on a monthly basis.

Market risk management structure

The overall responsibility of managing the Bank’s market risks is of ALCO. The day to day management 
of market risks is the responsibility of the Treasury Department. Risk Management Department identifies, 
measures and monitors the overall market risk of the Bank.

The International Banking Department is responsible for annually reviewing and proposing country and 
financial institutions limits. Risk Management Department is responsible for risk assessment of the financial 
institutions and country limits and making recommendations to the approving authorities.

Market risk management strategy and process

The Group has established risk management policies and limits within which exposure to market risks is 
monitored and controlled.

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(ii) Liquidity risk (continued)
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(iii a) Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Group views itself as a Kuwaiti entity, with the 
Kuwaiti Dinars as its functional currency. The Board of Directors has set limits on positions by currency. 
Positions are monitored on a daily basis to ensure that they are maintained within established limits:

The Group had the following net exposures denominated in foreign currencies:

KD 000’s

2021 2020

US Dollars (10,876) 24,284
Qatari Riyal (29) (61)
Euro 157 42
Sterling Pounds 12 (45)
Saudi Riyal (519) (111)
Bahraini Dinar (48) (76)
UAE Dirham (189) 17
Others (141) (223)

(11,633) 23,827

(iii b) Equity price risk

This is a risk that the fair value or future cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market prices (other than those arising from rate of return risk or currency risk), whether those 
changes are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all 
instruments traded in the market. The Group manages this risk through diversification of investments in 
terms of geographical distribution and industry concentration. The sensitivity of the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements to the equity price risk is given below.

For investment securities classified as FVOCI, a five percent increase in listed stock prices as at 31 
December 2021 would have increased equity by KD 144 thousand (2020: KD 129 thousand). For such 
investment securities classified as at FVTPL, the impact on profit or loss would have been an increase of 
KD 61 thousand (2020: an increase KD 47 thousand). An equal change in the opposite direction would 
have had equal, but opposite effect to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables 
remain constant.

(iv) Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems, 
or from external events. Operational risk could also emanate through cybersecurity risk, which is becoming 
prominent as the Bank move towards more digital activities.

The Group’s business and support units have primary responsibility for identifying, assessing and managing 
their operational risks. They employ internal control techniques to reduce their likelihood or impact to 
tolerable levels within the Group’s risk appetite. Where appropriate, risk is mitigated by way of insurance.

The Group has a set of policies and procedures that are applied to identify, assess and control 
operations risk in addition to other types of risks relating to the banking and financial activities of the 
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(iv) Operational risk (continued)
Bank. Operational risk is managed through the Risk Management Department. This department ensures 
compliance with policies and procedures to identify, assess, control and monitor operational risk as 
part of overall risk management.

The management of operational risks complies in all material respects with CBK instructions dated 14 
November 1996, regarding general guidelines for internal control systems and directive issued on 13 
October 2003, regarding “Sound practices for management and control of operational risks”.

The Bank has implemented an operational risk management system which enables it to measure, 
monitor and report the operational risks encompassing risk and control self-assessments (“RCSAs”), 
key risk indicators (“KRIs”), loss data base and incident reports. 

(v) Fair values of financial instruments  
Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices, discounted cash flow models and other models as 
appropriate. 

Other financial assets and liabilities are carried at amortised cost and the carrying values are not 
materially different from their fair values as most of these assets and liabilities are of short-term maturities 
or are repriced immediately based on market movement in profit rates. Fair values of remaining financial 
assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost are estimated mainly using discounted cash flow models 
incorporating certain assumptions such as credit spreads that are appropriate in the circumstances.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.

The following table shows an analysis of financial investments recorded at fair value by level of the fair 
value hierarchy:

KD 000’s

2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Investment securities
Financial assets at FVTPL:

 Quoted equity securities 1,233 - - 1,233
Quoted sukuk 494 - - 494
Financial assets at FVOCI:
Quoted equity securities 2,878 - - 2,878
Unquoted equity securities - - 25,733 25,733
Quoted sukuk 265,501 - - 265,501

270,106 - 25,733 295,839
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KD 000’s

2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Investment securities
Financial assets at FVTPL:
Quoted equity securities 13,514 - - 13,514
Financial assets at FVOCI:
Quoted equity securities 2,585 - - 2,585
Unquoted equity securities - - 23,836 23,836
Quoted sukuk 144,427 - - 144,427

160,526 - 23,836 184,362

The methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values of financial instruments is described 
in fair value section of Note 2 “Significant Accounting policies”.

Description of Significant unobservable inputs to valuation:

Financial asset Technique Significant
unobservable
inputs

Range
(Weighted 
average) 

Sensitivity of the
input to fair value

Unquoted 
equity shares

DCF, Market 
comparable, DDM and 
Asset base valuation

Long term growth 
rate for cash flows for 
subsequent years

2.5 - 4% Higher the growth rate, 
higher the fair value.

WACC 7 - 10% Higher the WACC, lower 
the fair value.

Discount for lack of 
liquidity

10 - 30% Higher the discount rate, 
lower the fair value.

Discount for lack of marketability represent the amounts that the Group has determined that market 
participants would consider these when pricing the investments, an increase in the fair value would only 
impact equity (through OCI) and, would not have an effect on profit or loss.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair 
value measurements, and no transfers into and out of Level 3 fair value measurements.

The following table shows a reconciliation of the opening and closing amount of level 3 fair value:

KD 000’s

2021
As at

1 January
Change

in fair value
Sale/ 

redemption
Exchange rate 

movements
 As at

31 December
Investment securities
Financial assets at FVOCI:
Unquoted equity securities 23,836 2,118 (217) (4) 25,733

23,836 2,118 (217) (4) 25,733
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KD 000’s

2020 As at
1 January

Change
in fair value

Sale/ 
redemption

Exchange rate 
movements

 As at
31 December

Investment securities
Financial assets at FVOCI:
Unquoted equity securities 29,928 (6,125) - 33 23,836

29,928 (6,125) - 33 23,836

27. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL ADEQUACY

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that the Group complies with 
externally imposed capital requirements and that the Group maintains strong credit ratings and healthy 
capital ratios in order to support its business and to maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group actively manages its capital base in order to cover risks inherent in the business. The 
adequacy of the Group’s capital is monitored using, among other measures, the rules and ratios 
established by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (BIS rules/ratios) and adopted by the CBK 
in supervising the Group.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment 
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue capital securities. No changes were made in the 
objectives, policies and processes from the previous year in this respect.

Capital adequacy

The Group’s regulatory capital and capital adequacy ratios (“Basel III”) calculated in accordance with 
CBK circulars number 2/RB, RBA/336/2014 dated 24 June 2014 and 2/RBA/438/2019 dated 18 June 
2019 are shown below:

KD 000’s

2021 2020

Risk weighted assets 2,377,910 2,132,346
Capital required 249,681 223,896
Capital available
   Tier 1 capital 338,067 356,347
   Tier 2 capital 118,788 115,552
Total capital 456,855 471,899

Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio 14.22% 16.71%
Total capital adequacy ratio 19.21% 22.13%

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
(v) Fair values of financial instruments (continued)
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Day 1 loss impact of 2020 deferral of instalments (Note 28) is considered while computing the above 
capital adequacy ratio. This is considered for CAR computation over four years at straight line (25%) 
commencing from 2021 in accordance with CBK circular 2/RB, RBA/4612020/ dated 5 July 2020.

The Group’s financial leverage ratio calculated in accordance with CBK circular number 2/RBA/343/ 2014 
dated 21 October 2014 is shown below:

KD 000’s
2021 2020

Tier 1 capital 338,067 356,347
Total exposure 3,689,469 3,220,817
Financial leverage ratio 9.16% 11.06%

The disclosures relating to the capital adequacy regulations issued by CBK as stipulated in CBK 
circulars number 2/RB, RBA/336/ 2014 dated 24 June 2014 and 2/RBA/438/ 2019 dated 18 June 2019 
and disclosures related to financial leverage ratio as stipulated in CBK circular number 2/RBA/3432014/ 
dated 21 October 2014 are included under the ‘Disclosures’ section of the year 2021 annual report.

28. IMPACT OF COVID-19 PANDEMIC

The Covid-19 pandemic which spread rapidly across global geographies in 2020 causing significant 
disruption to business and economic activities and bringing unprecedented uncertainties to the global 
economic environment continued its impact in the current year. Fiscal and monetary authorities worldwide 
launched extensive responses designed to mitigate the severe consequences of the pandemic on the 
business and economic environment.

Covid-19 support measures

In response to the crisis the CBK implemented a number of measures targeted at reinforcing the 
banking sectors ability to play a vital role in the economy and remain liquid to support the business and 
economy. These measures include, but not limited to, the expansion of lending capacity by relaxing 
liquidity and capital ratio requirements, strengthening financing capabilities, providing direction in 
lending to productive economic sectors and in the provision of liquidity to impacted customers as also 
postponed of installments on personal finances.

Some of the important regulatory measures taken by CBK which remained applicable as of this report 
are given below:

• Decreased the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (“LCR”) from 100% to 80%. Subsequently increased to 90% 
for 2022.

• Decreased the Net Stable Financing Ratio (“NSFR”) from 100% to 80%. Subsequently increased to 
90% for 2022.

• Decreased the regulatory Liquidity Ratio from 18% to 15%. Subsequently increased to 16.5% for year 2022.

• Increased the limit for maximum negative cumulative gap for liquidity based on maturity ladders.

• Released Capital conservation buffer of 2.5% of risk-weighted assets in the form of CET1.
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• Decreased the risk weights for lending to SMEs from 75% to 25% to be applied in the calculation of 
risk weighted assets.

• Increased the limit for maximum permissible financing (Finance-to-Deposits Ratio) from 90% to 100% 
of deposits. Subsequently increased to 95% for 2022.

• Increased finance-to-value limits for finance granted to individuals for the purpose of purchasing and/or 
developing real estate properties. This has since been reverted to original levels effective 1 July 2021.

• Provision of finance by banks at concessional profit rates to SMEs and other companies impacted by 
the Covid-19 (Emergency Line of Credit programme) with significant government guarantees.

2021 consumer and other instalments loans deferral scheme

Kuwait banks announced postponement of payment of consumer and instalment loans to eligible 
customer, upon request, in accordance with the CBK circular No. 2/BS/IBS/IS/IIS/FS/476/ 2021 dated 18 
April 2021 concerning the implementing provisions of Article No. (2) of Law No. (3) of 2021 (“the Law”) 
regarding the deferral of the financial obligations for a six-month period with cancellation of interest 
and profits resulting from this deferral (“the 2021 scheme”).The cost of the instalment deferrals are fully 
borne by the Government of Kuwait in accordance with the Law.

The Bank implemented the 2021 scheme by postponing the instalments for a six-month period from the 
customer request date with the corresponding extension of the facility tenure. The instalment deferral 
resulted in a loss to the Bank arising from the modification of contractual cash-flows, at KD 6,012 
thousand in accordance with IFRS 9. This loss was offset by an equivalent amount receivable from 
Government of Kuwait as Government Grant in accordance with the Law. The Bank has recorded the 
Government grant income by setting it off against the modification loss from the 2021 scheme. The 
Government grant receivable is included in other assets in the consolidated statement of financial 
position (Note 14).

2020 Deferral of instalments for consumer and housing finance, credit cards and facilities to 
SMEs scheme 

Kuwaiti banks announced postponement of payment of instalments of consumer and housing finance, 
credit cards and financing facilities to SMEs for a period of six months effective from April 2020 without 
charging additional profit for such deferral. The instalment deferrals are considered as short-term 
liquidity support to address borrower’s potential cash-flow issues. Customers hold the option not to 
participate in this scheme of deferral.

The Bank implemented the deferral by postponing the instalments falling due within the six months 
period from 1 April 2020 to 30 September 2020 with a corresponding extension of the facility tenure. 
The instalments deferral results in a loss of earnings KD 7,203 thousand to the Bank arising from the 
modification of contractual cashflows. The loss is charged to retained earnings in accordance with the 
Bank’s accounting policy as stated in Note 2 and as per CBK instructions.

28. IMPACT OF COVID-19 PANDEMIC (continued)
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Government grants

The Government of Kuwait has provided financial support to business owners in response to the 
pandemic. During the previous year, the Bank has received government grant related to Kuwaiti 
beneficiaries (employees) registered under Article No. 3 of the Kuwaiti Labor Law. The government 
grant is part of the assistance made towards the national workforce in the private sector. The financial 
support has been accounted for in accordance with IAS 20 ‘Accounting for government grants and 
disclosure of government assistance’ and recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss as 
other income (Note 6).

Expected Credit Loss (“ECL”) estimates

The Bank considered the potential impact of the continued uncertainties caused by the Covid-19 
pandemic together with the associated economic support and relief measures of government and 
central bank in its estimation of ECL requirements for the year ended 31 December 2021.

Significant increase in credit risk

Where applicable the Bank considered the following aspects to assess if there was significant increase 
in credit risk or objective evidence of impairment in the light of Covid-19 situation.

• Temporary financial difficulties of the borrowers are distinguished from longer-term or permanent 
impacts

• Borrowers operating in certain sectors or industries are likely to be more vulnerable and could be 
severely impacted

• Deferral of instalments or profit payments on financing facilities will not automatically trigger significant 
increase in credit risk

• Retail personal finance to certain customer segments are more likely to have significant increase in 
credit risk arising from job losses and pay cuts

• Significant corporate exposures are individually assessed to identify vulnerability impact and if any 
significant increase in credit risk is likely as and when reliable data is available

The above assessment has resulted in a suitable classification of certain exposures and corresponding 
increase in ECL estimates, where applicable based on management judgement.

Macro-economic factors

The Bank considered the effects of volatility witnessed in the range of macroeconomic factors and in the 
scenarios used for determination of ECL. In particular, given the continuing uncertainties, albeit declining, 
and impact stemming from Covid-19, Bank made suitable assumptions reflected through constructing a 
plausible forward-looking view of the macroeconomic factors. The Bank applied appropriate probability 
weightages on three scenarios (‘Baseline’, ‘Benign’, ‘Severe’) which is combined with realistic forecasts 
of macro-economic factors across all three scenarios in estimating ECL outcome.
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Introduction:
The Central Bank of Kuwait (CBK) vide its circular 2/RB, RBA/336/2014 dated 24 June 2014 and its 
amendments dated 18 June 2019 vide circular 2/RB, RBA/438/2019, amendments dated 02 April 2020 
vide circular 2/RB, RBA/454/2020 and amendments dated 05 July 2020 vide circular 2/RB, RBA/461/2020 
on Basel III Capital Adequacy standards requires banks to make public disclosures. The CBK Basel 
framework consists of three Pillars. Pillar 1 provides a framework for measuring capital requirements for 
credit, operational and market risks. Pillar II pertains to the Supervisory Review Process and emphasises 
the importance of Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) performed by banks. These 
risks include credit concentration risk, CRM, residual operational risk, market risk, profit rate risk, liquidity 
risk, strategic risk, reputation risk, legal risk, investment risk and any other substantial risk that is not 
appropriately captured in Pillar 1. Bank must conduct Stress Testing (ST) of their one year forward looking 
(business projections) under different scenarios and assumptions and assess the impact on their capital 
adequacy and profitability. Pillar III requires banks to provide a consistent and understandable disclosure 
framework which facilitates comparison, thus enhancing the safety and soundness of the banking sector 
in Kuwait.  

Banks have to adopt sound governance framework, improve adopt appropriate internal control systems 
and install sufficient modern risk management to be able to control the risks embedded in the business 
environment and to practice good governance.

Objective: 
The main objectives of this section are:

1. To allow market participants and investors (especially investment account holders) to assess KIB’s 
exposure to risks as per Basel III general disclosure requirements.

2. To comply with CBK instructions and regulations for Islamic Bank’s general disclosures related to 
Capital Adequacy Standard under Basel III. 

Bank’s Disclosure Approach:
-   Consolidated basis (Kuwait International Bank KSCP (“KIB” or “the Bank”) and its subsidiaries 

(together the Group), on a semi-annual basis, reviewed by the external auditors of the Bank. The 
annual disclosures are audited by external auditors of the Bank.

- The disclosures are made relying on calculating the minimum capital required by applying capital 
adequacy instructions of CBK to cover: 

• Credit and Market risks using the Standardized Approach.

• Operational risk using the Basic Indicator Approach.

Under the Framework of Capital Adequacy, Banks must provide timely, accurate, relevant and adequate 
disclosures of qualitative and quantitative information that enables users to assess their activities and 
risk profile. The following public disclosures are made in line with the requirements of CBK.

First: Group Structure 
KIB is engaged in providing Islamic banking, finance and investment services that comply with Islamic 
Shariaà. Al Dawli Takaful Insurance Company KSCC (“KIB Takaful”) (formerly known as Ritaj Takaful 
Insurance Company KSCC) is a consolidated subsidiary. KIB owns 73.60% (31 December 2020: 
73.60%) of the issued share capital of KIB Takaful, which is an Islamic insurance company registered in 
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Kuwait. Its main activity is to provide Takaful insurance (co-operative insurance). In addition, the bank 
owns 100% of issued share capital of KIB Tier 1 Sukuk Limited and KIB Sukuk Limited, incorporated as 
a special purpose company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands.

Second: Capital Structure
The Group’s regulatory capital comprises of Common Equity Tier 1 (CET 1) capital which demonstrates 
the Group’s strength and includes share capital, share premium, reserves, retained earnings less 
treasury shares and dividends declared. Additional Tier 1 (AT1) capital includes   eligible portion of 
non-controlling interests and additional tier 1 sukuk. Tier 2 (T2) consists of eligible portion of non-
controlling interests and general provision up to 1.25% of the total credit risk weighted assets according 
to rules and regulations. 

The Group does not have exposure to derivatives, structured credit product and / or complex equity 
instruments, which are prohibited by the Islamic Shariaà principles. 

. 
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The Group does not have exposure to derivatives, structured credit product and / or complex equity 
instruments, which are prohibited by the Islamic Shariaà principles. 

KD 000’s

2021 2020

Particulars Amount Amount
Common Equity (CET 1)
Share capital  117,806* 113,275

Share premium 49,480 49,480

Revaluation reserve 13,493 14,037

Fair Value reserve 17,503 16,900

Statutory Reserve 39,876 38,737

Voluntary Reserve 33,793 32,654

Treasury share reserve 4,846 4,846

Retained earnings 37,156 40,271

Foreign currency translation reserve - -

Less: 

Treasury shares (45,234) (45,234)

Proposed Dividends (4,078) -

Goodwill and other intangibles - -

Foreign currency translation reserve (285) (60)

Investments in FIs with ownership of less than 10% and above the threshold - -

Investments in FIs with  ownership of more than 10% and above the threshold - -

Total Common Equity Tier (1)  264,356 264,906

AT (1)

Additional Tier 1 instruments 91,035 91,035

Eligible NCI in consolidated subsidiaries 320  406

Less:

Reciprocal cross-holdings in Additional Tier 1 instruments (17,644) -

Total Tier (1) 338,067 356,347

Tier (2)

General provision (up to 1.25% of the total credit risk weighted assets) 28,316 25,075

Eligible NCI in consolidated subsidiaries         75 74  

Additional Tier II instruments 90,397 90,403

Total Tier (2) 118,788 115,552

Total eligible capital 456,855 471,899

* After proposed bonus share adjustments
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 Third: Additional Capital Disclosure requirements

1. Common Disclosure Template:
The Group’s regulatory capital which consists of the Common Equity Tier 1, AT1 and Tier 2 is as follows:

Common Equity Tier 1 capital: instruments and reserves
KD 000’s

2021 2020

1. Directly issued qualifying common share capital plus related stock surplus 167,286* 162,755

2. Retained earnings 33,078 40,271
3. Accumulated other comprehensive income (and other reserves) 109,226 107,114

4. Directly issued capital subject to phase out from CET1 (only 
applicable to non-joint stock companies) - -

5. Common share capital issued by subsidiaries and held by third 
parties (minority interest) - -

6. Common Equity Tier 1 capital before regulatory adjustments 309,590 310,140

Common Equity Tier 1 capital: regulatory adjustments

7. Prudential valuation adjustments - -
8. Goodwill (net of related tax liability) - -
9. Other intangibles (net of related tax liability) - -

10. Deferred tax assets that rely on future profitability excluding those 
arising from temporary differences (net of related tax liability) - -

11. Cash-flow hedge reserve - -
12. Shortfall of provisions to expected losses - -
13. Taskeek gain on sale (as set out in para 72 of the guidelines) - -
14. Gains and losses due to changes in own credit risk on fair valued liabilities - -
15. Defined-benefit pension fund net assets (para 68) -

16. Investments in own shares (if not already netted off paid-in capital on 
reported balance sheet) )45,234( (45,234)

17. Reciprocal cross-holdings in common equity - -

18.

Investments in the capital of banking, financial and insurance entities that 
are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation, net of eligible short 
positions, where the bank does not own more than 10% of the issued 
share capital (amount above 10% threshold of bank’s CET1 capital)

- -

19.

Significant investments in the common stock of banking, financial 
and insurance entities that are outside the scope of regulatory 
consolidation, net of eligible short positions (amount above 10% 
threshold of bank’s CET1 capital) 

- -

20. Mortgage servicing rights (amount above 10% threshold of bank’s 
CET1 capital) - -

21. Deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences (amount above 
10% threshold, net of related tax liability) - -
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22. Amount exceeding the 15% threshold - -

23.  of which: significant investments in the common stock of financials - -

24.  of which: mortgage servicing rights - -

25.  of which: deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences - -

26. National specific regulatory adjustments - -

27.
Regulatory adjustments applied to Common Equity Tier 1 due to 
insufficient Additional Tier 1 and Tier 2 to cover deductions - -

28. Total regulatory adjustments to Common equity Tier 1 - -

29. Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET1) 264,356 264,906

Additional Tier 1 capital: instruments

30.
Directly issued qualifying Additional Tier 1 instruments plus related 
stock surplus 91,035 91,035

31.  of which: classified as equity under applicable accounting standards 91,035 91,035
32.  of which: classified as liabilities under applicable accounting standards -

33.
Directly issued capital instruments subject to phase out from 
Additional Tier 1 - -

34.
Additional Tier 1 instruments (and CET1 instruments not included 
in row 5) issued by subsidiaries and held by third parties (amount 
allowed in group AT1) 

320 406

35.  of which: instruments issued by subsidiaries subject to phase-out -

36.  Additional Tier 1 capital before regulatory adjustments 91,355 91,441

Additional Tier 1 capital: regulatory adjustments

37. Investments in own Additional Tier 1 instruments - -

38. Reciprocal cross-holdings in Additional Tier 1 instruments  17,644 -

39.

Investments in the capital of banking, financial and insurance entities 
that are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation, net of eligible 
short positions, where the bank does not own more than 10%of the 
issued common share capital of the entity (amount above 10% threshold) 

- -

40.
Significant investments in the capital of banking, financial and 
insurance entities that are outside the scope of regulatory 
consolidation (net of eligible short positions) 

- -

41. National specific regulatory adjustments - -

42.
Regulatory adjustments applied to Additional Tier 1 due to insufficient 
Tier 2 to cover deductions - -

43. Total regulatory adjustments to Additional Tier 1 capital - -

44. Additional Tier 1 capital (AT1) 73,711 91,441
45. Tier 1 capital (T1 = CET1 + AT1) 338,067 356,347

Tier 2 capital: instruments and provisions

46. Directly issued qualifying Tier 2 instruments plus related stock surplus  90,397 90,403
47. Directly issued capital instruments subject to phase-out from Tier 2 - -
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48.
Tier 2 instruments (and CET1 and AT1 instruments not included in 
rows 5 or 34) issued by subsidiaries and held by third parties (amount 
allowed in group Tier 2) 

  75 74

49.  of which: instruments issued by subsidiaries subject to phase-out -

50. General provisions included in Tier 2 capital 28,316 25,075
51. Tier 2 capital before regulatory adjustments 118,788 115,552

Tier 2 capital: regulatory adjustments

52. Investments in own Tier 2 instruments - -

53. Reciprocal cross-holdings in Tier 2 instruments - -

54.

Investments in the capital of banking, financial and insurance entities that 
are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation, net of eligible short 
positions, where the bank does not own more than 10%of the issued 
common share capital of the entity (amount above the 10% threshold) 

- -

55.
Significant investments in the capital banking, financial and insurance 
entities that are outside the scope of regulatory consolidation (net of 
eligible short positions) 

- -

56. National specific regulatory adjustments - -

57. Total regulatory adjustments to Tier 2 capital - -

58. Tier 2 capital (T2) 118,788 115,552
59. Total capital (TC = T1 + T2) 456,855 471,899
60. Total risk weighted assets (after applying 50% additional weighting) 2,377,910 2,132,346

Capital ratios and buffers

61. Common Equity Tier 1 (as a percentage of risk weighted assets) 11.12% 12.42%
62. Tier 1 (as a percentage of risk weighted assets) 14.22% 16.71%
63. Total capital (as a percentage of risk weighted assets) 19.21% 22.13%

64.

Institution specific buffer requirement (minimum CET1 requirement 
plus capital conservation buffer plus countercyclical buffer 
requirements plus D-SIB buffer requirement, expressed as a 
percentage of risk weighted assets) 

7.00% 7.00%

65.  of which: capital conservation buffer requirement - -
66.  of which: bank specific countercyclical buffer requirement - -

67.  of which: D-SIB buffer requirement - -

68.
Common Equity Tier 1 available to meet buffers (as a percentage of 
risk weighted assets) 

4.12% 5.42%

National minima

69. National Common Equity Tier 1 minimum ratio  7.00% 7.00%
70. National Tier 1 minimum ratio 8.50% 8.50%
71. National total capital minimum ratio excluding CCY and DSIB 10.50% 10.50%
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Amounts below the thresholds for deduction (before risk weighting)
72. Non-significant investments in the capital of other financials - -

73. Significant investments in the common stock of financials - -

74. Mortgage servicing rights (net of related tax liability) - -

75. Deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences (net of related 
tax liability) 

- -

Applicable caps on the inclusion of provisions in Tier 2

76. Provisions eligible for inclusion in Tier 2 in respect of exposures 
subject to standardized approach (prior to application of cap) 

51,233 45,822

77. Cap on inclusion of provisions in Tier 2 under standardized approach 28,316 25,075

78. Provisions eligible for inclusion in Tier 2 in respect of exposures 
subject to internal ratings-based approach (prior to application of cap) 

- -

79. Cap for inclusion of provisions in Tier 2 under internal ratings-based 
approach 

- -

* After proposed bonus share adjustments
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2.  Reconciliation Requirement
The Group has applied the three-step approach for the reconciliation between the Consolidated Statement 
of Financial Position items and the regulatory capital elements as outlined in the regulations as follows:

Step (1) and (2) 2021
KD 000’s

Item

 Balance
 sheet as in
 published
 financial
statements

 Under
 regulatory
 scope of
consolidation Ref.

Asset
Cash 8,983 8,983
Cash and bank balances at central banks 213,329 213,329
Items in the course of collection from other banks and FIs 223,926 223,926
Trading portfolio assets - -
Financial assets at fair value through statement of income 1,727 1,727
Shariaà compliant hedging contracts - -
Financing and advances to banks 15,045 15,045
Financing and advances to customers  2,255,429 2,255,429

of which general provisions (netted above) capped for Tier 2 inclusion  28,316  28,316 (a)
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 294,112 294,112
Current and deferred tax assets - -
Prepayments, accrued income and other assets 29,092 29,092
Investment properties 53,545 53,545
Investments in associates and joint ventures 1,674 1,674
Goodwill and other intangible assets (a) + (b) - -

- Goodwill - -
- Intangible assets - -

Property, plant and equipment 38,207 38,207
Total assets  3,135,069  3,135,069
Liabilities
Deposits from banks and FIs 561,826 561,826
Items in the course of collection due to other banks - -
Customer accounts 2,061,626 2,061,626
Trading portfolio liabilities - -
Financial liabilities at fair value through statement of income - -
Shariaà compliant hedging contracts - -
Financing securities (Sukuk) 90,397 90,397 (q)
Accruals, deferred income and other liabilities  59,956 59,956
Current and deferred tax liabilities (c) + (d) - -

- Deferred tax liabilities related to goodwill - -
- Deferred tax liabilities related to intangible assets - -

Provisions (non-cash) 3,541 3,541
Retirement benefit liabilities - -

Total liabilities  2,777,346  2,777,346
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Step (1) and (2) (continued):
2021

KD 000’s

Item

 Balance
 sheet as in
 published
 financial
statements

 Under
 regulatory
 scope of
consolidation Ref.

Equity
Share capital 113,275 113,275 )b(
Share premium 49,480 49,480 )c(
Treasury shares )45,234( )45,234( )d(
Revaluation reserve 13,493 13,493 )e(
Fair Value reserve 17,503 17,503 )f(
Statutory Reserve 39,876 39,876 )g(
Voluntary Reserve 33,793 33,793 )h(
Treasury share reserve 4,846 4,846 )i(
Retained earnings 36,285 36,285
Of which Retained Earnings eligible as CET1 Capital 37,156 37,156 )j(
Of which Modification loss on deferral of financing instalments )5,402( )5,402(
Of which proposed bonus share 4,531 4,531 )k(
Foreign currency translation reserve (285) (285) (l)
Attributable to Bank’s equity shareholders 263,032 263,032
Perpetual Tier 1 sukuk 91,035 91,035 )m(
Non-controlling interests 3,656 395

- Common Equity Tier (1) - -
- Additional Tier (1( - 320 (n)
- Tier (2) - 75 (o)

Total equity 357,723 354,462
Total liabilities and equity 3,135,069 3,131,808
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Step (1) and (2)
2020

KD 000’s

Item

 Balance
 sheet as in
 published
 financial
statements

 Under
 regulatory
 scope of
consolidation Ref.

Asset
Cash 14,460 14,460
Cash and bank balances at central banks 174,874 174,874
Items  in the course of collection from other banks and FIs 336,012 336,012
Trading portfolio assets - -
Financial assets at fair value through statement of income 13,514 13,514
Shariaà compliant hedging contracts - -
Financing and advances to banks 6,022 6,022
Financing and advances to customers 1,979,004 1,979,004

of which general provisions (netted above) capped for Tier 2 inclusion 25,075 25,075 )a(
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 170,848 170,848
Current and deferred tax assets - -
Prepayments, accrued income and other assets 19,281 19,281
Investment properties 53,824 53,824
Investments in associates and joint ventures 1,543 1,543
Goodwill and other intangible assets (a) + (b) - -

- Goodwill - -
- Intangible assets - -

Property, plant and equipment 32,213 32,213
Total assets 2,801,595 2,801,595
Liabilities
Deposits from banks and FIs 671,386 671,386
Items in the course of collection due to other banks - -
  Customer accounts 1,644,803 1,644,803
Trading portfolio liabilities - -
Financial liabilities at fair value through statement of income - -
Shariaà compliant hedging contracts - -
Financing securities (Sukuk) 90,403 90,403 (q) 
Accruals, deferred income and other liabilities 38,111 38,111
Current and deferred tax liabilities (c) + (d) - -

- Deferred tax liabilities related  to goodwill - -
- Deferred tax liabilities related to intangible assets - -

Provisions (non-cash) 4,573 4,573
Retirement benefit liabilities - -

Total liabilities 2,449,276 2,449,276
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Step (1) and (2) (continued):
2020

KD 000’s

Item

 Balance
 sheet as in
 published
 financial
statements

 Under
 regulatory
 scope of
consolidation Ref.

Equity
Share capital 113,275 113,275 )b(
Share premium 49,480 49,480 )c(
Treasury shares (45,234) (45,234) )d(
Revaluation reserve 14,037 14,037 )e(
Fair Value reserve 16,900 16,900 )f(
Statutory Reserve 38,737 38,737 )g(
Voluntary Reserve 32,654 32,654 )h(
Treasury share reserve 4,846 4,846 )i(
Retained earnings 33,068 33,068

Of which Retained Earnings eligible as CET1 40,271 40,271 )j(
Of which Modification loss on deferral of financing (7,203) (7,203)

Foreign currency translation reserve (60) (60) (l)
Attributable to Bank’s equity shareholders 257,703 257,703
Perpetual Tier 1 Sukuk 91,035 91,035 )m(
Non-controlling interests 3,581 479

- Common Equity Tier (1( - -
- Additional Tier (1( - 406 )n(
- Tier (2) - 74 )o(

Total equity 352,319 349,217
Total liabilities and equity 2,801,595 2,798,493
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Step (3)
 2021

KD 000’s

Common Equity Tier 1 capital: instruments and reserves

Component 
of regulatory 
capital 

Source based on 
reference letters of the 
balance sheet under 
the regulatory scope 
of consolidation from 
Step 2

1 Directly issued qualifying common share capital plus 
related stock surplus 

167,286* )b(+)c(+)k(

2 Retained earnings 37,156 )j(
3 Accumulated other comprehensive income )and other reserves( 109,226 )e(+)f(+)g(+)h(+)i(+)l(

4 Common share capital issued by subsidiaries and held by 
third parties )minority interest( -

5 Common Equity Tier 1 capital before regulatory 
adjustments 313,668

Common Equity Tier 1 capital: regulatory adjustments

6 Investments in own shares )if not already netted off paid-in 
capital on reported balance sheet( 

(45,234) )d(

7 Proposed Dividend (4,078)
8 Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET1) 264,356

Additional Tier 1 capital: instruments

9 Directly issued qualifying Additional Tier 1 instruments plus 
related stock surplus 

91,035 )m(

10
Additional Tier 1 instruments )and CET1 instruments not 
included in row 4( issued by subsidiaries and held by third 
parties )amount allowed in group AT1( 

320 )n(

11 Reciprocal cross-holdings in Additional Tier 1 instruments (17,644)
12 Additional Tier 1 capital (AT1) 73,711
13 Tier 1 capital (T1) 338,067

Tier 2 capital: instruments and provisions

14
Tier 2 instruments )and CET1 and AT1 instruments not 
included in rows 4 or 10( issued by subsidiaries and held by 
third parties )amount allowed in group Tier 2( 

75 )o(

15 General provisions included in Tier 2 capital 28,316 )a(
16 Additional Tier II instruments 90,397 )q(
17 Tier 2 capital (T2) 118,788
18 Total capital (T1+T2) 456,855

* After proposed bonus share adjustments
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Step (3)
 2020

KD 000’s

Common Equity Tier 1 capital: instruments and reserves

Component 
of regulatory 
capital 

Source based on 
reference letters of the 
balance sheet under 
the regulatory scope 
of consolidation from 
Step 2

1 Directly issued qualifying common share capital plus 
related stock surplus 

162,755 )b(+)c(

2 Retained earnings  40,271 )j( 
3 Accumulated other comprehensive income )and other reserves( 107,114 )e(+)f(+)g(+)h(+)i(+)l(

4 Common share capital issued by subsidiaries and held by 
third parties )minority interest( -

5 Common Equity Tier 1 capital before regulatory adjustments 310,140

Common Equity Tier 1 capital: regulatory adjustments

6 Investments in own shares )if not already netted off paid-in 
capital on reported balance sheet( 

(45,234) )d(

7 Proposed Dividend -
8 Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET1) 264,906

Additional Tier 1 capital: instruments

9 Directly issued qualifying Additional Tier 1 instruments plus 
related stock surplus 

91,035 )m(

10
Additional Tier 1 instruments )and CET1 instruments not 
included in row 4( issued by subsidiaries and held by third 
parties )amount allowed in group AT1( 

406 )n(

11 Reciprocal cross-holdings in Additional Tier 1 instruments -
12 Additional Tier 1 capital (AT1) 91,441
13 Tier 1 capital )T1( 356,347

Tier 2 capital: instruments and provisions

14
Tier 2 instruments )and CET1 and AT1 instruments not 
included in rows 4 or 10( issued by subsidiaries and held by 
third parties )amount allowed in group Tier 2( 

74 )o(

15 General provisions included in Tier 2 capital 25,075 )a(
16 Additional Tier II instruments 90,403 (q)
17 Tier 2 capital )T2( 115,552
18 Total capital (T1+T2) 471,899
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3. Main features disclosure

Disclosures for main features of regulatory capital instruments

1. Issuer Kuwait International 
Bank K.S.C.P.

KIB Tier 1 Sukuk 
Limited

KIB Sukuk 
Limited

2.
Unique identifier (e.g. CUSIP, ISIN 
or Bloomberg identifier for private 
placement)

KIB  
(KW0EQ0100069) 

ISIN: 
XS2005148072

ISIN: 
XS2262982072  

3. Governing laws of the instrument Law No. 32/1968 and 
Law No. 1/ 2016 English Law English Law

4. Type of Capital (CET1, AT1 , T2) CET1 (Share capital) AT1 T2

5. Eligible at solo/group/group and 
solo Group Group and solo Group and solo

6. Instrument type Equity Subordinated 
Mudaraba Sukuk

Wakala and 
Commodity 
Murabaha

7. Amount recognised in regulatory 
capital 113,275 USD 300 Million USD 300 Million

8. Par value of instrument 100 fils USD 100 USD 100

9. Accounting classification Equity Equity (AT1) Liability

10. Original date of issuance 13 May 1973 
(Incorporation) 10 June 2019 30  November 2020

11. Perpetual or dated Perpetual Perpetual Dated

12. Original maturity date N/A No maturity 30 November 2030

13. Issuer call subject to prior 
supervisory approval N/A Yes Yes

14. Optional call date, contingent call 
dates and redemption amount N/A

 Optional Call Date: 
10 June 2024 ; 
Capital event or tax 
event call: principal 
+ profit

Optional Call Date: 
30 November  2025 
; Capital event 
or tax event call: 
principal + profit

15. Subsequent call dates, if 
applicable N/A  Semi- Annually 

after 10 June 2024

Semi- Annually 
after 30 November 
2025

16. Fixed or floating dividend/coupon N/A 
Fixed (Subject to 
profit-rate reset 
after every 5 years)

Fixed (Subject to 
profit-rate reset 
after every 5 years)

17. Coupon rate and any related index N/A 5.625% per 
annum; 5Y UST

2.375% per 
annum; 5Y UST

18. Existence of a dividend stopper N/A Yes No

19. Fully discretionary, partially 
discretionary or mandatory N/A Fully discretionary Mandatory
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3. Main features disclosure (Continued)

Disclosures for main features of regulatory capital instruments

20.
Existence of step up or other incentive to 
redeem N/A No No

21. Noncumulative or cumulative N/A Noncumulative Noncumulative

22. Convertible or non-convertible N/A Non-convertible Non-convertible

23. If convertible, conversion trigger N/A NA NA

24. If convertible, fully or partially N/A NA NA

25. If convertible, conversion rate N/A NA NA

26. If convertible, mandatory or optional 
conversion N/A NA NA

27. If convertible, specify instrument type 
convertible into N/A NA NA

28. If convertible, specify issuer of instrument it 
converts into N/A NA NA

29. Write-down feature N/A Yes Yes

30. If write-down, write-down trigger N/A

Determination by 
regulator on grounds 
of non-viability or an 
immediate injection 
of capital is required, 
by way of emergency 
intervention to remain 
viable. 

Determination 
by regulator 
on grounds of 
non-viability or 
an immediate 
injection of capital 
is required, by 
way of emergency 
intervention to 
remain viable.

31. If write-down, full or partial N/A  Full or partial 
(On pro rata basis)

Full or partial 
(On pro rata basis)

32. If write-down, permanent or temporary N/A Permanent Permanent

33. If temporary write-down, description of 
write-up mechanism N/A NA NA

34.
Position in subordination hierarchy in 
liquidation (specify instrument type 
immediately senior to instrument)

N/A
Subordinated, senior 
only to ordinary 
shares

Subordinated, 
senior only to 
ordinary shares 
and qualifying Tier 
1 instruments

35. Non-compliant transitioned features N/A None None

36. If yes, specify non-compliant features N/A NA NA
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Fourth: Capital Adequacy Ratio
At 31 December 2021 the total Capital Adequacy Ratio is 19.21% (31 December 2020: 22.13%) compared 
to the ratio required by regulatory authorities of 10.50% (31 December 2020: 10.50%), Tier 1 Capital of 
14.22% (31 December 2020: 16.71%) and Tier 2 Capital of 5.00% (31 December 2020: 5.42%).

•  The percentage of the total Capital Adequacy Ratio is derived from dividing the eligible capital 
(CET 1 + AT 1 + Tier 2) by the total risk weighted exposure. 

•  The percentage of the Tier 1 Capital Adequacy Ratio is derived from dividing the Tier 1 capital 
(CET 1 + AT 1) by the total risk weighted exposure.

•  The percentage of the Tier 2 Capital Adequacy Ratio is derived from dividing the Tier 2 capital by 
the total risk weighted exposure..

At At 31 December 2021, the minimum capital requirement for the credit risk weighted exposure is KD 235,446 
thousand (31 December 2020: KD 208,453 thousand), market risk weighted exposure is KD 1,165 thousand 
(31 December 2020: KD 2,385 thousand) and the operational risk weighted exposure is KD 13,069 thousand 
(31 December 2020: KD 13,059 thousand).

The day 1 loss impact is considered for CAR computation over four years at straight line (25%) commencing 
from 2021 in accordance with CBK circular 2/RB, RBA/4612020/ dated 5 July 2020.

The Group ensures compliance with CBK requirements in relation to capital adequacy through monitoring 
the internal limits.

Fifth: Risk Management  
 The Bank has been constantly enhancing the Risk Management Framework and Enterprise-wide Risk 
Management practice due to dynamic changes in the regulatory and risk environment.

Enterprise-wide Risk Management (ERM)

Risk Management quantifies risk exposures for use in risk analysis, measurement and reporting. It is 
currently using various tools and techniques to assess, measure and evaluate both qualitative and 
quantitative risks and allocate capital charges to mitigate these risks. 

1.  Transfer: Better Risk Reporting and Awareness    

a. The Bank adopts an ERM approach. Risk reporting is further enhanced by a comprehensive bank-
wide Risk Information Package (Risk info Pack), which is reported periodically to the Board Risk 
Management Committee (BRMC) and Board of Directors (BoD). 

b. Risk-Adjusted Return on Capital (RAROC) framework is implemented for customer level profitability 
assessment. 

c. Regular risk reports are also presented to Senior Management, Asset Liability Management Committee 
(ALCO) and other executive committees with recommendation for better risk management.

d. The Bank through its informative reporting system has significantly increased the risk-awareness 
and risk-culture within the Bank’s functions.
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2. Integration of Business Process: In order to optimize business performance, and integrate 
risks into business decision, the Bank adopts the following steps

a. Use of appropriate risk measuring techniques.

b. Continuous review of pricing policies, internal Fund Transfer Pricing, Obligor Risk Rating, RAROC 
and other measures.

c. Ongoing enhancements in the Bank’s capability to manage capital, liquidity, credit including 
capital plans, optimization of Capital Adequacy Ratios especially under pillar II (ICAAP and Stress 
Testing).

3. Upgrade to Enterprise Risk Management:

a. The Bank continues to upgrade its risk management capabilities in the light of developments in 
the business, banking and capital market regulations and risk management best practices. 

b. Having sound risk management methodologies and techniques in place, the risk management 
function provides valuable guidance for the decision-making processes for the Bank.

c. The Bank is undertaking various steps to move from the traditional risk management to the wider 
concept of Enterprise Risk Management.

4. Risk Appetite Limits:

a. The Bank’s Board of Directors has approved the Bank-wide Risk Appetite limits and linked it 
with the Bank’s strategy as well as alignment of the ICAAP, stress testing and overall capital 
management process.

b. The Bank is periodically reviewing its risk appetite and identifies new risks. The Bank is using the 
defined risk appetite limits set by the BoD in its decision-making process.

5. Capital Adequacy and Capital Plans (Structural Changes):

a. Considering the regulatory evolution in Basel III, the Bank periodically reviews and upgrades its 
ICAAP/stress testing methodologies. 

b. CAMEL BCOM: As per CBK’s Off-Site Surveillance (OSS) approach, the Bank’s activities are 
looked from a risk-based perspective, and the Bank is periodically updating CAMEL_BCOM result 
to undertake self-risk assessment, which is supplementary to the ICAAP/stress testing process 
and capital planning. The CAMEL BCOM reports are periodically reported to ALCO, BRMC and 
the BoD. The BRMC and the Board considers risk management recommendations. 

c. The Bank periodically reviews its risk management framework and aligns it with the leading 
practices.

6. Risk Management Independence:

The Chief Risk Officer (CRO)/General Manager – Risk management, who heads the risk management 
function reports functionally directly to the BRMC, ensuring independence. 
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The Bank’s risk management function has sufficient authority, stature, independence, resources and 
access to the BoD. The stature of the Risk Management Department within the Bank ensures that 
issues raised by risk managers receive the necessary attention from the BoD, senior management and 
business lines. The CRO’s appointment and termination is the authority of the BoD subject to the prior 
approval of CBK. The CRO has no ‘financial and revenue’ target responsibilities in line with the corporate 
governance regulations of CBK.

The CRO also has full access to the Bank’s Chairman to raise any issues directly if and when required. 
The CRO meets with the non-executive Board members and BRMC members in the absence of senior 
management. The BoD ensures that the CRO has the authority to influence the Bank’s decisions 
pertaining to exposure to risks and that the Risk Management Department has significance within the 
Bank. Although the Risk Management Department is sufficiently independent of the business units 
whose activities and exposures it reviews, it has access to all business lines, so as to understand them 
and request any relevant information to assess risk exposures in an appropriate way.

Organizational chart of the Risk Management Department in KIB: 
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Credit Risk

The Bank defines credit risk as the risk that the Bank is exposed to when a customer or counterparty 
to a financial exposure or asset fails to meet its contractual obligations and causes the Bank to incur 
a financial loss. 

The main sources of the credit risk arise principally from the Bank’s on-balance sheet financing 
portfolio exposure in products like Ijara, Investment Wakala, Murabaha, etc., and off-balance sheet 
products like Letters of Credit and Letters of Guarantee, etc.

Credit Risk Policy

Credit risk policies are an integral part of the Bank’s risk management framework. Policies govern all 
activities related to credit appraisal and review. Business segments specific policies and procedures 
are established to manage the risks that are unique to their business.

The policies are designed to embed the nature of the Bank’s existing business, its future road map 
and international best practices. The policies are reviewed periodically and on case to case basis 
depending on the market forces and business climate. 

To facilitate Bank-wide usage, the credit policies are rolled out on a web-based platform with advanced 
search functionalities to enhance ease of use.

Management of Credit Risk

The Bank’s credit risk management uses well laid out policies & procedures to monitor and manage 
the risk. A centralized oversight is maintained through various measures and includes the following 
important functions: 

  • Acceptance of Credit risk is through a committee process involving Finance and Investment 
committee (FIC) at Senior Executive level and escalation to the Board Strategy and Financing  & 
Investment Committee (BSFIC) at Board level.

  • Establishment of an authority matrix for the approval and renewal of credit facilities which is used to 
review and assess each proposal prior to any facility being committed to customers. 

  • Monitoring and ensuring diversification of financing and investment activities;

  • Fixing limits on concentrations for exposure to industry sectors, geographic locations and 
counterparties; 

  • Reviewing the compliance aspects, on an ongoing basis, with agreed exposure limits relating to 
counterparties, industries and countries and 

  • Reviewing limits in accordance with risk management strategy and market trends.

As an important part of the credit risk management function, the Bank uses an internal risk rating 
system to assess the credit quality of borrowers and counterparties. Each exposure in Commercial & 
International portfolio is assigned a risk rating.

The bank is in the process of transitioning from its Credit Risk Management System (CRMS) to Moody’s 
Credit Lens solution (CL) which has 21 rating notches. The rating mode been used are based on both 
quantitative and qualitative factors. The rating system is subjected to a periodical validation process 
and the CL rating has already been subject to a validation process.
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Sovereign and bank exposures are governed by the ratings from CBK approved external credit rating 
agencies (Moody’s, S&P and Fitch) and applying CBK mandated methodologies.

Monitoring of Credit Risk

Credit risk monitoring is performed at various levels. The monitoring is a rigorous process that begins right 
from the initiation of the proposal.  

Monitoring of risk quality )Obligor level(: The Bank has a process of review of credit based on the internal 
rating grades. Every proposal has to carry a risk rating as the initial check on the quality of credit. In case of 
any deterioration additional reviews are made and the Bank has a process of defining and reporting all the 
potential problem accounts. 

Monitoring of risk quality )Portfolio Level(: The Bank monitors the existing portfolio based on the economic 
sectors, industry, geography, ratings and business lines.

These portfolio reports are generated periodically and the senior management is informed on the same.

Monitoring of past dues on principal and profit: All the past dues on principal and profit on financing portfolio 
of the Bank are reported periodically to the senior management. Measures to realize such past dues are 
initiated with stringent follow up thereafter.

Monitoring of potential loss accounts )Watch-list(: This category comprises of accounts where principal 
or profit are past due and which show some potential weakness in the borrower’s financial position 
and credit worthiness, which requires greater follow-up and monitoring. The requirement for provision 
for delinquencies, if any are also periodically assessed. The assessment of impaired portfolio and 
provisioning requirement is vetted through a Provisioning & Impairment Committee at senior management 
level as mandated by CBK regulations and escalated to appropriate Board level committees.

Collateral management: The Bank has adopted a rigorous system of controls, reviews and approvals 
to ensure effective collateral management. This includes commitment to value (C/V) requirement for 
each facility, specific collateral requirement for financing against shares and real estate portfolio. The 
collateral is evaluated in regular frequency and besides internal assessment; the valuations are backed 
by independent third-party reports. 



Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

BASEL III PILLAR III DISCLOSURES
For the year ended 31 December 2021

178

-  The minimum required capital for credit risk exposures:

2021
KD 000’s

Serial 
No. Exposure to credit risk Net exposure Risk weighted 

assets
Required 

Capital

1 Cash items 8,983 - -
2 Claims on sovereigns 242,507 13,989 1,469
3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 128,359 8,196 861
4 Claims on MDBs 27,428 - -
5 Claims on banks 323,038 96,770 10,161
6 Claims on corporate 1,663,879 1,552,498  163,012
7 Regulatory retail exposure 321,548 302,304 31,742
8 Past due exposures 35,421 21,034  2,209
9 Real estate investments 53,545 100,681 10,571
10 Investment and financing with Customers 11,037 15,565 1,634

11 Exposures resulting from sukuk and 
securitization (taskeek) 86,899 29,080 3,053

12 Other exposures 118,729 125,146 13,140
Less: Capital required for excess in general 
Provision (over 1.25% of CRWA) -  )22,917( )2,406(

Total 3,021,373 2,242,346 235,446

2020
KD 000’s

Serial 
No. Exposure to credit risk Net exposure Risk weighted 

assets
Required 

Capital

1 Cash items 14,460 - -

2 Claims on sovereigns 187,232 5,118 538
3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 128,317 12,975 1,362
4 Claims on MDBs 9,090 - -

5 Claims on banks 409,182 92,169 9,678
6 Claims on corporate 1,451,487 1,355,108 142,286
7 Regulatory retail exposure 291,729 272,358 28,598
8 Past due exposures 38,373 25,765 2,705
9 Real estate investments 53,824 100,500 10,553
10 Investment and financing with Customers 16,132 22,592 2,372

11 Exposures resulting from sukuk and 
securitization (taskeek) 47,658 17,327 1,819

12 Other exposures 98,116 102,102 10,721
 Less : Capital required for excess in general
Provision (over 1.25% of  CRWA) - (20,747) (2,178)

Total 2,745,600 1,985,267 208,453
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- Net Credit Exposures classified as Rated or Unrated )External Ratings(

2021
KD 000’s

Serial 
No. Credit risk exposure Net Credit

Exposure Rated Exposure Unrated 
Exposures

1 Cash items 8,983 - 8,983
2 Claims on sovereigns 242,507 242,507 -
3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 128,359 17,436 110,923*
4 Claims on MDBs 27,428 27,428 -
5 Claims on banks 323,038 323,028 10
6 Claims on corporate 1,663,879 - 1,663,879
7 Regulatory retail exposure 321,548 - 321,548
8 Past due exposures 35,421 - 35,421
9 Real estate investments 53,545 - 53,545
10 Investment and financing with Customers 11,037 - 11,037

11 Exposures resulting from sukuk and 
securitization (taskeek) 86,899 86,899 -

12 Other exposures 118,729 - 118,729
Total 3,021,373 697,298 2,324,075

* Refers to local PSE 

2020
KD 000’s

Serial 
No. Credit risk exposure Net Credit

Exposure Rated Exposure Unrated 
Exposures

1 Cash items 14,460 - 14,460
2 Claims on sovereigns 187,232 187,232 -
3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 128,317 20,451 107,866*
4 Claims on MDBs 9,090 9,090 -
5 Claims on banks 409,182 409,178 4
6 Claims on corporate 1,451,487 - 1,451,487
7 Regulatory retail exposure 291,729 - 291,729
8 Past due exposures 38,373 - 38,373
9 Real estate investments 53,824 - 53,824
10 Investment and financing with Customers 16,132 - 16,132

11 Exposures resulting from sukuk and 
securitization (taskeek) 47,658 47,658 -

12 Other exposures 98,116 5,142 92,974
 Total 2,745,600 678,751 2,066,849

* Refers to local PSE 
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- Credit Risk Exposures classified Self-financed (SF) and Un-Restricted Investment Accounts (URIA)

2021
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit risk exposure SF URIA

1 Cash items 7,908 1,075

2 Claims on sovereigns 213,479 29,028

3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 113,016 15,367

4 Claims on MDBs 24,145 3,283

5 Claims on banks 284,371 38,668

6 Claims on corporate 1,690,335 229,845

7 Regulatory retail exposure 283,061 38,490

8 Past due exposures 39,807 5,413 

9 Real estate investments 47,136 6,409

10 Investment and financing with Customers 51,856 7,051

11 Exposures resulting from sukuk and securitization (taskeek) 76,497 10,402

12 Other exposures 104,517 14,212

Total  2,936,128 399,243

2020
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit risk exposure SF URIA

1 Cash items 12,540 1,920

2 Claims on sovereigns 162,368 24,864

3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 111,306 17,045

4 Claims on MDBs 7,883 1,207

5 Claims on banks 354,843 54,339

6 Claims on corporate 1,454,636 222,758

7 Regulatory retail exposure 252,989 38,742

8 Past due exposures 41,339 6,331

9 Real estate investments 46,676 7,148

10 Investment and financing with Customers 19,580 2,998

11 Exposures resulting from sukuk and securitization (taskeek) 41,329 6,329

12 Other exposures 85,086 13,030

Total 2,590,575 396,711
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-  Average Credit Risk exposures, average Self-Financed Assets and average Un-Restricted Investment 
Accounts on quarterly basis:

2021
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit risk exposure

 Average
Credit risk
Exposure

Average Self-
financed

Average
 Un-Restricted

 Investment
Accounts

1 Cash items 9,948 8,676 1,272
2 Claims on sovereigns 245,772 214,381 31,391
3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 130,518 113,854 16,664
4 Claims on MDBs 20,818 18,186 2,632
5 Claims on banks 283,790 247,614 36,176
6 Claims on corporate 1,803,839 1,574,052 229,787
7 Regulatory retail exposure 308,007 268,756 39,251
8 Past due exposures 48,992 42,730 6,262
9 Real estate investments 53,676 46,827 6,849
10 Investment and financing with Customers 31,906 27,907 3,999

11 Exposures resulting from sukuk and 
securitization (taskeek) 68,877 60,169 8,708

12 Other exposures 116,668 101,800 14,868
Total 3,122,811        2,724,952             397,859

2020
KD 000’s

 Serial
No. Credit risk exposure

 Average
Credit risk
Exposure

Average Self-
financed

Average
 Un-Restricted

 Investment
Accounts

1 Cash items 17,439 14,993 2,446
2 Claims on sovereigns 177,911 153,123 24,788
3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 126,682 108,974 17,708
4 Claims on MDBs 6,306 5,446 860
5 Claims on banks 359,880 309,722 50,158
6 Claims on corporate 1,654,021 1,422,764 231,257
7 Regulatory retail exposure 272,054 234,052 38,002
8 Past due exposures 54,287 46,684 7,603
9 Real estate investments 56,005 48,173 7,832
10 Investment and financing with Customers 47,973 41,244 6,729

11 Exposures resulting from sukuk and 
securitization (taskeek) 47,915 41,211 6,704

12 Other exposures 98,347 84,593 13,754
Total 2,918,820 2,510,979 407,841
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Concentration Risk

The Bank considers credit concentration risk as the risk that the Bank is exposed due to the excess level 
of exposure to any high-net-worth individual or related group of customers, specific industry or sector, 
country or geographical locations. 

Single Name Concentration:

Single name concentration is monitored on an individual basis and on consolidated related party 
exposure basis. Every proposal is subjected to this check and it is ensured that no single name 
concentration exceeds the 15% of capital limit set up by CBK unless specifically pre-approved by CBK. 
The top 25 exposures are monitored through a MIS generated on daily basis and forms part of reports 
submitted to senior management and also other statutory reporting units. The Bank abides by single 
obligor rules set by CBK requiring the Banks to seek CBK approval for any planned exposure to a single 
counterparty or groups of connected counterparties exceeding the limit applicable to that counterparty.

Sector Concentration:

The Bank has consciously adopted measures to diversify the exposures to various sectors. Real estate 
exposure is currently the major contributor to portfolio but it remains within the limits internally prescribed 
for the sector and the exposure has sufficient collateral coverage. The Bank has established industry 
limits to ensure portfolio diversification and employs stringent financing guidelines in conjunction with 
close portfolio monitoring for vulnerable portfolios to systematic downturns.

Geographic Concentration:

The Bank’s operations are mainly concentrated within Kuwait. The Bank as part of its business expansion 
strategy has consciously diversified its exposures across geographies to reduce the dependence on 
local markets. Diversifications across geographies expose the Bank to legal, transfer and sovereign risk. 
Exposures are monitored periodically to ensure compliance within the cross-border limits approved by 
the Board of Directors.

The Risk Management Department monitors the movements in the portfolio and reports are submitted 
to the senior management on monthly and quarterly basis. The reports highlight the market trends, the 
business directions, the risk parameters and suggest mitigates.
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- Geographical Distributions for Credit Risk Exposure:                                            

2021
KD 000’s

Serial 
No. Credit Risk Exposure Mena North 

America Europe Asia Total

1 Cash items 8,983 - - - 8,983
2 Claims on sovereigns 238,178 - - 4,329 242,507

3 Claims on Public Sector Entities 
(PSE) 128,383 - - - 128,383

4 Claims on MDBs 27,428 - - - 27,428
5 Claims on banks 297,692 9,637 12,664 3,045 323,038
6 Claims on corporate 1,907,901 - 73 12,207 1,920,181
7 Regulatory retail exposure 321,551 - - - 321,551
8 Past due exposures 45,220 - - - 45,220
9 Real estate investments 53,545 - - - 53,545

10 Investment and financing with 
Customers 58,908 - - - 58,908

11 Exposures resulting from sukuk and 
securitization (taskeek) 26,390 - - 60,509 86,899

12 Other exposures 103,818 - 14,910 - 118,728
Total 3,217,997 9,637 27,647 80,090 3,335,371

2020
KD 000’s

Serial 
No. Credit Risk Exposure Mena North 

America Europe Asia Total

1 Cash items 14,460 - - - 14,460
2 Claims on sovereigns 182,664 - - 4,568 187,232

3 Claims on Public Sector Entities 
(PSE) 128,351 - - - 128,351

4 Claims on MDBs 9,090 - - - 9,090
5 Claims on banks 381,820 12,610 14,529 223 409,182
6 Claims on corporate 1,672,687 - 73 4,634 1,677,394
7 Regulatory retail exposure 291,731 - - - 291,731
8 Past due exposures 47,670 - - - 47,670
9 Real estate investments 53,824 - - - 53,824

10 Investment and financing with 
Customers 22,578 - - - 22,578

11 Exposures resulting from sukuk and 
securitization (taskeek) 14,283 - - 33,375 47,658

12 Other exposures 85,545 - 12,571 - 98,116
Total 2,904,703 12,610 27,173 42,800 2,987,286
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- Maturities of total Credit Risk exposure: 

2021
KD 000’s

Serial 
No. Credit Risk Exposure Up to 3 

months
3 to 12 
months

Over 1 
year Total

1 Cash items 8,983 - - 8,983

2 Claims on sovereigns 213,329 - 29,178 242,507

3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 1,049 29 127,305 128,383

4 Claims on MDBs - - 27,428 27,428

5 Claims on banks 224,250 12,933 85,855 323,038

6 Claims on corporate 916,877 688,356 314,948 1,920,181

7 Regulatory retail exposure 234 2,256 319,061 321,551

8 Past due exposures - - 45,220 45,220 

9 Real estate investments - - 53,545 53,545

10 Investment and financing with Customers 27,991 30,917 - 58,908

11 Exposures resulting from sukuk and 
securitization (taskeek) 39,329 21,180 26,390 86,899

12 Other exposures 15,804 5,139 97,785 118,728

Total 1,447,846 760,810  1,126,715  3,335,371

2020
KD 000’s

Serial 
No. Credit Risk Exposure Up to 3 

months
3 to 12 
months

Over 1 
year Total

1 Cash items 14,460 - - 14,460

2 Claims on sovereigns 174,873 - 12,359 187,232

3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 3,344 3,979 121,028 128,351

4 Claims on MDBs - - 9,090 9,090

5 Claims on banks 342,405 7,026 59,751 409,182

6 Claims on corporate 770,805 701,584 205,005 1,677,394

7 Regulatory retail exposure 658 2,393 288,680 291,731

8 Past due exposures - - 47,670 47,670

9 Real estate investments - - 53,824 53,824

10 Investment and financing with Customers 11,136 11,442 - 22,578

11 Exposures resulting from sukuk and 
securitization (taskeek) 25,104 10,621 11,933 47,658

12 Other exposures 4,608 5,881 87,627 98,116

Total 1,347,393 742,926 896,967 2,987,286
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- Main sectors of total Credit Risk exposures 

2021
KD 000’s

Serial 
No. Credit Risk Exposure  Manufacturing

and trading
 Banks and

 Financial
institutions

 Construction
 and Real

Estate
Govern-

ment Others Total

1 Cash items - 8,983 - - - 8,983
2 Claims on sovereigns - 213,329 - 29,178 - 242,507

3 Claims on Public 
Sector Entities (PSE) - - - 128,383 - 128,383

4 Claims on MDBs - 27,428 - - - 27,428
5 Claims on banks - 323,038 - - - 323,038
6 Claims on corporate 308,530 213,223 906,601 - 491,827 1,920,181 

7 Regulatory retail 
exposure - - - - 321,551 321,551

8 Past due exposures 5,940 - 36,522 - 2,758 45,220
9 Real estate investments - - 53,545 - - 53,545

10 Investment and financing 
with Customers - - - - 58,908 58,908

11
Exposures resulting 
from sukuk and 
securitization (taskeek)

- 60,509 - 4,675 21,715 86,899

12 Other exposures - 19,861 3,605 - 95,262 118,728
Total 314,470 866,371 1,000,273 162,236 992,021 3,335,371

2020
KD 000’s

Serial 
No. Credit Risk Exposure  Manufacturing

and trading
 Banks and

 Financial
institutions

 Construction
 and Real

Estate
Govern-

ment Others Total

1 Cash items - 14,460 - - - 14,460
2 Claims on sovereigns - 174,873 - 12,359 - 187,232

3 Claims on Public 
Sector Entities (PSE) - - - 128,351 - 128,351

4 Claims on MDBs - 9,090 - - - 9,090
5 Claims on banks - 409,182 - - - 409,182
6 Claims on corporate 341,002 174,810 848,534 - 313,048 1,677,394

7 Regulatory retail 
exposure - - - - 291,731 291,731

8 Past due exposures 5,942 - 39,368 - 2,360 47,670

9 Real estate 
investments - - 53,824 - - 53,824

10
Investment and 
financing with 
Customers

- - - - 22,578 22,578

11
Exposures resulting 
from sukuk and 
securitization (taskeek)

- 33,375 - 7,151 7,132 47,658

12 Other exposures - 26,665 3,622 - 67,829 98,116
Total 346,944 842,455 945,348 147,861 704,678 2,987,286
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Irregular and past due credit facilities

- Irregular Credit facilities (Impaired) consist the following categories:

Watch list Category requiring specific provisions on assessment basis:  «Special mention where it is 
required to calculate specific provisions for them”. Includes regular clients but upon management’s 
discretion, provisions have been booked to confront any possible future deterioration, in addition to credit 
facilities that are overdue for 90 days or less (inclusive). The specific provision percentage is determined 
based on review of each case and after a thorough study by the management and after deducting 
deferred, suspended profit and eligible collateral.

Sub-standard: If facilities are irregular for a period of 91 – 180 days (inclusive), a provision rate of 
minimum 20% shall be applied on the total of the facilities net of deferred and suspended profit and 
eligible collateral.

Doubtful Debts: If debts are irregular for a period of 181 – 365 days (inclusive), a provision rate of 
minimum 50% shall be applied on the total of the facilities net of deferred and suspended profit and 
eligible collateral.

Bad Debts: If debts are irregular for more than 365 days, a provision rate of 100% shall be applied on the 
total of the facilities net of deferred and suspended profit and eligible collateral.

 Special mention where it is not required to calculate a specific provision for them but continue to be 
subject to general provision.

In accordance with the CBK instructions, a minimum general provision is made on all applicable credit 
facilities (net of certain categories of collateral) that are not provided for specifically. The minimum general 
provision in excess of the present 1% for cash facilities and 0.5% for non-cash facilities is retained as a 
general provision until further directive from the CBK.

Beginning 2018, the Bank rolled-out IFRS 9 based Impairment Assessment for the specified asset 
(exposure) classes as mandated by the CBK. 

At 31 December 2021, the Bank’s non-performing cash finance facilities amounted to KD 47,603  thousand 
(31 December 2020: KD 49,832 thousand), KD 47,264 thousand (31 December 2020: KD 49,406 thousand) 
after excluding deferred revenue, KD 47,203 thousand (31 December 2020: KD 49,298 thousand) after 
excluding deferred revenue and suspended profit and 35,421 thousand (31 December 2020: KD 38,373 
thousand) after excluding eligible collaterals in accordance with CBK regulations. As at 31 December 2021, 
the Bank’s provision amounted to KD 61,884 thousand (31 December 2020: KD 52,929 thousand), including 
general provisions that amounted KD 51,233  thousand (31 December 2020: KD 45,822 thousand). 
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Irregular and past due financing facilities exposures based on standard portfolios are as follows: 

2021
KD 000’s

Serial 
No. Credit Risk Exposure Impaired  Specific

provision
Net

 financing
facilities

 Specific
 provision

write off
Past due

1 Claims on corporate - - - - 230,127

2 Regulatory retail exposure - - - - 17,016 

3 Past due exposures 47,264 2,071 45,193 1,399 -

Total 47,264 2,071 45,193 1,399 247,143
 

2020
KD 000’s

Serial 
No. Credit Risk Exposure Impaired  Specific

provision
Net

 financing
facilities

 Specific
 provision

write off
Past due

1 Claims on corporate - - - - 227,042

2 Regulatory retail exposure - - - - 13,526

3 Past due exposures 49,406 1,736 47,669 27,878 -

Total 49,406 1,736 47,669 27,878 240,568

Irregular and past due financing facilities exposures based on financial assets are as follows:

2021
KD 000’s

2020
KD 000’s

Serial 
No. Credit Risk Exposure Impaired Impaired

1 Claims on corporate 44,112 46,766

2 Regulatory retail  exposure 1,081 903

Total 45,193 47,669
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Irregular and past due financing facilities exposures based on geographical distribution as described 
as follows:

2021
KD 000’s

Serial 
No. Credit Risk Exposure Impaired  Specific

provision
Net

  financing
facilities

 Specific
 provision

write off
Past due

1 MENA 47,264 2,071 45,193  1,399 247,143
2 Europe - - - - -
3 Asia - - - - -

Total 47,264 2,071 45,193 1,399 247,143

2020
KD 000’s

Serial 
No. Credit Risk Exposure Impaired  Specific

provision
Net

  financing
facilities

 Specific
 provision

write off
Past due

1 MENA 49,406 1,736 47,669  27,878 240,568
2 Europe - - - - -
3 Asia - - - - -

Total 49,406 1,736 47,669 27,878 240,568

Irregular and past due financing facilities exposures based on industrial distribution is described as 
follows:

2021
KD 000’s

Serial 
No. Credit Risk Exposure Impaired  Specific

provision
Net

 financing
facilities

 Specific
 provision

write off
Past due

1 Manufacturing & Trade 5,940 - 5,940 - 55,578
2 Banks and financial institutions - - - 44 -
3 Construction and Real Estate 37,583 1,089 36,494 41 72,230
4 Others 3,741 982 2,759 1,314 119,335

Total 47,264 2,071 45,193 1,399 247,143

2020
KD 000’s

Serial 
No. Credit Risk Exposure Impaired  Specific

provision
Net

  financing
facilities

 Specific
 provision

write off
Past due

1 Manufacturing & Trade 5,942 - 5,942 1,280 58,635
2 Banks and financial institutions - - - - -
3 Construction and Real   Estate 40,264 895 39,369 426 123,989
4 Others 3,200 841 2,358 26,172 57,944

Total 49,406 1,736 47,669 27,878 240,568
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Movement of specific provision (cash only) is outlined as follows:

2021
KD 000’s

2020
KD 000’s

Serial 
No. Particulars Amount Amount

1 At 1 January 7,107  6,228
2 Charge for the year 4,943 28,757
3 Written off during the year (1,399) (27,878)
4 Reclassification of provision - -

At 31 December 10,651 7,107

General provision according to the credit risk exposure is described as follows:

2021
KD 000’s

2020
KD 000’s

Serial 
No. Credit Risk Exposure Amount Amount

1 Claims on banks 152 61
2 Claims on corporate 46,526 41,559
3 Regulatory retail exposure 4,555 4,202

Total 51,233 45,822
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Eligible collaterals and banking guarantees given against credit risk exposure are described as follows:

2021
KD 000’s

Serial 
No. Credit risk exposure  Gross credit

exposure
 Eligible

collaterals
 Banking

Guarantees

1 Cash items 8,983 - -
2 Claims on sovereigns 242,507 - -
3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 128,383 25 -
4 Claims on MDBs 27,428 - -
5 Claims on banks 323,038 - -
6 Claims on corporate 1,920,181 256,303 -
7 Regulatory retail exposure 321,551 2 -
8 Past due exposures 45,220 9,798 -
9 Real estate investments 53,545 - -

10 Investment and financing with  Customers 58,908 47,870 -

11 Exposures resulting from sukuk and 
securitization (taskeek) 86,899 - -

12 Other exposures 118,728 - -
Total 3,335,371 313,998 -

2020
KD 000’s

Serial 
No. Credit risk exposure  Gross credit

exposure
 Eligible

collaterals
 Banking

Guarantees

1 Cash items 14,460 - -

2 Claims on sovereigns 187,232 - -

3 Claims on Public Sector Entities (PSE) 128,351 34 -

4 Claims on MDBs 9,090 -

5 Claims on banks 409,182 - -

6 Claims on corporate 1,677,394 225,907

7 Regulatory retail exposure 291,731 2 -

8 Past due exposures 47,670 9,297 -

9 Real estate investments 53,824 - -

10 Investment and financing with  Customers 22,578 6,446 -

11 Exposures resulting from sukuk and 
securitization (taskeek) 47,658 - -

12 Other exposures 98,116 - -

Total 2,987,286 241,686 -
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Operational Risk

Operational risk is defined as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, 
people and/or systems, or from external events. This includes, but is not limited to, legal risk, fraud risk, 
risk due to money laundering and risk of non-compliance with Islamic Shariaà. 

Operational Risk arise from day to day operational activities undertaken by the Bank in conducting the 
business by its various business and operational units.

The Bank identifies and assesses the operational risk in products, activities, processes and systems. It 
also ensures that before any new products or services, activities, processes or systems are introduced; 
the associated operational risks are properly assessed and mitigated. The Bank’s operating procedures 
for all departments are overseen by the Operational Risk Unit. The Bank uses the following methodologies 
in managing operational risk.

• Risk and Control Self-Assessment (RCSA): Bank has in place a comprehensive process for Risk and 
Control Self-Assessments. Bank uses the RCSA as a self-assessment process of identifying and 
assessing operational risks within the Bank and evaluating effectiveness of controls that are in place to 
manage the identified risk. Risks are assessed based on their likelihood and potential financial impact.

• Key Risk Indicator (KRI): KRIs are measures to monitor exposure to key Operational Risks. KRI provides 
a holistic view of operational risks to the management.

• Loss Data Management (LDM): The Bank has in place a Loss Data Management process to record 
operational losses. All operational loss are recorded and thoroughly analyzed. Operational losses are 
classified as per Basel II event categories.

All critical risks and loss events are periodically reported to the Board Risk Management Committee. 

Operational risk weighted exposures calculated during the period ended 31 December 2021 amounted 
to KD 124,468 thousand (31 December 2020: KD 124,368 thousand) as per the basic indicator approach. 
The amount calculated for operational risk weighted exposures is adequate to cover any projected risks 
to maintain a reasonable profit ratio for shareholders and investment account holders. The minimum 
required capital for operational risk exposures amounts to KD 13,069 thousand (31 December 2020: 
KD 13,059 thousand).

Operational Risk governance framework

Since operational risk arise from a multitude of processes, the primary focus of operational risk 
management is in developing awareness of operational weaknesses, strengthening the controls and 
installing additional risk mitigation where required.  The Operational Risk Framework comprises of 
risk governance which is an integral aspect of corporate governance and focuses on the structures, 
processes and approaches for management of significant risks.  Bank’s policies define clear roles and 
responsibilities for Risk Management. Operational risk management process in the Bank consist of 
identification of risks and controls, assessment of risks and controls, monitoring and reporting. The Head 
of Operational Risk Unit works with the business departments through operational risk coordinators to 
improve understanding of operational weaknesses and take preventative steps to mitigate the risk. 

The Bank has implemented a new Operational Risk Management System which enables it to measure 
monitor and report the operational risks. 
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Business Continuity Management (BCM)

Business Continuity is the capability to continue the services at acceptable predefined levels following 
a disruptive incident.  Business Continuity Management System (BCMS) in the bank addresses the risks 
inherent with unexpected business disruptions and it has been established to make sure that its processes 
and their supporting systems are capable of managing business disruptions as defined and approved by 
the respective management steering committee.

The Bank fully recognizes the importance of maintaining a comprehensive business continuity program 
and has well established BCM policy, strategy procedures and recovery plans that provide resilience for 
Bank’s critical systems and data at a minimum acceptable level.

Bank has established BCM strategy taking into considering the following zero tolerance risks:

•   Noncompliance to Sharia’a principles 
•   Noncompliance to Central Bank of Kuwait’s requirements
•   Noncompliance to internal Information Security policies 
•   Noncompliance to Anti Money Laundering requirements 
•   Noncompliance to all other applicable laws and regulations

The Bank’s BCM programme adheres to Business continuity guidelines issued by international organization 
for standardization (ISO), Good Practice Guidelines by the Business Continuity institute (BCI) and Basel 
Joint Forum: High-level Principles for Business Continuity.

The Bank’s BCM program has been certified in ISO – 22301 by internationally reputed and specialized 
external Audit agency BSI (British Standard Institution) on 2013 and has been recertified in 2016 and 
again in2019.

BCM Lifecycle elements are currently automated and conducted periodically in accordance with the BCM 
maintenance standard as defined in the BCM policy. (i.e.) standards and procedures, Business Impact 
Analysis (BIA), BCM strategy and functional recovery plans. Impacts are assessed based on historical 
evidences, and available sources and publications considering Bank’s business strategies.

The Bank has a Disaster Recovery Site. Server backups are stored off-site and transaction logs are 
copied regularly. Technical and functional recovery tests are undertaken periodically to ensure the Bank’s 
preparedness aiming for the safeguarding both Bank and its staff interests, resuming customers’ core 
data processing, other critical systems at acceptable levels within the shortest possible time and with 
minimal disruptions, under defined scenarios.

BCM Governance Framework:

The BCM Unit works with the BCM leaders who represent their business functions in the bank to improve 
business continuity program and address weaknesses result from nonconformance to its requirements 
and take precaution measures to mitigate the associated risks. Business Continuity Steering Committee 
(BCSC) at the management level is responsible to ensure that BCM policy incorporates sound business 
continuity management practices that are implemented effectively within the Bank. The BCSC also 
ensures that members and senior management are fully aware of, and are constantly monitoring the 
continuity requirements of their business functions.

BCSC convene to review the progress of BCM program its lifecycle elements and also approve any changes 
to the BCM documents where all the activities of which are overseen by the Board Risk Management 
Committee.
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Asset Liability Management.

The ALM function provides a comprehensive and dynamic framework for measuring, monitoring and 
managing liquidity, profit rate risk and market risks such as foreign exchange and equity price risks 
of the bank. It involves assessment of various types of risks and altering the asset-liability portfolio in 
a dynamic way in order to manage risks and enhance profitability. The Asset & Liability Management 
function in the Bank seeks to facilitate the achievement of the Bank’s business objectives, keeping the 
market risks at prudent levels. The Asset Liability Management Committee (“ALCO”) is the primary 
monitoring & policy-setting body for Asset Liability Management in the Bank.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value and the future cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices. It refers to the risk of deterioration in the Bankʼs financial condition 
resulting from adverse price or volatile movements of the assets contained in its portfolio. Market risk 
represents what the Bank could lose if prices or volatility changed. The main source of market risk 
comprises of currency risks, profit rate risk, and other price risk (other than those arising from profit rate 
risk or currency risk).

Management of Market Risk

TThe Bank manages market risk by implementing pro-active methodologies and putting in place policies 
& procedures for the measurement, limits monitoring and reporting of market risks. The policies and 
procedures ensure clear definition of roles & responsibilities of the various functionaries involved at all 
levels for the activity concerned, clear approval authority structure, and a hierarchy of limits so that the 
market risks are within acceptable levels. Market Risks are measured by appropriate methodologies. 

The Bank uses the Value at Risk (VaR) approach for measuring the risk of the foreign exchange 
exposures of the Bank and has suitable VaR limits apart from limits on the notional value. Earnings at 
Risk (EaR) based on the re-pricing gap method is used to assess the profit rate risk in the banking book 
and appropriate EaR limits are established.  

The bank also periodically measures the change in the Economic Value of Equity (EVE) by applying 
a standard shock. Equity Price risk is measured through Value at Risk methodologies. All market risk 
exposures are closely monitored by the Risk Management Department. Market risk is reported to ALCO 
members on daily basis, to ALCO on monthly basis and to BRMC on a quarterly basis.

Market Risk Governance Framework

ALCO and BRMC oversees market risk. Foreign exchange risk is managed within Treasury Department 
and equity price risk is managed within the Investment Department.  

Market Risk Exposures

Market Risk Weighted Exposure as of 31 December 2021 amounted to KD 11,096 thousand (31 
December 2020: KD 22,711 thousand), based on the standardized approach. The minimum 
required capital for market risk exposures amounts to KD 1,165 thousand (31 December 2020: 
KD 2,385 thousand). The Bank’s market exposure was related to the foreign currency exchange 
risk and the Bank did not have any other market risk exposure.
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Liquidity Risk

Liquidity is the ability of the Bank to efficiently accommodate for decreases in deposits and other 
liabilities as well as fund financing portfolio growth and off-Balance Sheet claims. Liquidity Risk is the 
risk that the Bank may be unable to obtain at a certain time the cash flow resources necessary to meet 
its obligations/ commitments which can either be financing or the repayment of maturing obligations. 
This includes the risk of not meeting the regulatory liquidity requirements of CBK, inability to procure 
the necessary resources without incurring high cost and a reduction in the financing activity to match 
resources actually available. Liquidity Risk arises on account of (a) the inability to replace net outflows due 
to unanticipated withdrawal/ non-renewal of deposits (wholesale / retail), (b) the inability to compensate 
for the non- receipt of expected inflow of funds, e.g. performing assets becoming nonperforming assets 
and (c) crystallization of contingent liability.

Management of Liquidity Risk

Liquidity Risk is measured by using the regulatory residual maturity ladder approach which involves 
analyzing liquidity gaps in different time periods. The Bank manages its gaps by establishing limits and 
ensuring that the gaps are within the internal limits. Regulatory limits are prescribed by CBK and has to 
be adhered at all times. In addition to the regulatory ratio and limits including Liquidity Coverage Ratio 
(LCR) and Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR), the Bank also monitors multiple deposit concentration 
ratios. The Bank’s maturity profile and related maturity mismatches are also subjected to stress testing 
on a periodical basis. Liquidity gaps are monitored on a daily basis and reviewed on a monthly basis 
by ALCO. To limit the liquidity risk, funding concentrations are constantly monitored, funding sources 
diversified and long-term funds sourced.

Liquidity Risk Governance Framework

Liquidity Risk is monitored by Market & Liquidity Risk function within Risk Management, while ALCO and 
BRMC oversee liquidity risk management. ALCO reviews periodically the actual liquidity position and 
recommends in terms of immediate targets of liquidity mix and maturity profiles/ mismatches. BRMC 
periodically reviews the adherence to the internal /regulatory liquidity ratios and limits established.

Profit Rate Risk  

Profit Rate Risk is the risk of decrease in the Bank’s net present value in the event of changes in market 
reference rates. An unfavorable movement of market reference rates affects the net present value of 
the Bank.

Management of Profit Rate Risk

Profit Rate Risk is measured and managed by stipulating the limits for Earnings at Risk (EaR) on 
account of repricing mismatch (excess of re-pricing liabilities over assets or vice-versa) that the bank is 
prepared to carry on its books. The bank also measures this risk by estimating periodically the market 
to market impact on the net assets and liabilities of the bank (EVE approach).

Profit Rate Governance Framework  

Profit Rate Risk is monitored by Market & Liquidity Risk function within Risk Management, while ALCO 
and BRMC oversee profit rate risk management. ALCO reviews periodically the actual profit rate 
mismatch position and recommends actions to mitigate pricing mismatches.
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Investment securities

The Bank classifies its investment securities upon initial recognition into the following categories:
Financial assets carried at amortised cost
Financial assets carried at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)
Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost:

A financial asset is carried at amortised cost if it meets both the conditions that:
1.   it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; 

and
2.  Its contractual terms give rise, on specified dates, to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and profit on the principal amount outstanding..
Financial assets carried at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective yield method. Financing income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial assets carried at FVOCI:
a) Debt securities at FVOCI

A debt investment is carried at FVOCI if it meets both the conditions that:
1.  it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash 

flows and selling financial assets and
2.  Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and profit on the principal amount outstanding.
Debt securities at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Profit calculated using the effective 
yield method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment losses are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. Fair value changes which are not part of an effective hedging 
relationship are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the cumulative changes 
in fair values as part of equity until the asset is derecognised or reclassified. When the financial asset 
is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is 
reclassified from equity to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

b) Equity investments at FVOCI

Upon initial recognition, the Group makes an irrevocable election to classify some of its equity 
investments as equity investments at FVOCI if they meet the definition of Equity under IAS 32 Financial 
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. Such classification is determined on an instrument 
by instrument basis.

Equity investments at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Changes in fair values including 
foreign exchange component are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the 
fair values reserves as part of equity. Cumulative gains and losses previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income are transferred to retained earnings on derecognition and are not recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Dividend income on equity investments at FVOCI are 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss unless they clearly represent a recovery of 
part of the cost of the investment in which case they are recognised in other comprehensive income. 
Equity investments at FVOCI are not subject to impairment assessment.
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Financial assets carried at FVTPL:

Financial assets in this category are those assets which have been either designated by management 
upon initial recognition or are mandatorily required to be measured at fair value under IFRS 9. 
Management designates an instrument at FVTPL that otherwise meet the requirements to be measured 
at amortised cost or at FVOCI only if it eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch that 
would otherwise arise. Financial assets with contractual cash flows not representing solely payment of 
principal and profit are mandatorily required to be measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are subsequently measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Profit is recognised using the effective yield method. 
Dividend income from equity investments measured at FVTPL is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss when the right to the payment has been established.

Financial assets, the realised gain or loss and the unrealised gain or loss on these investment securities 
are set below:

2021
KD 000’s

Type of Investment
Carrying

Value
 Realised

gain or loss
 Un-Realised gain

or loss
Change in Fair value

of financial assets
through OCI

Quoted equity securities 4,605 - 382 292
Unquoted equity securities 25,733 - - 3,073
Investment in Sukuks 265,501 888 - (2,762)

Total 295,839 888 382 603

2020
KD 000’s

Type of Investment
Carrying

Value
 Realised

gain or loss
 Un-Realised gain

or loss
Change in Fair value

of financial assets
through OCI

Quoted equity securities 16,099 - 360 519
Unquoted equity securities 23,836 - - (6,056)
Investment in Sukuks 144,427 33 - 2,656
Total 184,362 33 360 (2,881)
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2021
KD 000’s

Financial assets by sectors Carrying Value  Minimum capital
requirement

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income 
Trading and manufacturing 4,913 516

Banks and financial institutions 241,681 25,377

Construction and real estate 1,931 203

Other 45,587 4,786

Subtotal 294,112 30,882

Financial assets at FVTPL

Trading and manufacturing - -

Banks and financial institutions 1,665 175 

Construction and real estate - -

Other 62  6

Subtotal  1,727  181

     Total 295,839  31,063

 
2020

KD 000’s

Financial assets by sectors Carrying Value  Minimum capital
requirement

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

Trading and manufacturing - -

Banks and financial institutions 139,248 14,621

Construction and real estate 2,079 218

Other 29,521 3,100

Subtotal 170,848 17,939

Financial assets at FVTPL

Trading and manufacturing - -

Banks and financial institutions 880 92

Construction and real estate - -

Other 12,634 1,327

Subtotal 13,514 1,419
     Total 184,362 19,358
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Qualitative Risks Capital Allocation    

Strategic Risk

The Bank defines strategic risk as the current or prospective impact on Bank’s earnings, capital, and 
risks arising from changes in environment the Bank operates in, from adverse strategic decisions, 
improper implementation of decision or lack of responsiveness to industry downturns, economic 
direction or technological changes.  In this regard the Bank has put in place strategic risk framework to 
identify measure, monitor and report strategic risk exposures.  The sources of strategic risk are:

-  Gap in execution of the Bank’s strategy

-  Complexity of the Bankʼs Strategy 

-  Current risks to the achievement of the strategy 

-  The Bankʼs track record of achieving its strategic goals in past 3 years

Strategic risk will be primarily assessed in terms of the controls available to mitigate such risks and the 
Bank’s ability to successfully implement its goals under its long-term strategic plan. 

Strategic Risk Capital Allocation: As part of its Risk Management Framework, ICAAP and Stress Testing, 
the Bank is assessing its strategic risk and allocating capital considering several scenarios where the 
Bank has not achieved planned growth and partially met the expected return on equity as a case of 
worst possible score. Accordingly, the scores will be mapped to capital, with a floor of predefined base 
points (BPs) for the best possible score.

Reputation Risk  

Reputation risk is the risk of current or prospective negative impact on the Bank’s earnings or capital 
arising from damage to the Bank’s reputation in the perception of major stakeholders. The Bank is 
managing its reputation risk through a reputation risk management framework. 

The Bank is monitoring also the reputation risk under Pillar II risks (ICAAP/stress testing). The following 
factors/aspects are currently being considered in measuring this risk:

•  Financial and market performance (including RoE, stock price and external credit rating)

•  Customer satisfaction and quality of services

•  Regulatory compliance breaches / fines and Sharia compliance

•  Negative media publicity

•  Corporate Social Responsibility

The Bank has identified various reputation Key Risk Indicators (KRIs) and has classified them under 
12 drivers. These KRI’s are managed under customer satisfaction, financial soundness, corporate 
governance, management integrity, business practice, risk management and control environment, 
regulatory compliance, transparency, media and rumors, corporate culture, staff competence and 
crisis management. These parameters are used for assessing and managing reputation risk.
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Under Pillar II the Bank assesses the reputation risk based on reputation risk scorecards to assess 
risk through key drivers that influence reputation of the Bank in the perception of its significant 
stakeholders.

Legal Risk

The Bank defines the legal risk as the risks of loss resulting from the Bank’s inability to implement 
contracts or any other rights vested in it. The sources of legal risk are:

•  Terms & Conditions and general structure of the legal documents/contracts

•  Lack of proper documentation covering core banking business

•  Inadequate or missing authorizations and signatures

•  Violation of the Bank’s or legal rules

•  Claims or counter-claims filed against the Bank

The Bank’s approach to the assessment of legal risk embedded in its contracts and processes 
considering the following four aspects:

i. Net historical gains andlosses (due to the legal risk) including on account Sharia non-compliance)

ii. Assessment of internal audit findings around processes, systems and controls around legal 
documentation and execution of the contracts

iii. Internal Control Reviews (ICR) related to legal documentation of financing contracts and 

iv. Review of a sample of legal contracts on a number of legal aspects/criteria,  

Compliance Risks (Both Regulatory and Shariaà):

The Bank follows a zero-tolerance policy with respect to regulatory compliance risk. A comprehensive 
CBK compliance framework is in place to monitor and review adherence to regulatory requirements.

In addition to the above, Risk Management framework covers the Shariaà Compliance Risk under the 
legal risk management, operational risk management and reputation risk. 

Both internal and external audit programmes did not report any violation on Shariaà compliance of the 
Bank and as per its Shariaà and Fatwa Supervisory Board.

Shariaà controls  

In terms of the Bank’s policies and procedures, the Shariaà Audit Department audits the Bankʼs various 
departments twice a year, based on their adherence to the Shariaà controls in respect of the Bankʼs 
products. The report of the Shariaà audit is taken up by the Bankʼs management for corrective action. 

Any profits, contrary to the principles of Shariaà law, which is realized either due to negligence or 
ignorance, are set aside and not included in the Bank’s profit. Similarly, expenses incurred or profits 
accrued on account of transactions under contracts entered into with customers before the Bank’s 
conversion to an Islamic bank and where the customer has not consented to covert such contracts to 
Islamic Shariaà, are segregated and transferred to a special ‘Charities Account’. The net proceeds of this 
account are spent towards charitable works under the supervision and approval of the Shariaà Board. 
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During the period ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Bank’s Shariaà department 
did not find any Shariaà violation in respect of contracts and transactions that were studied and audited.

The Bank uses the ‘Companies and Institutions Zakat Computation Guidebook’ published by Zakat 
House for computing Zakat on the Bankʼs shares

Sixth: Remuneration disclosures

The Bank has construed specific policies to cover remuneration practices that guide its remuneration 
based on performance and risk. For this purpose, the Bank has set up a dedicated Board Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee (BNRC) to independently assess and monitor remuneration levels across 
the bank. The BNRC consists of 4 non-executive board members.

The remuneration policy provides the basis of determining remuneration to the Bank’s employees, 
managers and senior executives based on their responsibilities, authority level and performance.  
Remuneration is determined based on the policy’s guidelines which include performance rewards 
applicable to the Bank as a whole.  The material risk takers determined by the Bank are defined as 
CEO, DCEO and senior executives of Wholesale Banking, International Banking and Large Corporate, 
Retail Banking, Treasury, Investments, and Real Estate.  

The remuneration processes are designed to reward employees based on evaluation of performance.  
Specific employee role and responsibility related performance metrics are designed in the form of 
SMART objectives to continuously evaluate performance of executives and employees.  Performance 
is evaluated based on targets and their achievement measured on a transparent basis that is applied 
for determining rewards. 

The Bank takes into account the risk positions taken into books by senior executives working within the 
business or income generating departments in determining remuneration where the future risks and 
crystallization of such risks are considered. Performance related rewards are subject to a comprehensive 
reward scheme.  

The Bank ensures that the performance of its employees, managers and senior executives are measured 
through a systematic performance management system with measurable metrics for performance 
rewards.  Rewards will vary based on the performance of all employees and executives which is linked 
to the overall performance of the Bank.

The performance incentive scheme applied by the Bank offers a competitive bonus payment scheme 
as a variable reward element to total pay depending on a three-tier platform measuring the Bank’s 
performance, departmental performance and individual performance. The Bank accrues on a monthly 
basis a deferred benefits scheme to cover for the end of service benefits.

The remuneration of risk and audit employees is not linked to the Bank’s financial performance. The 
Board Risk Committee and Board Audit Committee oversee the remuneration of risk and audit staff 
respectively, based on performance measures determined by the respective committees.

As of 31 December 2021, total remuneration of Shariaà board members was KD 23 thousand (31 
December 2020: KD 30 thousand).

As of 31 December 2021, no employees received sign-on award in cash (31 December 2020: Nil).
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The three major categories for remuneration disclosure are as below:

Senior Management: this category includes employees in the position of Assistant General Manager 
and above and staff whose hiring are subject to approval of regulators.

Material Risk Takers: this category includes all employees whose activities and decisions have a 
material impact on the risk profile of the Bank.

Financial and Control Functions: this category includes all head of departments and head of units in 
risk management, financial control & planning, anti-money laundering, internal audit and compliance 
functions.

The following table represents the fixed and variable remuneration.

2021
KD 000’s

Remuneration type
Senior Management  Material Risk Takers

Unrestricted Deferred Unrestricted Deferred

Fixed remuneration
-  Cash-based 2,645 - 1,407 -
-  Other - - - -
Variable remuneration
-  Cash-based 1,093 222 -* 120
-  Other - - - -

* Material Risk Takers are identified as Senior Management                                                                                                                                       

                                                                                                                                        

2020
KD 000’s

Remuneration type
Senior Management  Material Risk Takers

Unrestricted Deferred Unrestricted Deferred

Fixed remuneration
-  Cash-based 2,471 - 1,346 -
-  Other - - - -
Variable remuneration
-  Cash-based 75 178 -* 100
-  Other - - - -

* Material Risk Takers are identified as Senior Management                                                                                                                                      



Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

BASEL III PILLAR III DISCLOSURES
For the year ended 31 December 2021

202

2021
KD 000’s

2020
KD 000’s

Employees categories  Number of
employees

Total
 remuneration

 Number of
employees

Total
 remuneration

Senior Management 31 3,960 27 2,724

Material Risk Takers 14 1,527 11 1,446

Financial and Control Functions 20 997 21 1,040

Seventh: Investment Accounts

Investment accounts receive a proportion of profit based on an agreed profit-sharing ratio and bear a 
share of loss. Investment accounts take the form of unrestricted Mudaraba or Wakala contracts and include 
savings accounts and fixed term deposit accounts. 

Saving Investment Accounts

These are open-term deposits and the client is entitled to withdraw the balances of these accounts or 
portions thereof at any time. The profit sharing of saving investment accounts is calculated and distributed 
quarterly and yearly. 

Fixed-Term Deposit Investment Accounts

These are fixed-term deposits based on the deposit contract executed between the Bank and the 
depositor. These deposits have a predetermined maturity date and renewed automatically for a similar 
period, unless the depositor notifies the Bank in writing of his/her desire not to renew the deposit. The 
profit sharing of fixed-term deposit investment accounts is calculated quarterly, semi-annually and 
yearly depending on the product.

Investment accounts are invested in pools of assets and receive a proportion share of net income from 
these assets after allocating its proportion share of expenses. These assets comply with the Islamic 
Sharia’a, as approved by the Bank’s Sharia’a Supervisory Board. 

Depositors’ accounts represent Current account, Margin Account, Call account, Savings account, 
Mudaraba and Wakala. 
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The ranges of the invested ratios on behalf of the depositors are described as follows:

2021 2020

Name of the deposit  Investment
percentage

 Investment
percentage

Call account 50% 50%

Savings account 60% 60%

Flexible Deposit 70% 70%

KIB Term Deposit - 1 Month 65% 65%

KIB Term Deposit- 3 Month 70% 70%

KIB Term Deposit- 6 Month 75% 75%

KIB Term Deposit- 1 Year 90% 90%

KIB Term Deposit-18 Month 95% 95%

KIB Term Deposit- 24 Month 99% 99%

Long Term Deposit -3 Years 100% 100%
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The Group’s financial leverage ratio comprises of Tier (1) capital (As defined in the instructions on 
capital of Islamic banks Standard) divided by total exposures which consists of:

1.  On-balance sheet exposures

2.  Exposures of hedging contracts compliant with Islamic Sharia’a Standards.

3.  off-balance sheet exposures

At 31 December 2021, the financial leverage ratio is 9.16% (31 December 2020: 11.06%) compared to 
the ratio required by regulatory authorities of 3%, Tier (1) Capital of KD 338,067 thousand (31 December 
2020: KD 356,347 thousand) and total exposures is KD 3,689,469 thousand (31 December 2020: 
KD 3,220,817 thousand).

Summary comparison of accounting assets vs leverage ratio exposure measure:

S.
No. Item

2021 
KD 000’s

2020
KD 000’s

1. Total consolidated assets as per published financial statements 3,174,482 2,854,317

2.
Adjustment for investments in banking, financial, insurance or 
commercial entities that are consolidated for accounting purposes 
but outside the scope of regulatory consolidation

- -

3.
Adjustment for fiduciary assets recognized on the balance sheet 
pursuant to the operative accounting framework but excluded from 
the leverage ratio exposure measure

- -

4. Adjustments for derivative financial instruments - -

5. Adjustment for off-balance sheet items (ie conversion to credit 
equivalent amounts of off-balance sheet exposures) 514,987 366,500

6. Other adjustments - -

7. Leverage ratio exposure 3,689,469 3,220,817
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Leverage ratio common disclosure template:

S.
No. Item

2021 
KD 000’s

2020
KD 000’s

            On-balance sheet exposures

1. On-balance sheet items (excluding derivatives and SFTs, but 
including collateral) 3,174,482 2,854,317

2. (Asset amounts deducted in determining Basel III Tier 1 capital) - -

3. Total on-balance sheet exposures (excluding derivatives and 
SFTs) (sum of lines 1 and 2) 3,174,482 2,854,317

            Exposures of hedging contracts compliant with Islamic Sharia’a Standards

4. Replacement cost associated with all derivatives transactions (i.e. 
net of eligible cash variation margin) - -

5. Add-on amounts for PFE associated with all derivatives transactions - -

6. Gross-up for derivatives collateral provided where deducted from the 
balance sheet assets pursuant to the operative accounting framework - -

7. (Deductions of receivables assets for cash variation margin 
provided in derivatives transactions) - -

8. (Exempted CCP leg of client-cleared trade exposures) - -

9. Total derivative exposures (sum of lines 4 to 8) - -

            Other off-balance sheet exposures

10. Off-balance sheet exposure at gross notional amount 713,210   524,673

11. (Adjustments for conversion to credit equivalent amounts)  (198,223) (158,173)

12. Off-balance sheet items (sum of lines 10 and 11) 514,987 366,500

            Capital and total exposures

13. Tier 1 capital 338,067   356,347

14. Total exposures (sum of lines 3, 9, 12) 3,689,469 3,220,817

            Financial leverage ratio

15. Basel III leverage ratio (13/14) 9.16% 11.06%
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Liquidity Coverage Ratio 

Central Bank of Kuwait had adopted at its meeting convened on 23/12/2014 the Liquidity Coverage Ratio 
(“LCR”) for local Islamic banks, to promote resilience of banks liquidity risk management by ensuring 
that they have sufficient High Quality Liquid Assets (HQLA) to survive a significant stress scenario 
lasting for one month. At minimum, such stock of liquid assets should enable the bank to survive until 
30 days of the stress scenario. Liquidity Coverage Standard (as a percentage) is calculated as follows:

Stock of islamic Shari�ah Compliant (HQLA)

(Net Cash Outflows over the Next 30 Calendar Days)

Governance of Liquidity Risk Management and Funding

The banks liquidity management is guided by its Assets Liability Management (ALM) Policy which is 
reviewed periodically and approved by the Board of Directors. The ALM Policy specifies the main goals, 
roles and responsibilities and related processes for managing liquidity risk. Specifically, the Policy 
outlines approaches for identifying, measuring and monitoring of liquidity risk parameters in line with 
regulatory and internal limits. ALCO and the Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC) oversees the 
liquidity risk management functions. ALCO reviews periodically the liquidity conditions and recommends 
in terms of immediate targets of liquidity mix and maturity profiles / mismatches. BRMC periodically 
reviews the adherence to the internal / regulatory liquidity ratios and limits established. 

Liquidity risk is measured primarily using the residual maturity approach and bank manages its gaps 
within the limits. In addition to prudent liquidity ratios, NSFR and LCR, the bank also monitors periodically 
multiple deposits and funding concentration limits established to ensure better diversification of funding. 
The Bank’s maturity profile and related maturity mismatches are also subjected to stress testing on a 
periodical basis. Liquidity gaps are monitored on a daily basis and again reviewed on a monthly basis 
by ALCO. To limit the liquidity risk, funding concentrations are constantly monitored, funding sources 
diversified and long term funds sourced.

Analysis of the results for the quarter ended 31 December 2021

As per CBK instructions banks should maintain LCR with effect from 1st January 2019 onwards at 
above 100%. In view of the COVID -19 situation revised on 2nd April 2020 and extended on 16th 
February 2021 and 22 June 2021 to be maintained at 80%. Bank has complied with revised ratio on all 
days of the quarter.

The Bank maintained an average LCR (All Currencies) during the quarter at 101.59%. The HQLA 
comprised primarily “Level 1” assets which represent cash and reserve / excess balances with the 
Central Bank of Kuwait (CBK).  The cash-outflows were primarily driven by unsecured wholesale funding 
and inter-bank borrowings. The weighted unsecured wholesale funding constituted 71% of the total 
weighted cash-outflows.  The weighted value of Retail deposits (including deposits from small-sized 
business customers) contributed 16% of the total weighted cash-outflows.  Consistent HQLA in the form 
of CBK deposits was the main driver of a strong HQLA during the reporting period. 

The average LCR (All currencies) increased in the current quarter to 101.59% from 99.71% in the 
previous quarter.
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The following table sets forth the average (simple) for the quarter ending on 31.12.2021 for all business 
days of the reporting period.

Values in KD 000

S.R
No. Description

Value Before 
Applying 

Flow Rates 
(average)**

Value After 
Applying 

Flow Rates 
(Average)**

High-Quality Liquid Assets (HQLA)
1 Total HQLA (before adjustments) 295,989

Cash Outflows
2 Retail deposits and small business 619,242 103,296
3 *  Stable deposits - -
4 *  Less stable deposits 619,242 103,296

5 Deposit, investment accounts and unsecured wholesale 
funding excluding the deposits of small business customers: 702,279 442,859

6 *  Operational deposits - -
7 *  Non-operational deposits (other unsecured commitments) 702,279 442,859
8 Secured Funding -
9 Other cash outflows, including: 561,180 64,855
10 * Resulting from Sharia compliant hedging contracts - -

11 * Resulting from assets-backed Sukuk and other structured 
funding instruments - -

12 * Binding credit and liquidity facilities 561,180 64,855
13 Other contingent funding obligations 327,340 16,367
14 Other contractual cash outflows obligations - -
15 Total Cash Outflows 627,377

Cash Inflows
16 Secured lending transactions - -

17 Inflows from the performing exposures
(as per the counterparties) 453,388 336,023

18 Other cash Inflows - -
19 Total Cash Inflows 453,388 336,023

LCR  Total Adjusted
Value

20 Total HQLA (after adjustments) 295,989
21 Net Cash Outflows 291,355
22 LCR 101.59%

** Simple Average for all business days of the reporting period.
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Net Stable Funding Ratio 

Central Bank of Kuwait had adopted at its meeting convened on 25/10/2015 the Net Stable Funding Ratio 
(“NSFR”) for local Islamic banks. The objective of the NSFR is to promote resilience of banks’ liquidity risk 
profiles. The NSFR will require banks to maintain a stable funding profile in relation to the composition 
of their assets and off-balance sheet activities. The NSFR limits overreliance on short-term wholesale 
funding, encourages better assessment of funding risk across all on-and off-balance sheet items, and 
promotes funding stability. 

The NSFR is defined as the amount of available stable funding relative to the amount of required stable 
funding. The ratio was, in view of the COVID 19 situation, revised to 80% on 2nd April 2020 from 100% 
and should now be equal to at least 80% on an ongoing basis. “Available stable funding” is defined as 
the portion of capital and liabilities expected to be reliable over the time horizon considered by the NSFR, 
which extends to one year. “Required stable funding” is defined as the portion of assets and off-balance 
sheet (OBS) exposures expected to be funded on an ongoing basis over a one-year horizon. The amount 
of such stable funding required of a specific institution is a function of the liquidity characteristics and 
residual maturities of the various assets held by that institution as well as those of its off-balance sheet 
exposures. 

The NSFR (as a percentage) shall be calculated as follows:

Available amount of stable funding             

Required amount of stable funding

Governance of Liquidity Risk Management and Funding
The banks liquidity management is guided by its Assets Liability Management (ALM) Policy which 
is reviewed periodically and approved by the Board of Directors. The ALM Policy specifies the main 
goals, roles and responsibilities and related processes for managing liquidity risk. Specifically, the 
Policy outlines approaches for identifying, measuring and monitoring of liquidity risk parameters in 
line with regulatory and internal limits. ALCO and the Board Risk Management Committee (BRMC) 
oversees the liquidity risk management functions. ALCO reviews periodically the liquidity conditions and 
recommends in terms of immediate targets of liquidity mix and maturity profiles / mismatches. BRMC 
periodically reviews the adherence to the internal / regulatory liquidity ratios and limits established. 

Liquidity risk is measured primarily using the residual maturity approach and bank manages its gaps 
within the limits. In addition to prudent liquidity ratios, NSFR and LCR, the bank also monitors periodically 
multiple deposits and funding concentration limits established to ensure better diversification of funding. 
The Bank’s maturity profile and related maturity mismatches are also subjected to stress testing on a 
periodical basis. Liquidity gaps are monitored on a daily basis and again reviewed on a monthly basis 
by ALCO. To limit the liquidity risk, funding concentrations are constantly monitored, funding sources 
diversified and long term funds sourced.

80≥
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Analysis of the results for the quarter ended 31st December 2021 
As per CBK instructions banks should maintain NSFR with effect from 1st January 2018 at or above 100%. 
It has been revised from 2nd April 2020 and extended on 16th February 2021 and 22nd June 2021 to be 
maintained at or above 80%. Bank has complied with revised ratio on all days of the quarter. 

The weighted values of the financing assets, investments and other assets requiring 100% weight was 
the main component of the RSF representing 57% of the total RSF. ASF was mainly supported by capital 
(27% of ASF), retail funding (30% of ASF) and other wholesale funding. 
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The following table sets forth the Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) for the quarter ending on 31.12.2021.

Sr. Item

Unweighted Values
(i.e. before applying relevant factors)

Total 
Weighted 

Value

No 
Specified 
Maturity

Less than 
6 Months

More 
than

6 Months 
and less 
than one 

Year

Over 
One 
Year

Available Stable Funding (ASF):

1 Capital:

2 Regulatory Capital 433,213 - - 90,397 523,610

3 Other Capital Instruments - - - - -

4
Retail deposits and deposits and 
investment accounts from small 
business customers:

5 Stable deposits - - - - -

6 Less stable deposits - 628,569 - - 565,712

7 Wholesale funding:

8 Operational deposits and investment 
accounts - - - - -

9 Other wholesale funding - 1,729,915 264,481 6,920 826,833

10 Other liabilities:

11 NSFR Shari’ah-compliant hedging 
contract liabilities - - -

12 All other liabilities not included in the 
above categories 64,982 16 - - -

13 Total ASF 1,916,156

Required Stable Funding (RSF):

14 Total NSFR Shari’ah-compliant high-
quality liquid assets (HQLA) 30,769

15
Deposits and investment accounts 
held at other financial institutions for 
operational purposes

- - - - -

16 Performing financing and securities:

17 Performing financing to financial 
institutions secured by Level 1 HQLA - - - - -

Kuwait International Bank K.S.C.P. and its Subsidiaries

NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO DISCLOSURES
For the year ended 31 December 2021

“Values in KD 000”
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NET STABLE FUNDING RATIO DISCLOSURES
For the year ended 31 December 2021

18

Performing financing to financial 
institutions secured by non-Level 1 
HQLA and unsecured performing 
financing to financial institutions

- 377,695 13,062 15,205 78,390

19

Performing financing to non- financial 
corporate clients, financing to retail 
and small business customers, and 
financing to sovereigns, central banks 
and PSEs, of which:

- 1,116,390 302,422 685,922 1,395,328

20
With a risk weight of less than or 
equal to 35% as per the Capital 
Adequacy Ratio – Basel 3 guidelines

- - - - -

21 Performing residential financing, of 
which: - - - - -

22
With a risk weight of less than or 
equal to 35% under the CBK Capital 
Adequacy Ratio – Basel III Guidelines

- - - - -

23
Securities that are not in default and 
do not qualify as HQLA, including 
exchange-traded equities

- - - 104,293 88,649

24 Other assets:

25 • Physical traded commodities, including 
gold -

26

• Assets posted as initial margin for 
Shari’ah-compliant hedging contracts 
and contributions to default funds of 
CCPs

- - - -

27 • NSFR Shari’ah-compliant hedging 
contract assets - - - -

28
• NSFR Shari’ah-compliant hedging 

contract liabilities before deduction of 
variation margin posted

- - - -

29 • All other assets not included in the 
above categories 214,498 485 1,985 45,510 261,235

30 Off-balance sheet items 347,574 306,405 318,801 48,639

31 Total RSF 1,903,010

32 NSFR (%) 100.69%
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